
 

 
Notice of: 

BOARD OF ALDERMEN REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, December 19, 2023 at 6:00 PM 
Council Chambers, City Hall, 2305 North 7th Street, West Monroe 

AGENDA 

Public Comments: Any person present who wishes to comment on any matter prior to the vote on that 
matter should stand prior to the vote and request an opportunity to comment. Comments are limited 
to three (3) minutes per speaker, and the number of speakers may be limited on a subject. 

NOTICE/MINUTES 

Call to order/Verification of Attendance 

Motion to Approve Minutes 

1) Motion to approve the minutes of the December 5, 2023 Special Council Meeting. 

Recognitions/Presentations 

Mayor's Review 

Community Announcements 

ADMINISTRATION/FINANCE 

2) Resolution to accept the audit for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. 

3) Ordinance to authorize the execution of an Engagement Letter with Cameron, Hines & 
Company, CPAs, to conduct the audit for the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, for the fiscal 
year of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024. 

4) Ordinance to amend the General Fund Budget, 86 Sales Tax Capital Budget, 2015 DFC 
Service Fund Budget, 2018 DFC Service Fund Budget, 2022 DFC Service Fund Budget, DEQ 
SRP Service Fund Budget, DEQ SRP Reserve Fund Budget, CDBG-ED WPS Service Fund 
Budget, Employee's Workers Comp Reserve Fund Budget, Hasley Cemetery Trust Fund 
Budget, Kiroli Foundation Fund Budget, Ouachita Outreach Fund Budget, Employee's 
Health Ins Fund Budget, Street Maintenance Fund Budget, West Ouachita Senior Center 
Fund Budget, Emergency Food & Shelter Program Fund Budget, Officer Witness Court Fee 
Fund Budget, Section 8 Housing Fund Budget, General Insurance Fund Budget, West 
Monroe OMV Fund Budget, Miscellaneous Grants Fund Budget, Americorps Grant Fund 
Budget, Keep West Monroe Beautiful Fund Budget, Metro Narcotics LCLE Grant Fund 
Budget, LCDBG Projects Fund Budget, Capital Campaign Fund Budget, 1986 Sales Tax 
Capital Improv Fund Budget, Economic Development District Fund Budget, ARPA Fund 
Budget, for the year ending June 30, 2023. 

5) Ordinance to amend the Utility Enterprise Fund Budget for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2023. 

6) Ordinance to ratify execution of a memorandum of understanding between and among 
Discover Monroe-West Monroe, the City of West Monroe, the West Monroe Sports and 
Events Complex, and USA Table Tennis for hosting the 2024 US Olympic Trials - 2024 US 
Junior National Team Trials (March 19-30, 2024). 

BUILDING AND DEVELOPMENT 
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CODE ENFORCEMENT 

LEGAL 

7) Resolution to adopt the "2023 Ouachita Parish Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan 
Update" dated August 25, 2023 

PUBLIC WORKS 

COMMUNITY SERVICES 

PARKS AND RECREATION 

POLICE/FIRE 

WMFD 

WMPD 

8) INTRODUCE Ordinance to declare certain movable property surplus (police dog "Darko"), 
and to be transferred to Sgt. Christopher Daniel Freeland. 

ENGINEERING/CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

9)  Class Street Cross Drain Replacement - City Project #CP0134 

Authorize Certificate of Substantial Completion with Womack & Sons Construction Group, 
LLC. 

10)  Cypress Detention South - City Project #000209 

Resolution to authorize the Mayor to certify the availability of local funding, and to affirm 
the commitment of the required local funds for the project by the City. 

11)  Project Updates 

Lazenby & Associates, Inc. 

S. E. Huey Co. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS/OTHER BUSINESS 

12) General Fund and Utility Fund Monthly Budget Reports. 

13) West Monroe Fire Department November Fire Report. 

ADJOURN 

 

If you need special assistance, please contact Cindy Emory at 318-396-2600, and describe the assistance that is 
necessary. 
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STATE OF LOUISIANA

CITY OF WEST MONROE

RESOLUTION NO.               MOTION BY:                                    

SECONDED BY:                               

A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT THE AUDIT FOR THE FISCAL
YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2022, AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2023, AND TO
OTHERWISE PROVIDE WITH RESPECT THERETO.

WHEREAS, the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, is a municipality organized under the laws

of the State of Louisiana, and

WHEREAS, a Louisiana municipality is required to have a financial and compliance audit

of its books and records conducted annually; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, have

reviewed Audit submitted to them, and deem it to be correct and valid,

NOW, THEREFORE, 

SECTION 1.  BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Board of Alderman of the City of West

Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that the Audit for the fiscal year beginning

July 1, 2022 and ending June 30, 2023, be and it is hereby approved and adopted, with a copy to be

furnished to the Louisiana Legislative Auditor.

The above Resolution was read and considered by Sections at a public meeting of the Mayor

and Board of Aldermen, in regular and legal session convened, voted on by yea and nay vote, passed

and adopted this 19th day of December, 2023, the final vote being as follows:

YEA:                                                                                                                                             

NAY:                                                                                                                                             

NOT VOTING:                                                                                                                             

ABSENT:                                                                                                                                      

ATTEST:

APPROVED THIS 19TH DAY OF
DECEMBER, 2023

                                                                                                                                     
CINDY EMORY, CITY CLERK            STACI ALBRITTON MITCHELL, MAYOR
CITY OF WEST MONROE            CITY OF WEST MONROE
STATE OF LOUISIANA            STATE OF LOUISIANA

\\Data\Documents\City of West Monroe\City Council Meetings\2023-1219\Resolution to accept Audit.wpd
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 

Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the 
 City of West Monroe, Louisiana 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana (which is “the 
City”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table 
of contents.   
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position, and, 
where applicable, cash flows, thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to 
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
 
 

10

Item 2)



DRAFT

2 
 

Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the 
 City of West Monroe, Louisiana 
Page 2 
 
 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, 
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.  
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue and 
auditors’ report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but 
is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no 
such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the 
 City of West Monroe, Louisiana 
Page 3 
 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, schedule of changes 
in net OPEB liability and related ratios, schedule of proportionate share of net pension liability, 
and the schedule of employer’s pension contribution on pages 5 through 13 and 64 through 73, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of 
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements 
in an appropriate operational, economical, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.   We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying combining and 
individual nonmajor fund financial statements, the Schedule of Compensation, Benefits and Other 
Payments to Agency Head, and the Act 87 Collecting and Disbursing Entity and Receiving Entity 
Schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of the basic financial 
statements.  
 
The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, Schedule of Compensation, 
Benefits and Other Payments to Agency Head, Act 87 Collecting and Disbursing Entity and 
Receiving Entity Schedules, and Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the combining and 
individual nonmajor fund financial statements, Schedule of Compensation, Benefits and Other 
Payments to Agency Head, Act 87 Collecting and Disbursing Entity and Receiving Entity 
Schedules, and Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are fairly stated in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.   
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Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the 
 City of West Monroe, Louisiana 
Page 4 
 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
December 8, 2023, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, 
and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
West Monroe, Louisiana 
December 8, 2023 
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CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
Year Ended June 30, 2023_______________________________________________ 
 
 
As management of the City of West Monroe, we offer readers of the financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023.  We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction 
with the accompanying transmittal letter and the accompanying basic financial statements.  The 
intent of this discussion and analysis is to look at the City’s financial performance as a whole. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
● The assets of the City of West Monroe, on a government-wide basis, exceeded its 

liabilities at the close of the fiscal year by $39,546,113 (net position).   
 
● At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of West Monroe’s governmental funds 

reported combined ending fund balances of $25,936,813. 
 
● At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance for the general fund was 

$8,412,407 or 35% of the total general fund expenditures. 
 
● The general fund reported a surplus of $3,815,449 before transfers, and a surplus of 

$120,499 after transfers. 
 
● The City completed many projects that included improvements to infrastructure as well 

as ongoing constructions projects including the West Monroe Sports Complex.  The 
additions and improvements to the City’s Capital Assets totaled $19,548,291 in the 
current year.   

 
● The City’s bonded debt had a net increase of $15,192,000 mainly due to the issuance of 

$17,000,000 in additional bonded debt. Total bonded debt at June 30, 2023, was 
$44,381,000.   

 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City of West 
Monroe’s basic financial statements.  The City’s basic financial statements comprise three 
components: 
 
● Government-wide financial statements, 
● Fund financial statements, 
● Notes to the financial statements. 
 
This report contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements 
themselves. 
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The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements that present different views of the 
City: 
 
● The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both 

long-term and short-term information about the City’s overall financial status. 
● The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of 

the City’s government, reporting the City’s operations in more detail than the 
government-wide statements. 

 
- The governmental fund statements tell how general government services like 

public safety were financed in the short term as well as what amounts remain for 
future spending. 

- Proprietary fund statements offer short and long-term financial information about 
the activities the government operates like businesses, such as the public utilities 
(water, sewer, sewer treatment systems). 

- Fiduciary fund statements provide information about the financial relationship in 
which the City acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of others, to whom 
the resources in question belong. 

 
The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial 
statements and provide more detailed data.  The statements are followed by a section of required 
supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in the financial 
statements. 
 
In the past, the primary focus of local government financial statements has been summarized fund 
type information on a current financial resources basis.  However, with the implementation of 
Statement No. 34 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB Statement No. 34) 
for June 30, 2003, the new focus is on both the City as a whole (government-wide) and the fund 
financial statements.  Each view provides a different snapshot of the City’s finances.  The 
government-wide financial statements provide both long-term and short-term information about 
the City’s overall financial status.  The fund financial statements focus on the individual parts of 
the City government, reporting the City’s operations in more detail than the government-wide 
statements.  Both perspectives (government-wide and fund) allow the user to address relevant 
questions, broaden the basis of comparison (year-to-year or government-to-government) and 
enhance the City’s accountability. 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the City of West Monroe as a whole 
using accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.  The Statement of 
Net Position and the Statement of Activities, which are the government-wide statements, include 
all of the government’s assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting, which is 
similar to the accounting used by most private-sector companies.  All of the current year’s 
revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
These two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed.  
Net position – the difference between the City’s assets and liabilities – is one way to measure the 
City’s financial health, or financial position.  Over time, increases or decreases in the City’s net 
position is an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.  Other non-
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financial factors such as changes in the City’s property tax base and the condition of the City’s 
roads and other infrastructure may need to be considered to assess the overall health of the City. 
In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, the City is divided into two 
categories: 
 
● Governmental activities – Most of the City’s basic services are included here, such as the 

activities of the police, fire, public works, social services, parks and recreation 
departments, and general administration.  Sales taxes and grants finance most of these 
activities. 

● Business-type activities – The City charges fees to customers to cover the cost of certain 
services it provides.  The City’s water, sewer, and sewer treatment are included here. 

 
Government-wide financial statements include not only the City of West Monroe itself (the 
primary government), but also a legally separate City Court and legally separate City Marshal for 
which the City of West Monroe is financially accountable.  Financial information for these 
component units is reported separately from the financial information presented for the primary 
government itself. 
 
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The format of the fund financial statements will be more familiar to traditional users of 
government financial statements.  The fund financial statements provide more detailed 
information about the City’s most significant funds – not the City as a whole.  Funds are 
accounting mechanisms that the City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and 
spending for particular purposes. 
 
The City has three kinds of funds: 
 
● Governmental funds – Most of the City’s basic services are included in governmental 

funds, which focus on (1) how cash and other financial assets that can readily be 
converted to cash flow in and out and (2) the balances remaining at year-end that are 
available for spending.  Consequently, the governmental fund statements provide a 
detailed short-term view that helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer 
financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City’s programs.  
Because this information does not encompass the long-term focus of the government-
wide statements, additional information is provided on a subsequent page that explains 
the relationship (or differences) between the government-wide and fund statements. 

● Proprietary funds – Services for which the City charges customers a fee are generally 
reported in proprietary funds.  Proprietary funds, like the government-wide statements, 
provide both short-term and long-term financial information.  The City’s enterprise funds 
(one type of proprietary fund) are the same as its business-type activities, but they 
provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows.  The City also uses 
internal service funds (another kind of proprietary fund) to report activities that provide 
supplies and services for the City’s other programs and activities – such as the Employees 
Health Insurance Fund. 

● Fiduciary funds – Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or agency 
capacity for others outside the government.  The City maintains a Cemetery Trust Fund 
and a Workers Compensation Reserve Fund.  These activities are reported in a separate 
statement of fiduciary net assets.  The City excludes this activity from its government-
wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its 
operations. 
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The Total Governmental Funds column requires reconciliation because of the different 
measurement focus from the government-wide statements (current financial resources versus total 
economic resources), which is reflected at the bottom of or following each statement.  The flow 
of current financial resources will reflect bond proceeds and interfund transfers as other financing 
sources, as well as capital expenditures and bond principal payments as expenditures. The 
reconciliation will eliminate these transactions and incorporate the capital assets and long-term 
obligations (bond and others) into the Governmental Activities column (in the government-wide 
statements).   
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 
The City’s combined net position for the 2022-2023 fiscal year increased by $10,614,745.  Table 
1 shows the statement of net position for the year ending 2022 and the year ending 2023.  The 
table also shows the net position for governmental activities, business type activities and 
combines them into the total primary government. 
 
Statement of Net Position 
 
The following table reflects the condensed statement of net position: 
 

TABLE 1 
NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL AND BUSINESS TYPE ACTIVITIES 

(in Millions) 

 
GOVERNMENTAL 

ACTIVITIES  
BUSINESS TYPE 

ACTIVITIES  
TOTAL PRIMARY 

GOVERNMENT 

   2023   2022    2023   2022    2023   2022 
ASSETS:         

  Current and other assets $  27.11 $  19.13   $    1.20  $    1.25  $   28.31    $  20.38   
  Capital Assets     65.48     47.75       23.33      23.35       88.81      71.10 
    Total Assets $  92.59 $  66.88   $  24.53  $  24.60   $ 117.12  $  91.48 
         
LIABILITIES:         
  Long-term debt outstanding $ 73.08 $  46.40   $   4.87  $   3.40   $  77.95  $  49.80 
  Other liabilities      4.58       3.81        0.51       0.48         5.09        4.29 
    Total Liabilities $ 77.66 $  50.21   $   5.38  $   3.88   $  83.04  $  54.09 
         
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES:         
  Deferred Inflows $    6.40 $    13.81  $    0.87 $    1.64   $    7.27  $ 15.45 
 
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES:         
  Deferred Outflows $  11.19 $    6.23  $    1.54 $      .76   $  12.73  $   6.99 
 
NET POSITION:         
  Invested in Capital Assets         

  Net of debt $ 20.33 $  19.11   $ 22.74  $  22.70   $  43.07   $ 41.81 
  Restricted         -         -          .08          .08           .08          .08 

  Unrestricted $   (.60) $ (10.01)   $  (3.01) $   (2.94)     $(3.61)  $ (12.95) 

     Total Net Position $ 19.73 $     9.10   $ 19.81  $  19.84    $ 39.54   $ 28.94 
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Net position (assets less liabilities) may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s 
financial position. The City of West Monroe’s assets exceeded liabilities by $39.54 million at the 
close of the fiscal year. 
 
Approximately eighty-thousand of the City's net position is subject to restrictions.  
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Net position of the City’s governmental activities increased from $9.10 million to $19.73 million.   
 
Business-type Activities 
 
Net position of the City’s business-type activities decreased from $19.84 million to $19.81 
million.  
 
Statement of Activities 
 
The following table shows the revenues and expenses of the governmental and business-type 
activities: 
 

TABLE 2 
CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

(in Millions) 
         

 
GOVERNMENTAL 

ACTIVITIES  
BUSINESS TYPE 

ACTIVITIES  
TOTAL PRIMARY 

GOVERNMENT 

     2023 2022    2023   2022       2023      2022 
REVENUES:         
Program Revenues         
  Charges for services  $     4.33  $     4.02   $  5.83  $  6.12   $     10.16  $   10.14 
  Operating grants and contributions 5.98 7.44     5.98 7.44 
  Capital grants and contributions 8.10 .44     8.10 .44 
General Revenues         
  Property Taxes 1.17 1.42     1.17 1.42 
  Other taxes 30.63 28.38     30.63 28.38 
  Intergovernmental 0.10 0.07     0.10 0.07 
  Franchise 1.09 0.99     1.09 0.99 
  Miscellaneous .39 0.07     .39 0.07 
  Sale of Assets .51 .84     .51           .84 
  Excess Premium on Bonds 1.09 -     1.09 - 
  Interest earned 0.17 0.03     0.17 0.03 
  Capital contributions - -       2.10      .39           2.10           .39 
  Total Revenues  $   53.56  $   43.70  $   7.93 $ 6.51   $   61.49  $   50.21 
         
EXPENSES:         
  General government  $    10.57  $     9.70        $     10.57  $     9.70 
  Public safety 13.71 10.38     13.71 10.38 
  Public works 5.16  4.44      5.16 4.44 
  Culture and recreations 5.71 4.47     5.71 4.47 
  Urban Development .78 1.04     .78 1.04 
  Health and welfare 4.26 3.72     4.26 3.72 
  Interest on long-term debt 1.99 1.17     1.99 1.17 
  Utilities - -      8.41      8.11  8.41 8.11 
    Total Expenses  $   42.18  $   34.92   $    8.41  $    8.11   $    50.59  $    43.03 
         
  Increase (Decrease) in net position         
    Before transfers  $   11.38  $ 8.78   $   (.48)  $ (1.60)   $  10.90  $ 7.18 
  Transfers     (.74)             -       .46     -     (.28)         - 
  Increase/decrease in position  $  10.64  $ 8.78   $  (.02)  $ (1.60)   $ 10.62  $ 7.18 
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Governmental Activities 
 
The City’s total revenues from governmental activities increased from $43.72 million (year end 
2022) to $53.56 million (year end 2023).  The largest source of the increase in the current year 
revenues is from an increase in sales taxes collected as well as an increase in capital grants that 
were received as a results of the increase in capital improvements.  West Monroe’s largest source 
of general revenue ($30.63 million) is taxes, composed of property tax, sales tax, insurance 
premium taxes, and beer tax.  
 
Fifty-seven percent of the City’s revenue from governmental activities comes from these taxes.  
Capital grants and contributions ($8.10 million) were the second largest revenue source for 
governmental activities. 
 
The City’s expenses from governmental activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, were 
$42.18 million, an increase of $7.26 million from year end 2022.  These expenses cover a wide 
range of services with the largest being public safety $13.71 million or 32%, and general 
government $10.57 million or 25%. 
 
Business-Type Activities 
 
The total revenues from business-type activities were $7.93 million for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2023.  Charges for services decreased by approximately $0.29 million.  Expenses for the 
City’s business-type activities were $8.41 million.  
 
FINANACIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 
 
The City of West Monroe uses Fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. 
 
Government Funds 
 
The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s 
financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $25.94 million.   
 
The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the fiscal year, unassigned 
fund balance of the general fund was $8.41 million.  As a measure of the general fund liquidity, it 
may be useful to compare unassigned fund balance to total expenditures. Unassigned fund 
balance represents 35% of the total general fund expenditures. Due to the uncertain economic 
conditions, expenditures were closely monitored and correlated to revenues received. 
 
The City spent a total of $13.25 million out of the 86 Sales Tax Capital Fund to fund major 
capital projects and purchases. This amount increased by $4.38 million from last year. The fund 
transferred out $.86 million to pay for debt service.  The fund also received $4.54 to help fund 
current and future capital improvements. 
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Proprietary Funds 
 
The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
Net position of the Utilities Enterprise Fund at the end of the year were $19.81 million. The fund 
had an operating loss for the year of $2.58 million after depreciation and prior to transfers. 
 
Net position of the Internal Service fund (Employees Health Insurance Fund) at the end of the 
year was $0.   
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
Over the course of the year, the City Council revised the City budget once. The difference 
between the original expenditure budget and the actual amount of expenditures was an increase of 
$.59 million.  Actual total revenues were $3.72 million more than the original budget. 
 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The following table shows the Capital Assets (net of depreciation) of the governmental and 
business type activities: 
 

TABLE 3 
CAPITAL ASSETS 

(NET OF DEPRECIATION in millions) 
         

 
GOVERNMENTAL 

ACTIVITIES  
BUSINESS TYPE 

ACTIVITIES  TOTAL 

      2023      2022        2023       2022         2023        2022 
         
  Land  $    6.91  $     6.91   $      0.07  $      0.07   $       6.98      $        6.98     
  Construction in progress    18.85      1.71          -         -          18.85 1.71  
  Buildings    11.97    12.72         -        -         11.97 12.72 
  Improvements      3.19       3.13         -        -           3.19            3.13 
  Equipment     1.02         .59         -          -           1.02 0.59 
  Vehicles      .52          .58         -        -           .52 .58 
  Infrastructure   21.60     22.11         -        -         21.60 22.11 
  Water Plant        -        -           8.52        7.91          8.52 7.91 
  Treatment and Reuse Plant        -        -       14.74      15.38        14.74 15.38 

    Total  $ 64.06  $    47.75   $    23.33  $    23.36   $     87.39  $      71.11 

         
 
 
The City of West Monroe’s investment in Capital assets for its governmental and business-type 
activities as of June 30, 2023, amounts to $87.39 million (net of depreciation). This is an increase 
of $16.28 million from last year. This investment includes land, construction in progress, 
buildings and improvements, equipment, vehicles, infrastructure, water, and sewer treatment 
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plant.  The biggest addition is the construction of West Monroe Sports Complex that is still 
ongoing as of June 30, 2023. 
 
 
Long-term Debt 
 
The following table shows the City’s outstanding debt: 
 
 

 
 

 
Table 4 – 

Outstanding Debt  

  

 YR END  
6/30/23 

 YR END  
6/30/22 

     
  Bond Payable Series 2010  $       591,000  $       654,000 
  Bond Payable Series 2022  $  16,820,000  $                  - 
  Community Dev. Block Grant 
  for Economic Development 

 
$         78,685 

 
$       103,681 

  Bond Payable Series 2015 
  Bond Payable Series 2018 

 $  17,315,000          
$    9,655,000 

 $  18.460,000 
$  10,075,000 

  Heart and Lung Disability  $       137,894  $       148,098 
  Vacation, Sick and Comp. Time  $    1,073,800  $    1,107,925 

    Total  $  45,671,379  $  30,548,704 
     

 
 
At the end of the fiscal year, the City of West Monroe had total bonded debt outstanding of 
$44.38 million. This is an increase of $14.63 million in total bond debt.  
 
The City of West Monroe’s total long-term debt obligations at year end were $45.67 million. 
 
Additional information of the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note 12 in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET 
 
The City’s management and elected officials considered many factors when preparing the 2023-
2024 budget.  The major factor in preparing the budget is to determine the revenue that will be 
generated from sales tax.  Sales tax accounts for 75% of the total General Fund revenue.  The 
sales tax income projected for the 2023-2024 budget is $22.89 million.  All other General Fund 
revenues should remain consistent with prior year collections. The total General Fund revenue 
budget for the 2023-2024 fiscal year is $28.14 million compared to $27.68 million of actual 
revenue for 2022-2023. 
 
The budgeted expenses for the 2023-2024 fiscal year are $25.02 million, a small increase from 
the prior year’s actual expenses.   
 
Most of the City's expenses have remained constant.  The City's matching contributions to the 
pension systems have increased slightly for the 2023-2024 fiscal year.  However, depending on 
the condition of the investment markets and other factors the City's contribution to the pension 
systems should remain constant this fiscal year to the next.  The City's administration will closely 
monitor all revenues and expenses to ensure the City maintains a positive fund balance.  The 
projected General Fund balance for the year ending June 30, 2024, is $12.22 million.  
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OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
In the year ended June 30, 2023, the City of West Monroe has complied with requirements of 
Government Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 75, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Post Employment Benefits Other than Pensions.  This statement requires that 
employers disclose the Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios as 
determined by actuarial computations.  The disclosure of these amounts are presented in more 
detail in the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 
PENSIONS 
 
In the year ended June 30, 2023, the City of West Monroe has complied with requirements of 
Government Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 68, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Pensions.  This statement requires that employers disclose the Net Pension 
Liability, Deferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows as determined by actuarial computations.  The 
disclosure of these amounts are presented in more detail in the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 
REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 
 
The financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayer, customers, investors, and creditors 
with a general overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for 
the funds it receives.  If you have any questions about this report or need additional information, 
contact the Finance Director, City of West Monroe, 2305 North 7th Street, West Monroe, 
Louisiana 71291. 
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Governmental Business-Type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 20,054,958$   295,120$       20,350,078$   815,880$         
Investments 3,603,940       -                     3,603,940       -                       
Accounts Receivable 595,604          1,056,184      1,651,788       5,469               
Minimum Lease Payments Receivable 81,315            -                     81,315            -                       
Due From Other Governments 2,738,488       -                     2,738,488       -                       
Internal Balances 10,713            (157,340)        (146,627)         (2,800)              
Inventories 23,529            -                     23,529            -                       
Lease Asset (Net) 1,426,965       -                     1,426,965       -                       
Capital Assets:

Non-Depreciable 25,757,127     74,150           25,831,277     -                       
Depreciable 38,296,305     23,257,814    61,554,119     -                       

TOTAL ASSETS 92,588,944$   24,525,928$  117,114,872$ 818,549$         
 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 11,194,313     1,537,846      12,732,159     33,710             

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 1,112,877$     19,529$         1,132,406$     917$                
Deposits Payable 58,857            217,488         276,345          -                       
Non-Current Liabilities

Due Within One Year
Bonds Payable 2,120,000       63,000           2,183,000       -                       
Notes Payable 25,000            -                     25,000            -                       
Lease Liability 380,807          -                     380,807          -                       
Other Long-Term Liabilities 882,515          209,918         1,092,433       -                       

Due in More Than One Year
Bonds Payable 41,670,000     528,000         42,198,000     -                       
Notes Payable 53,685            -                     53,685            -                       
Lease Liability 979,219          -                     979,219          -                       
Other Long-Term Liabilities 119,261          -                     119,261          -                       

Net Pension Liability 26,174,530     3,656,550      29,831,080     103,266           
Net OPEB Liability 4,078,996       683,328         4,762,324       -                       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 77,655,747     5,377,813      83,033,560     104,183           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 6,395,479       871,879         7,267,358       -                       

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 20,330,371     22,740,964    43,071,335     -                       
Restricted for Debt Service -                      77,632           77,632            -                       
Restricted for Judicial -                      -                     -                      32,846             
Restricted for Public Safety -                      -                     -                      490,260           
Unrestricted, Capital Projects 8,896,244       -                     8,896,244       -                       
Unrestricted, Debt Service 1,288,035       -                     1,288,035       -                       
Unrestricted, Unreserved (10,782,619)    (3,004,514)     (13,787,133)    224,970           

TOTAL NET POSITION 19,732,031$   19,814,082$  39,546,113$   748,076$         

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

Primary Government

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023
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Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and 

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Function/Program Activities
Primary Government:

Government Activities:
General Government 10,567,243$   1,386,153$     541,524$      4,500,272$   
Public Safety 13,712,790     144,685          2,351,477     -                   
Public Works 5,155,578       1,161,031       -                   -                   
Culture and Recreation 5,705,464       1,615,721       213,293        3,605,422     
Urban Redevelopment 789,083          -                      -                   -                   
Health and Welfare 4,270,547       23,993            2,870,460     -                   
Interest on Long-Term Debt 1,991,001       -                      -                   -                   
     Total Governmental Activities 42,191,706     4,331,583       5,976,754     8,105,694     

Business-Type Activities:
Utilities 8,415,422       5,834,600       -                   -                   

Total Primary Government 50,607,128$   10,166,183$   5,976,754$   8,105,694$   

Component Units:
City Court 548,153$        514,724$        -$                 -$                 
City Marshal 482,916          493,992          -                   -                   

Total Component Units 1,031,069$     1,008,716$     -$                 -$                 

General Revenues:
Taxes:

Property Taxes Levied for General Purposes
Property Taxes Levied for Street Maintenance
Sales Taxes
Insurance Premium Taxes

Intergovernmental Revenues
Franchise Revenue
Miscellaneous
Special Item - Sale of Assets
Excess Premium on Bonds
Earnings on Investments
Capital Contributions
Transfers
     Total General Revenues, Special Items and Transfers
Changes in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning 

Net Position - Ending

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Program Revenues
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Governmental Business-Type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

(4,139,294)$   -$                   (4,139,294)$     -$                   
(11,216,628)   -                     (11,216,628)     -                     

(3,994,547)     -                     (3,994,547)       -                     
(271,028)        -                     (271,028)          -                     
(789,083)        -                     (789,083)          -                     

(1,376,094)     -                     (1,376,094)       -                     
(1,991,001)     -                     (1,991,001)       -                     

(23,777,675)   -                     (23,777,675)     -                     

-                     (2,580,822)     (2,580,822)       -                     

(23,777,675)$ (2,580,822)$   (26,358,497)$   -$                   

-$                   -$                   -$                      (33,429)$        
-                     -                     -                        11,076           
-$                   -$                   -$                      (22,353)$        

1,172,019      -                 1,172,019         -                     
281,918         -                 281,918            -                     

29,802,302    -                 29,802,302       -                     
545,991         -                 545,991            -                     
106,147         -                 106,147            -                     

1,092,697      -                 1,092,697         -                     
388,487         -                 388,487            -                     
505,070         -                 505,070            -                     

1,092,697      -                 1,092,697         -                     
167,609         -                 167,609            257                

-                     2,096,929      2,096,929         -                     
(740,578)        461,954         (278,624)          -                     

           34,414,359    2,558,883      36,973,242       257                
10,636,684    (21,939)          10,614,745       (22,096)          

9,095,347      19,836,021    28,931,368       770,172         

19,732,031$  19,814,082$  39,546,113$     748,076$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

Primary Government
Changes in Net Assets
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86 Sales Tax 2022 Debt
General Fund 75% Capital Fund ARPA Fund Capital Fund

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7,447,090$       1,536,098$           1,262,934$     6,892,871$       
Investments 2,566,256         - 1,037,684 - 
Accounts Receivable 367,106            - - 203,676            
Minimum Lease Payment Receivable 81,315              - - - 
Due From Other Governments 1,658,646         607,105 - - 
Due From Other Funds 820,266            165,541 - 1,506 
Inventories 23,529              - - - 

TOTAL ASSETS 12,964,208$     2,308,744$           2,300,618$     7,098,053$       

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 752,559$          126,881$              -$               -$  
Due To Other Funds 135,541            645,765 - - 
Deposits Payable 58,857              - - - 

        Total Liabilities 946,957            772,646 - - 

Unearned  Revenue - - - - 
         Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - - - 

FUND BALANCE
Nonspendable 104,844            - - - 
Restricted - - 2,300,618       7,098,053         
Committed - - - - 
Assigned 3,500,000         1,536,098             - - 
Unassigned 8,412,407         - - - 

        Total Fund Balances 12,017,251       1,536,098             2,300,618       7,098,053         
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE 12,964,208$     2,308,744$           2,300,618$     7,098,053$       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2023
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Total Total Governmental Fund Balances 25,936,813$       
Nonmajor Total

Governmental Governmental Amounts reported for governmental
Funds Funds activities in the statement of net

position are different because:

2,915,965$     20,054,958$       Capital assets (including lease assets) used in governmental
-                  3,603,940           activities are not financial resources

22,597            593,379              and therefore are not reported in the
-                  81,315                funds. 65,480,397         

472,737          2,738,488           
465,962          1,453,275           Net OPEB Liability (4,078,996)         

-                  23,529                
Deferred Outflows Related to OPEB 1,144,443           

3,877,261$     28,548,884$       Deferred Inflows Related to OPEB (4,645,728)         
   Total Deferred Inflows/Outflows Related to OPEB (3,501,285)         

Net Pension Liability (26,174,530)       
233,437$        1,112,877$         
659,031          1,440,337           Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions 10,049,870         

-                  58,857                Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions (1,749,751)         
892,468          2,612,071              Total Deferred Inflows/Outflows Related to Pensions 8,300,119           

Long-term liabilities, including bonds
and notes payable, capital leases and

-                  -                      compensated absences are not due and
-                  -                      payable in the current period and therefore

are not reported in the funds. (46,230,487)       

-                  104,844              The internal service fund is used by management
1,329,820       10,728,491         to charge the cost of certain activities to 

-                  -                      individual funds.  The assets and liabilities
1,730,187       6,766,285           of the internal service fund are included in

(75,214)           8,337,193           governmental activities in the statement of
2,984,793       25,936,813         net position. -                     

3,877,261$     28,548,884$       
Net Position of Governmental
  Activities 19,732,031$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENTAL

FUNDS BALANCES TO STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023

 16
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86 Sales Tax 2022 Debt
General Fund 75% Capital Fund ARPA Fund Capital Fund

Revenues
Taxes 20,996,957$   7,030,513$        -$               -$  
Intergovernmental 393,347          4,299,583          2,261,092      - 
Licenses and Permits 1,108,390       - - - 
Charges for Services 2,848,320       - - - 
Fines and Forfeitures 277,763          - - - 
Use of Money and Property 108,075          611 37,684           19,998               
Franchise Revenue 1,092,697       - - - 
Sale of Assets 505,070          - - - 
Other 357,182          17,750               - 3,605,421 

       Total Revenues 27,687,801     11,348,457        2,298,776      3,625,419          

Expenditures
General Government 6,481,281       - - - 
Public Safety 10,055,062     - - - 
Public Works 3,411,520       - - - 
Culture and Recreation 3,312,407       - - - 
Urban Redevelopment 612,082          - - - 
Health and Welfare - - - - 
Capital Improvements - 13,246,714 - 14,620,294 
Claims Paid - - - -
Debt Service:

Principal Payments - 257,867 - - 
Interest and Other - 175,266 - - 
       Total Expenditures 23,872,352     13,679,847        - 14,620,294 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures 3,815,449       (2,331,390)         2,298,776      (10,994,875)       

Other Financing Sources and (Uses)
Proceeds From General Obligation Bonds - - - 18,092,904        
Transfers In 2,262,933       4,541,298          - - 
Transfers Out (5,957,883)      (858,191)            (2,262,934)     - 

       Total Other Financing
              Sources and Uses (3,694,950)      3,683,107          (2,262,934)     18,092,904        

Net Change in Fund Balance 120,499          1,351,717          35,842           7,098,029          

Fund Balances - Beginning 11,896,752     184,381             2,264,776      24 

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 12,017,251$   1,536,098$        2,300,618$    7,098,053$        

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Nonmajor Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds Net Change in Fund Balances - Total
    Governmental Funds 8,504,905$          

3,788,161$     31,815,631$        
3,005,145       9,959,167            Amounts reported for governmental

- 1,108,390 activities in the statement of activities
- 2,848,320 are different because:
- 277,763 

1,201              167,569 Government funds report capital outlays as expenditures while
- 1,092,697 governmental activities report depreciation expense to allocate those
- 505,070 expenditures over the life of the assets:

721,311          4,701,664    Capital asset purchases capitalized 19,548,291          
7,515,818       52,476,271             Depreciation expense (3,247,201)           

16,301,090          

- 6,481,281    Lease Assets Acquired 638,019               
182,355          10,237,417    Amortization Expense (190,928)              
402,345          3,813,865 447,091               
261,091          3,573,498 

- 612,082 Postretirement benefit plan net change - GASB 75 310,642               
3,297,041       3,297,041 Pension net change - GASB 68 622,119               
1,301,905       29,168,913 

- - Repayment of debt principal, including capital leases,
is an expenditure in the governmental funds,

1,769,996       2,027,863            but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities
1,815,735       1,991,001            in the statement of net position. 2,038,067            
9,030,468       61,202,961          

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. capital
leases, bonds) provides current financial resouirces to

(1,514,650)     (8,726,690)          government funds, but the repayment reduces
long-term liabilities in the statements of net assets. (17,638,019)         

- 18,092,904 Internal Service fund is used by management to 
1,836,202       8,640,433 charge the cost of certain activities to individual
(422,734)        (9,501,742) funds.  The net of the internal service

fund is included in governmental activities in the
1,413,468       17,231,595          statement of net position. - 

(101,182)        8,504,905            Some expenses reported in the statement of activities
do not require the use of current financial 

3,085,975       17,431,908          resources and therefore are not reported as
expenditures in governmental funds 50,789 

2,984,793$     25,936,813$        
Change in Net Position in Governmental
   Activities 10,636,684$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
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Business-Type Governmental
Activities Activities

Utility Internal Service
Enterprise Fund Fund

Current Assets
Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance 1,056,184$          2,225$                 
Due From Other Funds -                       -                       
                 Total Current Assets 1,056,184            2,225                   

Non-Current Assets
Restricted:

Cash - Customer Deposits 217,488               -                       
Cash - Sinking Fund 42,936                 -                       
Cash - Reserve Fund 34,696                 -                       
     Total Restricted Cash 295,120               -                       

Capital Assets:
Land 74,150                 -                       
Construction in Process -                       -                       
Sparta Reuse Plant 20,701,729          -                       
Buildings 73,436                 -                       
Water Plant 17,272,395          -                       
Wastewater Treatment Plant 16,750,560          -                       
Machinery, Equipment & Other 2,058,506            -                       
Less:  Accumulated Depreciation (33,598,812)         -                       
     Total Capital Assets 23,331,964          -                       

TOTAL ASSETS 24,683,268$        2,225$                 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Related to OPEB 191,721               -                           
Related to Pensions 1,346,125            -                           
     Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,537,846            -                           

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable 19,529$               -$                     
Customer Deposits 217,488               -                       
Accrued Vacation and Sick Pay 209,918               -                       
Sewer Bonds Payable 63,000                 -                       
Due to Other Funds 157,340               2,225                   

     Total Current Liabilities 667,275               2,225                   

Long Term Liabilities
Net OPEB Liability 683,328               -                       
Net Pension Liability 3,656,550            -                       
Sewer Bonds Payable - Long-Term 528,000               -                       

     Total Long Term Liabilities 4,867,878            -                       

     Total Liabilities 5,535,153            2,225                   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Related to OPEB 778,269               -                       
Related to Pensions 93,610                 -                       
     Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 871,879               -                       

Net Investment in Capital Assets 22,740,964          -                       
Reserved for Debt Retirement 77,632                 -                       
Unrestricted (3,004,514)           -                       

TOTAL NET POSITION 19,814,082$        -$                     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

JUNE 30, 2023

LIABILITIES

NET POSITION

ASSETS

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
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Business-Type Governmental
Activities Activities

Utility Internal Service
Enterprise Fund Fund

Operating Revenues
User Charges 2,817,247$          2,744,696$          
Treatment Plant Fees 1,443,563            -                       
Water Penalties and Turn-on Fees 120,002               -                       
Sewer District 5 Contributions 1,451,476            -                       
Miscellaneous Revenue 2,312                   -                       
                 Total Operating Revenues 5,834,600            2,744,696            

Operating Expenses
Waterworks 1,142,036            -                       
Sewerage 903,759               -                       
Water Treatment Plant 606,168               -                       
Sewer Treatment Plant 2,630,323            -                       
Public Works Construction 139,694               -                       
Public Works Administrative 529,052               -                       
Other Administrative 342,721               501,138               
Claims Paid -                       2,364,289            
Interest Expense 2,800                   -                       
Depreciation 2,118,869            -                       

     Total Operating Expenses 8,415,422            2,865,427            

Operating Income (Loss) (2,580,822)           (120,731)              

Contributed Capital 2,096,929            -                       
Transfers In (Out) 461,954               120,731               

     Total 2,558,883            120,731               

Changes in Net Position (21,939)                -                       

Net Position - Beginning 19,836,021          -                       

NET POSITION - ENDING 19,814,082$        -$                     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CHANGES IN NET POSITION

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
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Business-Type Governmental
Activities Activities

Utility Internal Service
Enterprise Fund Fund

Cash Flows From Operations
Receipts From Customers 5,788,986$      -$      
Receipts From Group Contributions - 2,745,699 
Payments to Provide Services (5,841,851) (2,365,292)
Payments for General and Administrative (345,521) (501,138) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (398,386) (120,731) 

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Increase in Customer Deposits 16,422   -   
Operating Transfers In (Out) 461,954   120,731   

Net Cash Flows From Noncapital
 Financing Activities 478,376   120,731   

Cash Flows From Capital and Related
Financing Activities

Acquisitions of Capital Assets 2,096,929   -   
Capital Contribution From Other Funds (2,096,929) -   
Bond Proceeds -   -   
Principal Paid on Bonds (63,000) -   
Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related

 Financing Activities (63,000) -   

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 16,990   -   

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 278,130   -   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 295,120$      -$      

Classified As:

Cash in Bank -$   -$     
Restricted Assets 295,120   -   

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 295,120$      -$      

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Business-Type Governmental
Activities Activities

Utility Internal Service
Enterprise Fund Fund

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities:

Changes in Net Position (2,580,822)$        (120,731)$           
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss to Net

Cash Used by Operating Activities
Depreciation 2,118,869            -                      
(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable (253,638)             1,003                   
(Decrease) Increase in Accounts Payable (64,823)               -                      
(Increase) Decrease in Due From Other Funds 165,242               -                      
Increase (Decrease) in Due to Other Funds 157,340               (1,003)                 
Increase in Net Pension Liability and Deferrals (Net) 120,332               -                      
Decrease in Net OPEB Liability and Deferrals (Net) (77,550)               -                      
Increase (Decrease)in Accrued Vacation and Sick Pay 16,664                 -                      
     Total Adjustments 2,182,436            -                      

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (398,386)$           (120,731)$           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Total
Private-Purpose City City 

Trust Funds Court Marshal
ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,242,460$       4,580$        143,650$       
Investments 18,191              - - 
Accounts Receivable 2,000 - 6,095 
Due From Other Funds 148,627            - -

TOTAL ASSETS 1,411,278$       4,580$        149,745$       

LIABILITIES

Due to Other Funds 2,000$              -$  -$  
Due to Others - - 7,940             

TOTAL LIABILITES 2,000$              -$  7,940$           

NET POSITION

Reserved:
Workmen's Compensation Claims 534,499            - - 
Park Equipment 148,627            - - 
Cemetery Maintenance 726,152            - - 
Cash Bond Refunds - - 141,805         
Restitution - 4,580 - 
Insurance Claims - - - 

Unassigned - - - 
     Total Net Position 1,409,278         4,580          141,805         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
NET POSITION 1,411,278$       4,580$        149,745$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

Component Unit
Custodial Funds

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2023
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Total
Private -Purpose City City 

Trust Fund Court Marshal
Additions

Sales Tax 24,000$    -$  -$     
Lot Sales 35,440   - -    
Insurance Proceeds 113,061       - -    
Park Fees 35,062   - -    
Cash Bonds Collected -  -   39,600     
Restitution Collected - 37,186 -    
Contributions 81,324   -   -    
Interest -  -   -    

 Total Revenues 288,887       37,186   39,600     

Deductions
Hasley Cemetery -  -   -    
Claims Paid 415,685       -   -    
Restitutions Paid - 37,186 -    
Cash Bonds Disbursed - - 44,868     
Miscellaneous 100,224       -   -    
   Total Expenditures 515,909      37,186    44,868     

Excess (Deficiency) of Additions
Over Deductions (227,022)     - (5,268) 

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating Transfers - In (Out) 278,624       -   -    

Change in Net Position 51,602   - (5,268) 

Net Position - Beginning 1,357,676    4,580     147,073 

NET POSITION - ENDING 1,409,278$     4,580$     141,805$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

Custodial Funds
Component Unit

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 

FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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City City 
Court Marshal Total

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 775,652$       40,228$         815,880$             
Accounts Receivable -                     5,469             5,469                   
Due From Other Funds -                     -                     -                           

TOTAL ASSETS 775,652$       45,697$         821,349$             

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES 33,710           -                     33,710                 

LIABILITIES

Account Payable -$                   31$                31$                      
Payroll Liabilities 886                -                     886                      
Due to Fiduciary Fund  - Component Unit -                     2,800             2,800                   
Due to City of West Monroe -                     -                     -                           
Non-Current Liabilities

Net Pension Liability 103,266         -                     103,266               

TOTAL LIABILITIES 104,152         2,831             106,983               

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES -                     -                     -                           

NET POSITION

Restricted for:
Civil Court Filings 490,260         -                     490,260               
Garnishments -                     2,256             2,256                   
Sales and Seizures -                     1,867             1,867                   
Equipment and Training -                     28,723           28,723                 

Unrestricted, unreserved 214,950         10,020           224,970               
     Total Net Position 705,210         42,866           748,076               

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
NET POSITION 809,362$       45,697$         855,059$             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

ALL DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS 
JUNE 30, 2023
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Charges
for City City 

Activities Expenses Services Court Marshal Total

City Court
Judicial 1,161,321$ 514,724$    613,168$    (33,429)$    -$           (33,429)$    

City Marshal
Judicial 1,055,758   493,992      572,842      -                 11,076       11,076       

Total Governmental 
Activities 2,217,079$ 1,008,716$ 1,186,010$ (33,429)$    11,076$     (22,353)$    

General Revenues:
Interest 257             -                257            

Change in Net Position (33,172)      11,076       (22,096)      

Net Position July 1, 2022 738,382      31,790       770,172     

Net Position June 30, 2023 705,210$    42,866$     748,076$   

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Program Revenues

Monroe
City of West

Intergovernmental -
Changes in Net Position

Net (Expenses) Revenues and

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LA 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

ALL DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
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INTRODUCTION 
 
The City of West Monroe, Louisiana (the City) consists of an executive branch of government headed by a 
mayor and a legislative branch of government consisting of five aldermen.  The City’s major operations 
include police and fire protection, garbage and trash collection, a senior center, street and drainage 
maintenance, administrative services, and other health and welfare activities.  In addition, the City operates a 
Utility Enterprise Fund to provide water and sewerage services. 
 
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
  

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) promulgates generally accepted 
accounting principles and reporting standards with respect to activities and transactions of state and 
local government entities.  The GASB has issued a codification of governmental accounting and 
financial reporting standards.  This codification and subsequent GASB pronouncements are 
recognized as generally accepted accounting principles for state and local government.  The 
financial reporting practices of the City comply with the financial reporting standards established 
by the GASB. 
 
A. Financial Reporting Entity 

   
  As the municipal governing authority, for reporting purposes, the City of West Monroe, 

Louisiana is considered a separate financial reporting entity.  The financial reporting entity 
consists of (a) the primary government, the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, (b) organizations 
for which the primary government is financially accountable, and (c) other organizations for 
which the nature and significance of their relationship with the City are such that exclusion 
would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 

 
GASB Statement 14 established criteria for determining which, if any, component units should 
be considered part of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana for financial reporting purposes.  The 
basic criterion for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity is 
accountability.  The GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial 
accountability.  These criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization’s 
governing body and (1) the ability of the City to impose its will on that organization or (2) the 
potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific 
financial burdens on, the City.  Organizations for which the City does not appoint a voting 
majority but are fiscally dependent on the City and organizations for which the reporting entity 
financial statements would be misleading if data of the organization is not included because of 
the nature or significance of the relationship.  Based on the previous criteria, the City has 
determined that the following component units are part of the reporting entity. 
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Note 1 –  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

A. Financial Reporting Entity (continued)  
 
  City Court of West Monroe 
 
  The City Court of West Monroe is a legally separate entity.  The Judge of the Court is an 

independently elected official.  The City provides office space, court facilities including some 
furnishings, and compensation for court employees.  The Court provides no direct services to 
the City.  However, based on second criteria noted above, it has been determined that the court 
is a component unit of the City and should be included in the City’s financial statements 
through discrete presentation. 

 
  City Marshal of West Monroe 
 
  The City Marshal of West Monroe office is a legally separate entity.  The City Marshal is an 

independently elected official.  The City provides office space, furnishings and compensation 
for Marshal employees.  Based on second criteria above, it has been determined that the City 
Marshal of West Monroe is a component unit of the City and should be included in the City’s 
financial statements through discrete presentation. 

   
B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

 
The government-wide financial statements (the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information of all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City.  For the most part, 
the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these government-wide statements.  
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely, to a significant 
extent on fees and charges for support. 

 
 The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 

function, segment or component unit are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those 
that are clearly identifiable with a specific function, segment or component unit.  Program 
revenues include charges to customers who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods or 
services provided by a given function, segment or component unit.  Program revenues also 
include grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function, segment or component unit.  Taxes and other items not 
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.  
Resources that are dedicated internally are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues.  The City does not allocate general government (indirect) expenses to other functions. 

 
 Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and 

fiduciary funds.  However, the fiduciary funds are not included in the government-wide 
financial statements.  Major individual government funds and major individual enterprise funds 
are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
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Note 1 –  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 

  Government-Wide Financial Statements – The government-wide financial statements are 
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Grants and similar items are 
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have 
been met. 

 
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 

 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements – The governmental fund financial statements 
are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified 
accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable 
and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities for the current period.  For this 
purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of 
the end of the current fiscal year end.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as 
expenditures related to claims and judgment, are recorded when payment is due. 
 
Sales taxes, excise taxes, franchise taxes, licenses and investment interest associated with the 
current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and have been recognized 
as revenues of the current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when cash is received by the city. 
 
Because governmental fund statements are presented using a measurement focus and basis of 
accounting different from that used in the government-wide statement’s governmental 
column, a reconciliation is presented that briefly explains the adjustments necessary to 
reconcile ending net position and the change in net position. 
 
In the fund financial statement, financial transactions and accounts of the City are organized 
on the basis of funds.  The operation of each fund is considered to be an independent fiscal 
and separate accounting entity, with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash and/or 
other financial resources together with all related liabilities and residual equities or balances, 
and changes therein, which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or 
attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or limitations. 

 
Proprietary Funds and Fiduciary Funds – The financial statements of the proprietary and 
fiduciary funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting, similar to the government-wide statements described above. 
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Note 1 –  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

C.  Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
(continued) 
 
Each proprietary fund has the option under Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB), Statement 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and 
Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting to elect to apply all 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements issued after November 30, 
1989, unless FASB conflicts with GASB.  The City’s enterprise fund has elected to not apply 
FASBs issued after the applicable date. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  
Revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. 

 
D. Fund Accounting 

 
  The financial activities of the City are recorded in individual funds, each of which is deemed 

to be a separate accounting entity.  The City uses fund accounting to report on its financial 
position and results of operations.  Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal 
compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions related to certain 
government functions or activities.  A fund is a separate accounting entity with a self-
balancing set of accounts.   

 
1.  Major Governmental Funds     

   
General Fund – This fund accounts for all activities of the City not specifically required 
to be accounted for in other funds.  Included are transactions for services such as general 
government, health services, public safety, regulatory services and social services. 

 
1986 Sales Tax 75% Capital Fund – These funds account for monthly transfers from 
sales tax collections 75% of the one cent sales tax passed in 1986.  The funds are 
predominately used for capital expenditures. 
 
ARPA Fund – These funds account for federal grants received to help governments in 
the aftermath of the COVID outbreak.  The funds are being used to pay for the salaries 
for public safety personnel. 
 
2022 Debt Capital Fund – These funds account for funds received from the issuance of 
the 2022 bond issuance.  The funds are used for capital projects, mostly being the 
construction of the West Monroe Sports Complex. 
 

 2.  Special Revenue Funds – These funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific 
revenue sources (other than capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for 
specified purposes.  
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Note 1 –  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

D.    Fund Accounting (continued)  
 
3. Debt Service Funds – These funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources 

for, and the payment of, general long-term debt principal, interest and related costs. 
 
4. Capital Projects Funds – These funds are used to account for financial resources to be 

used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities. 
 
5. Proprietary Funds   

  
 Utility Enterprise Fund – This fund is to account for the provision of water and sewerage 

to residents of the City of West Monroe.  This fund is used to account for operations (a) 
that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises – where 
the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses including depreciation) of 
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges, or (b) where the governing body has decided 
that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is 
appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or 
other purposes. 

 
Internal Service Fund – This fund accounts for the financing of services provided by one 
fund to other funds of the City.  The Self Insurance Fund, which purchases an insurance 
policy and accounts for third-party administrative costs and claims, is reported as an 
internal service fund. 

 
6. Fiduciary Funds 
 

Trust Funds – These funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee 
capacity or as an agent for the individuals, private organizations, other governments 
and/or other funds.  These include Private-purpose trust funds.  Private-purpose trust 
funds are accounted for in essentially the same manner as governmental funds. 

 
 E.  Cash and Cash Equivalents         
  

Under state law, the City may deposit funds in demand deposits, interest bearing demand 
deposits, money market accounts, or time deposits with state banks organized under Louisiana 
law and national banks having their principal offices in Louisiana. 

 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents include all highly liquid 
investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity date of three months or less when 
purchased. 
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

F.  Investments 
    

 Deposits with original maturity dates exceeding 90 days are classified as investments.  
Investments are reported at fair value.  The Louisiana Asset Management Pool (LAMP) is an 
investment pool established as a cooperative endeavor to enable public entities of the State of 
Louisiana to aggregate funds for investment.  LAMP operates in accordance with state laws and 
regulations.  The reported value of the pool is the same as the fair value of the pool shares. 

 
 G. Noncurrent Receivables 
  

Noncurrent portions of long-term receivables due to government funds are reported on their 
balance sheets, in spite of their spending measurement focus.  Special reporting treatments are 
used to indicate that they should not be considered “available spendable resources” since they 
do not represent net current assets.  Recognition of governmental fund type revenues 
represented by noncurrent receivables is deferred until they become current receivables. 

 
 H. Inventories 
 

  Special reporting treatments are applied to governmental fund inventories to indicate that they 
do not represent “available spendable resources”, even though they are a component of net 
current assets.  Such amounts are presented under the nonspendable fund balance classification. 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.  Inventory in the 
General Fund consists of expendable supplies held for consumption.  The cost is recorded as an 
expenditure at the time individual inventory items are used. 

 
 I. Bad Debts 
 
  Uncollectible amounts for ad valorem taxes and convention center receivables are generally not 

significant.  As a result, the direct write-off method for recognizing bad debts is used.  Under 
this method, the receivable is charged to expense when the account is deemed to be 
uncollectible.  For customers’ utility receivables, the allowance method is used to account for 
uncollectible amounts.  Under this method, an allowance account is set up for what is deemed 
to be uncollectible. 

 
 J. Short-Term Interfund Receivables/Payables 
 
  During the course of operation, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for 

services rendered.  These receivables and payables are classified as due from other funds or due 
to other funds on the fund financial statements’ balance sheet.  In the process of aggregating 
data for the statement of net assets and the statement of activities, some amounts reported as 
interfund activity and balances in the funds were eliminated or reclassified.  Interfund 
receivables and payables were eliminated to minimize the “grossing up” effect on assets and 
liabilities within the governmental activities column. 
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
 K. Capital Assets 
 
  Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (which is 

normally immovable and of value only to the City, such as roads, bridges, streets and 
sidewalks, drainage systems, lighting systems, and similar items), are reported in the applicable 
governmental or business-type columns in the government-wide financial statements.  
Purchased or constructed capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost.  
Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market value at the date of donation. 

 
  Infrastructure constructed prior to July 1, 2000, has been recorded at estimated historical cost.  

The estimated historical cost for years prior to July 1, 2000, was based on capital outlay 
expenditures reported by the City’s engineer who performed a road, street and bridge inventory 
for the City.  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the asset’s value or 
materially extend an asset’s useful life are not capitalized. 

 
  Capital assets utilized in the governmental funds are recorded as expenditures in the 

governmental fund financial statements.  Depreciation expense is recorded in the government-
wide financial statements, as well as the proprietary funds financial statements. 

 
  Capital assets of the City are depreciated on the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated 

useful life.  There is no depreciation recorded for land and construction in progress.  Generally, 
estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 
    Vehicles, Machinery and Equipment   5-20 years 
    Buildings and Other Improvements 30-40 years 
    Infrastructure 20-40 years 
 
 L. Franchise Agreements 
   

  On February 15, 2012, the City Council of West Monroe authorized a franchise agreement 
between the City of West Monroe and Entergy Louisiana for the operation by Entergy 
Louisiana of the electric system within the corporate limits of West Monroe for a period of 
twenty-five years.  The agreement provides that Entergy Louisiana will pay to the City three 
percent of gross receipts (as defined) collected from the sale of electric service to residential 
and commercial customers within the City. 

 
  Also, on May 10, 2022, the City Council of West Monroe authorized a franchise agreement 

between the City of West Monroe and Atmos Energy for the operation of the gas system within 
the corporate limits of West Monroe for a period of ten years.  The agreement provides that 
Atmos Energy will pay to the City two percent of gross receipts (as defined) collected from the 
sale of gas service to residential and commercial customers within the City. 

 
  On April 10, 2012, the City Council of West Monroe authorized a franchise agreement between 

the City of West Monroe and any person or entity desiring to provide cable or video services 
that obtains a state issued certificate of franchise authority.  The providers will pay to the City 
five percent of gross receipts (as defined) collected from the sale of cable or video service to 
residential and commercial customers within the City and one half of a percent for PEG access 
support.  
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
 M.  Lease Obligations 
 

The City leases various assets for noncancellable leases of equipment and vehicles.  In the 
government-wide financial statements, capital leases and the related lease obligations are 
reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities statement of net assets as well as 
recording a related right-of-use lease asset. Leases with an initial value of $5,000 or more and 
greater than 12 months in length, are recognized.  They are evaluated based on the individual 
value of each asset.  
 
The lease liability is based on the present value of payments expected to be made during the 
lease term.  The liability is reduced as payments are made.  The right-of-use asset is amortized 
over the useful life on a straight-line basis. 

 
 N. Long-Term Liabilities 
 
  Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are recognized in the period the bonds 

are issued.  Bond proceeds are reported as other financing sources net of the applicable 
premium or discount.  Issuance costs, even if withheld from the actual net proceeds received, 
are reported as debt service expenditures. 

 
 O. Compensated Absences 
 

Accumulated unpaid vacation, sick pay, and other employee benefit amounts are accrued when 
incurred in enterprise funds under the accrual basis of accounting.  Employees of the City earn 
vacation pay in varying amounts ranging from 5 to 25 working days per year depending upon 
length of service.  At the end of each year, employees may carry forward earned vacation time.  
Up to a maximum of 50 days of unused vacation is paid to an employee upon retirement, 
separation, or death at hourly rates being earned by that employee upon separation. 
 
Firemen and policemen may receive up to one year’s sick leave per illness as prescribed under 
Louisiana law.  For all other City employees, sick leave is accumulated at rates ranging up to 12 
days per year.  Unused sick leave may be carried forward, however, up to a maximum of 36 
days of unused sick leave is paid to an employee upon retirement, separation, or death at hourly 
rates being earned by that employee upon separation. 

 
 P. Dedicated Revenues 
 
  Two cents of the sales tax revenue assessment is dedicated as follows: one cent is dedicated to 

capital improvements; seventy-five percent of the remaining cent is dedicated for purchase and 
improvements of assets having a life of one year or greater, related professional services and 
programs, and for paying capital improvements, construction, and repairs; the remaining 
twenty-five percent shall be used for general operations. 

 
  An additional one percent sales and occupancy tax was approved for restaurants and hotels 

within the West Monroe Economic Development District in December 2018.  The funds will be 
used for economic development within the district.   
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
 Q. Fund Equity 
 

  GASB Statement No. 54 establishes standards for five fund balance classifications that 
comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a government is bound to observe 
constraints imposed upon the use of resources reported in government funds.  The non-
spendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are 
either (a) not in spendable form – prepaid items or inventories; or (b) legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact. 

 
  The spendable portion of the fund balance comprises the remaining four classifications:  

restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. 
 
  Restricted Fund Balance – This classification reflects the constraints imposed on resources 

either (a) externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
  Committed Fund Balance – These amounts can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 

constraints imposed by formal resolutions or ordinances of the city aldermen – the 
government’s highest level of decision making authority.  Those committed amounts cannot be 
used for any other purpose unless the city aldermen remove the specified use by taking the 
same type of action imposing the commitment.  This classification also includes contractual 
obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for 
use in satisfying those contractual requirements. 

 
  Assigned Fund Balance – This classification reflects the amounts constrained by the city’s 

“intent” to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed.  The city 
aldermen and management have the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific 
purposes.  Assigned fund balances include all remaining amounts (except negative balances) 
that are reported in governmental funds, other than the general fund, that are not classified as 
non-spendable and are neither restricted nor committed. 

 
  Unassigned Fund Balance – This fund balance is the residual classification for the general 

fund.  It is also used to report negative fund balances in other governmental funds. 
 
  When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the city’s policy to 

use externally restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources – committed, assigned and 
unassigned – in order as needed. 

 
 R. Accounting Estimates 
 
  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions.  Those estimates affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.  They may also affect 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses of proprietary funds and the government-wide 
financial statements during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from these 
estimates. 

 

49

Item 2)



DRAFT

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 

 
 

34 

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
 S.  Pension Plans 
 

 The City of West Monroe, Louisiana is a participating employer in multiple pension plans as 
described in Note 10.  For purposes of measuring the Net Pension Liability, deferred outflows 
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, 
information about the fiduciary net position of the Funds, and additions to/deductions from the 
Fund’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 
the Fund.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments have been 
reported at fair value within the Plans. 
 

Note 2-  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
 Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits 
 
 The custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not 

be returned to it.  The City’s policy to ensure there is no exposure to this risk is to require each 
financial institution to pledge its own securities to cover any amount in excess of Federal 
Depository Insurance Coverage.  Louisiana Revised Statute 39:1229 imposes a statutory 
requirement on the custodial bank to advertise and sell the pledged securities within 10 days of 
being notified by the City that the fiscal agent bank has failed to pay deposited funds upon demand.  
Accordingly, the City had no custodial risk related to its deposits at June 30, 2023. 

 
 At June 30, 2023, the City has cash and cash equivalents (book balances net of overdrafts) in the 

amount of $21,575,233 (petty cash of $17,305 not included).     
        

  These deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market.  Under state law, these deposits (or 
the resulting bank balances) must be secured by federal deposit insurance or the pledge of 
securities owned by the fiscal agent bank.  The market value of the pledged securities plus the 
federal deposit insurance must at all times equal the amount on deposit with the fiscal agent. 

          
 These securities are held in the name of the pledging fiscal agent bank in a holding or custodial 

bank that is mutually acceptable by both parties.  Cash and cash equivalents (bank balances) at 
June 30, 2023, are secured as follows: 

  
   Bank Balances $ 22,931,201 
     
   Federal Deposits Insurance $      250,000 
   Pledged Securities (Uncollateralized)     28,257,735 
        
   TOTAL $  28,507,735 
 
   Governmental Funds Cash $  20,054,958 
 Enterprise Funds Cash 295,120 
 Fiduciary Funds Cash       1,242,460 
 
 TOTAL BOOK BALANCES BY FUND TYPE $  21,592,538  
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Note 2-  Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 
 

Discretely Presented Component Units – Deposits 
 

All deposits of the component units are held by area financial institutions.  At the respective year 
ends, all deposits are insured or collateralized with securities held in the component unit’s name by 
its agent (the trust department of a bank other than the pledging bank).   

 
Note 3 –  Investments 
 
 Custodial Credit Risk – Investments 
 
 The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 

counterparty, the government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The City had no custodial credit risk 
related to its investments at June 30, 2023. 
 

 Under state law, the City may invest funds in obligations of the United States, in federally-insured 
investments, or in time deposits with state banks organized under Louisiana law and national banks 
having their principal offices in Louisiana.  At June 30, 2023, the City had the following 
investments stated at cost, which approximates market: 

 
  Fixed Income $         1,378,641 
  Louisiana Asset Management Pool            2,243,490 
  Total $         3,622,131 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to declines in fair market 
values by limiting investment portfolio to “money market investments”, which are defined as 
creditworthy, highly liquid investments with maturities of one year or less.  Although there may be 
certain circumstances in which longer-term securities are utilized, the general use of long-term 
securities shall be avoided. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
The City’s investment policy limits investments to fully insured and/or fully-collateralized 
certificates of deposits and direct and indirect obligations of U.S. government agencies. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The City’s investment policy limits the City’s investment instruments to: 1) certificates of deposit; 
2) certain direct obligations of the U.S. Government; 3) bonds, debentures, notes, or other evidence 
of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by federal agencies and provided such obligations are backed 
by the full faith and credit of the United States of America; and 4) the Louisiana Asset 
Management Pool. 
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Note 3 –  Investments (continued) 
 

The City participates in the Louisiana Asset Management Pool (LAMP).  The LAMP is an 
investment pool established as a cooperative endeavor to enable public entities of the State of  
Louisiana to aggregate funds for investment.  LAMP is rated AAAm by Standard and Poor’s 
rating. 
 

Note 4 –  Fund Deficits 
 

The following funds had deficits at June 30, 2023: 
   
  Non-Major Funds: 
  2003 Debt Service Funds 24,996 
  Office of Motor Vehicles 50,218  
      
Any deficits in the special revenue funds and debt service funds are to be financed with future 
revenues or transfers from other funds.  Any deficits in the capital project funds will be funded 
with future drawdowns from state and federal agencies and/or transfers from the general fund. 
 

Note 5 –  Accounts Receivable 
 
 Accounts receivable at June 30, 2023, consisted of the following: 

 
   Governmental Proprietary  
      Funds Funds Total 
       Accounts Receivable $    595,604 $   1,056,184 $ 1,651,788 

 
Note 6 – Ad Valorem Taxes 

   
Property taxes are usually mailed out in November through Ouachita Parish and are due as of 
January 1.  Ouachita Parish remits the City’s portion monthly as received from taxpayers.  An 
enforceable lien attaches to the property with unpaid taxes and is sold at a tax sale usually in June 
of the following year. 

 
The Ouachita Parish Tax Assessor establishes assessed values each year on a uniform basis at the 
following ratios to fair market value: 

 
  10% Land 15% Machinery 
  10% Residential Improvements 15% Comm. Improvements 
  15% Industrial Improvements 25% Public Service Properties, 
    Excluding Land 
The ad valorem tax millage is as follows: 

    Mills 
  General Ad Valorem Tax   6.90 
  Street Maintenance   1.63 
  TOTAL   8.53    
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Note 7 –  Due From Other Governments 
 
 The amounts due from other governments at June 30, 2023, are as follows: 

  
  City of Monroe, LA  $   2,545,864 
  Corporation for National and Community Service   58,271 
  HUD    12,143  
  Ouachita Parish Sheriff   - 
  State of Louisiana   122,210 
  Various                    - 
   
   TOTAL  $   2,738,488 
 
Note 8 –  Capital Assets 
 
 Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023, is as follows:    

      
    June 30, 2022   June 30, 2023 
    Balance Additions Deletions Balance 
  Government Activities: 
   Non-Depreciable Assets: 
   Land $   6,911,403 $                  - $               - $   6,911,403 
   Construction In Progress     1,714,386   17,131,338                     -      18,845,724 
   Total  8,625,789 17,131,338 - 25,757,127 
   Depreciable Assets: 
   Buildings 32,506,043 402,389 - 32,908,432 
   Improvements 4,769,160 177,763 - 4,946,923 
   Equipment 7,209,012 630,048 - 7,839,060 
   Vehicles 9,536,790 - - 9,536,790 
   Infrastructure    82,296,943      1,206,753                   -   83,503,696 
   Total at Historical Cost $136,317,948 $    2,416,953 $               - $ 138,734,901 
     
   Less Accumulated 
   Depreciation for: 
   Buildings $( 19,803,584) $(  1,132,737) $                - $( 20,936,321) 
   Improvements (   1,644,476) (     112,905) - (   1,757,381)  
   Equipment (   6,615,739) (     200,258) - (   6,815,997) 
   Vehicles (   8,761,972) (     253,750) - (   9,015,722) 
   Infrastructure ( 60,365,624) (  1,547,551)                - ( 61,913,175) 
   Total Accumulated 
   Depreciation ( 97,191,395) (  3,247,201)                - ( 100,438,596) 
  
 Government Activities  
  Capital Assets, Net $ 47,752,342 $ 16,301,090 $              - $ 64,053,432 
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Note 8 –  Capital Assets (continued) 
    June 30, 2022   June 30, 2023 
    Balance Additions Deletions Balance 
 
 Business-Type Activities: 
 Non-Depreciable Assets: 
  Land  $        74,150 $                - $                - $        74,150 
  Construction in Progress                 -               -                    -                 - 
   Total 74,150 - - 74,150 
 Depreciable Assets: 
  Buildings 73,436 - - 73,436 
  Sparta Reuse Plant 20,701,729 - - 20,701,729 
  Water Plant 16,140,143 1,132,252 - 17,272,395 
  Treatment Plant 15,841,383 909,177 - 16,750,560 
  Equipment     2,003,006         55,500                   -     2,058,506 
   Totals at Historical Cost 54,759,697 2,096,929       - 56,856,626 
 
   Less Accumulated 
  Depreciation for: 
   Buildings (        73,436) - - (        73,436) 

   Sparta Reuse Plant          ( 10,198,610)     (   1,035,187)        -   ( 11,233,797) 
   Water Plant (   8,223,562) (      528,819) - (   8,752,381) 
   Treatment Plant ( 11,144,207) (      512,934) -  ( 11,657,141) 
   Equipment (   1,840,128) (        41,929)                  - (   1,882,057) 
   Total Accumulated 
   Depreciation ( 31,479,943) (   2,118,869)                  - ( 33,598,812) 
  
 Business-Type Activities 

 Capital Assets, Net $23,353,904 $     (21,940) $              - $ 23,331,964 
 
Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2023, was charged to functions of the City as 
follows: 
 
  Government Activities: 
   General Government $   1,920,717 
   Public Safety 242,321 
   Public Works 102,705 
   Culture and Recreation 109,014 
   Community Development 366,132 
   Ike Hamilton Expo Center 489,534 
   Convention Center 16,778 
   Health and Welfare                    - 
    Total Depreciation Expense - 
     Governmental Activities $   3,247,201 
 
  Business-Type Activities: 
   Utilities $   2,118,869 

 
Note 9 -  Restricted Assets and Related Resources 
 

At June 30, 2023, all restricted assets were in the form of demand deposits.  These assets represent 
amounts held for utility customer deposits and cash for reserve and sinking fund requirements. 
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans 
 

STATE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS 
 

MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF LOUISIANA 
 

Substantially all city employees, except firemen and policemen are members of the Municipal 
Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MERS), a multiple-employer (cost-sharing), public 
employee retirement system (PERS), controlled and administered by a separate board of trustees. 
The MERS is composed of two distinct plans, Plan A and Plan B, with separate assets and benefit 
provisions.  Each of these are separated by first employment date of which those before January 1, 
2013 are in Plan A and those after in Plan A Tier 2.  All members participate in Plan A or Plan A 
Tier 2 based on those dates. 

 
All permanent employees working at least 35 hours per week and elected city officials are required to 
participate in the system.  Under the MERS Plan A, a member who retires at or after age 60 with at 
least 10 years of creditable service or at any age with 25 years of creditable service is entitled to a full 
retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, equal to 3 percent of the member's final compensation 
multiplied by his years of creditable service.  With MERS Plan A Tier 2, a member who retires at or 
after age 67 with at least 7 years of creditable service, at or after age 62 with at least 10 years of 
creditable service or at 55 age with 30 years of creditable service are entitled to the same benefits as 
noted with Plan A.  
 
Final compensation is a member's average monthly earnings during the highest 60 consecutive 
months or joined months if service was interrupted.  A member who withdraws from active service 
prior to retirement eligibility is entitled to receive benefits beginning on the normal retirement date, 
assuming completion of the required years of creditable service and no prior refund of 
contributions.  The system also provides death and disability benefits. Benefits are established by 
state statute. 

 
Funding Policy – State statute requires covered employees to contribute 9.5 percent of their salaries to 
the System.  As provided by Louisiana Revised Statute 11:103, the employer contributions are 
determined by actuarial valuation and are subject to change each year based on the results of the 
valuation for the prior fiscal year.  The current actuarially determined rate is 29.5 percent of annual 
covered payroll.  The City’s contributions to the System under Plan A for the years ending June 30, 
2023, 2022 and 2021 were $2,230,104, $1,988,838 and $1,876,375, respectively, equal to the required 
contributions for each year. 

 
The System issues an annual publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and 
required supplementary information for the System.  That report may be obtained by writing to the 
Municipal Employees' Retirement System, 7937 Office Park Blvd., Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70809, 
or by calling (225) 925-4810. 
 

      Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $14,637,667 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability for the MERS plan.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of that date.  The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a 
projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the MERS pension plan relative to the 

55

Item 2)



DRAFT

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 40 

Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 

projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2022, the 
City’s proportion was 3.5244%, which was an increase of 0.2420% from its proportion measured as 
of June 30, 2021.   

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized net pension expense of $2,128,609, net of 
employer’s amortization of change in proportionate share and differences between employer 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions, $2,524. 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources 

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience  $   17,287     $      (56,051) 
Changes of assumptions 141,805  -    
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments 2,435,646        - 
Changes in proportion and differences between Employer  
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 563,877              (318,683) 
Employer  contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date       2,230,104  -    
  Total  $     5,388,719  $       (374,734) 

The City reported a total of $2,230,104 as deferred outflow of resources related to pension 
contributions made subsequent to the measurement period of June 30, 2022, which will be 
recognized as a reduction in net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023.   

 Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized as an increase (decrease) in pension expense as follows: 

Year    MERS 
2023  $   636,229 
2024   746,541 
2025   233,077 
2026  1,168,036 

 $      2,783,883 
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 
  Actuarial Assumptions 

A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2022, is as follows:  

 

Discount Rate 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation and an adjustment for the effect of rebalancing/diversification.   
 
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class 
included in the System’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2022, are summarized in the following 
table: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Valuation Date June 30, 2022  
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 
Actuarial Assumptions: 

     Expected Remaining      
        Service Lives       

Investment Rate of Return/Inflation 
Rate 

Projected salary increases 

 Employee mortality 
 
 
 
 Disabled lives mortality 
 
 
 Annuitant and beneficiary 
      mortality 
 
 
 

 

 
3 years 

6.85%, net of investment expense; 2.50% inflation  

 

4.5 to 6.4%  

PubG-2010(B) Employee Table set equal to 120% for males 
and females, each adjusted using their respective male and 
female MP2018 scales 

PubNS-2010(B) Disabled Retiree Table set equal to 120% 
for males and females with the full generational MP 2018 
scale 

PubG-2010(B) Healthy Retiree Table set equal to 120% for 
males and females, each adjusted using their respective male 
and female MP 2018 scales 
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Long-Term Expected 
Portfolio Real Rate of 

Return
Public Equity 53% 2.31%
Public fixed income 38% 1.65%
Alternative Investments 9% 0.39%
  Total 100% 4.35%
Inflation 2.60%
Expected Arithmetic Nominal Return 6.95%

 
 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.85% for the year ended June 30, 
2022. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions 
from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates and that contributions from 
participating employers will be made at the actuarially determined rates, which are calculated in 
accordance with relevant statutes and approved by the Board of Trustees and the Public Retirement 
Systems’ Actuarial Committee. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan 
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied 
to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  
 
The effects of certain other changes in the net pension liability are require to be included in pension 
expense  over the current and future periods.  The effects on the total pension liability of (1) changes 
of economic and demographic assumptions or of other inputs and (2) differences between expected  
and actual experience are required to be included in pension expense in a systematic and rational 
manner  over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all 
employees that are provided with benefits through the pension plan (active and inactive employees), 
determined as of the beginning of the measurement period.  The effect on net pension liability of 
differences between the projected earnings on pension plan investments and actual experience with 
regard to those earnings is required to be included in pension expense in a systematic and rational 
manner over a closed period of five years, beginning with the current period.  The Expected 
Remaining Service Lives (ERSL) for 2022 is 3 years. 

 
  Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in 

the Discount Rate 
 

  The following table presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (NPL) using 
the discount rate of each Retirement System as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the 
NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage-point lower or one 
percentage-point higher than the current rate used by each of the Retirement Systems: 

 

  1.0% Decrease  
Current Discount 

Rate  1.0% Increase 
MERS       

Rates   5.85%  6.85%  7.85% 
COWM Share - NPL       $19,470,955  $14,637,667  $10,553,694 
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 

MUNICIPAL POLICE EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 
 All full-time police officers engaged in law enforcement are required to participate in the Municipal 

Police Employees' Retirement System (MPERS), a multiple-employer (cost-sharing), public 
employee retirement system (PERS), controlled and administered by a separate board of trustees.  
Members who started prior to January 1, 2013, can retire at or after age 55 with 12 years of creditable 
service, at or after age 50 with 20 years of creditable service, or at any age with 25 years of creditable 
service are entitled to a retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, equal to 3-1/3 percent of the 
member's average final compensation multiplied by his years of creditable service, not to exceed 100 
percent of his average final compensation.   

 
Average final compensation is the average annual earned compensation of a member for any period 
of 36 successive or joined months of service that produces the highest average.  
 

 Members who started on or after January 1, 2013, retire under one of two plans, Hazardous Duty or 
Non Hazardous Duty.  Under Hazardous Duty, at or after age 55 with 12 years of creditable service, 
or at any age with 25 years of creditable service are entitled to a retirement benefit, payable monthly 
for life, equal to 3 percent of the member's average final compensation, not to exceed 100 percent of 
his average final compensation.  Under Non Hazardous Duty, at or after age 60 with 10 years of 
creditable service, 25 years of credible service at age 55, or at any age with 30 years of creditable 
service are entitled to a retirement benefit, payable monthly for life, equal to 2 1/2 percent of the 
member's average final compensation, not to exceed 100 percent of his average final compensation 

 
For these members, average final compensation is the average annual earned compensation of a 
member for any period of 60 successive or joined months of service that produces the highest 
average.  
 
The system also provides death and disability benefits.  Benefits are established by state statute 
 
Funding Policy - State statute requires covered employees to contribute 9.75 percent of their salaries 
to the system.  The City is required to contribute 31.25 percent of covered employees' salaries.  As 
provided by Louisiana Revised Statute 11:103, the employer contributions are determined by actuarial 
valuation and are subject to change each year based on the results of the valuation for the prior fiscal 
year. 
 
The City's contributions to the System for the years ending June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were 
$1,030,999, $877,070 and $953,144, respectively, equal to the required contributions for the year. 
 
The System issues an annual publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and 
required supplementary information for the System.  That report may be obtained by writing to the 
Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System, 8401 United Plaza Blvd., Baton Rouge, Louisiana 
70809-7017, or by calling (225) 929-7411. 

 
  Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred     

Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $9,771,486 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability for the MPERS plan.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, 
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an  
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 
actuarial valuation as of that date.  The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a 
projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the MPERS pension plan relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2022, the 
City’s proportion was 0.9559%, which was an increase of .0317% from its proportion measured as 
of June 30, 2021.   

 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $1,348,087 net of 
employer’s amortization of change in proportionate share and differences between employer 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions, $324,193. 

 
 At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 

resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

  
Deferred Outflows 

of Resources  
Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 
Differences between expected and actual experience   $                 48,193       $   (79,641) 
Changes of assumptions                    337,062               (72,680)    
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments  

                        
1,744,518               - 

Changes in proportion and differences between Employer  
contributions and proportionate share of contributions  

    
244,443              (799,121) 

Employer  contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date              1,030,999                     -     
  Total   $            3,405,215   $     (951,442) 

  
  The City reported a total of $1,030,999 as deferred outflow of resources related to pension 

contributions made subsequent to the measurement period of June 30, 2022, which will be 
recognized as a reduction in net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023.   

 
  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 

to pensions will be recognized as an increase (decrease) in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year     
     
MPERS 

2023     $   199,037 
2024          137,351 
2025          171 317 
2026          915,069 

      

     $1,422,774 
 
 Actuarial Assumptions 

A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2022, is as follows:  
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 

 
The present value of future retirement benefits is based on benefits currently being paid by the 
System and includes previously granted cost-of-living increases.  The present values do not include 
provisions for potential future increases not yet authorized by the Board of Trustees. 
 
The mortality rate assumption used was set based upon an experience study performed by the prior 
actuary on plan data for the period July 1, 2014, through June 30, 2019, and the review of similar 
law enforcement mortality.  A change was made full generational mortality which combines the use 
of a base mortality table which appropriate mortality improvement scales.  In order to set the base 
mortality table, actual plan mortality experience was assigned a credibility weighting and combines 
with a standard table to produce current levels of mortality.    
 
The best estimates of the arithmetic nominal rates of return for each major asset class included in the 
system’s target allocation as of June 30, 2022, are summarized in the following table: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Valuation Date 

 
 
June 30, 2022 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 
Actuarial Assumptions: 

     Expected Remaining      
        Service Lives       

Investment Rate of Return/Inflation 
Rate 

Projected salary increases 

 Mortality 

 

 
4 years 

6.75%, net of investment expense, 2.50% inflation   

 

4.70 to 12.30% based on years of service 

For employees, the Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plan 
Mortality Table for Safety Below-Median Employees 
multiplied by 115% for males and 125% for females, each 
with full generational projection using the MP2019 scale 
was used 

For disabled lives, the Pub-2010 Public Retirement Plan 
Mortality Table for Safety Disable Retirees multiplied by 
105% for males and 115% for females, each with full 
generational projection using the MP2019 scale was used 

For annuitants and beneficiaries, the Pub-2010 Public 
Retirement Plan Mortality Table for Safety Below-Median 
Healthy Retirees multiplied by 115% for males and 125% 
for females, each with full generational projection using the 
MP2019 scale was used  
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Long-Term Expected 
Portfolio Real Rate of 

Return
Equity 55.50% 3.60%
Fixed Income 30.50% 0.85%
Alternative Investments 14.00% 0.95%
Other 0.00% 0.00%
  Total 100% 5.40%
Inflation 2.66%
Expected Arithmetic Nominal Return 8.06%  

 
 Discount Rate 
 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows 
used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the 
current contribution rates and that contributions from participating employers will be made at the 
actuarially determined rates approved by PRSAC taking into consideration the recommendation of 
the System’s actuary. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  

 
 Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in 

the Discount Rate 
 

 The following table presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (NPL) using 
the discount rate of each Retirement System as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the 
NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage-point lower or one 
percentage-point higher than the current rate used by each of the Retirement Systems: 

 
 

  1.0% Decrease  
Current Discount 

Rate  1.0% Increase 
MPERS       

Rates   5.75%  6.75%  7.75% 
COWM Share- NPL   $      13,678,209   $        9,771,486   $     6,508,079 
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 

FIREFIGHTERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 

All full-time firefighters for the City who are engaged in fire protection are eligible to participate in 
the Firefighters' Retirement System (FRS), a multiple-employer (cost-sharing), public employee 
retirement system (PERS), controlled and administered by a separate board of trustees.   
 
A member who has completed 20 years of creditable service and has reached the age of 50, with at 
least 12 years of service who has reached the age of 55, as well as anyone with 25 years of service at 
any age are eligible for retirement.  Upon retirement, the benefit amount is 3-1/3 percent of average 
final compensation multiplied by years of creditable service, not to exceed his average final 
compensation.  Average final compensation is the member's average annual earned compensation for 
any period of 36 successive or joined months of service that produce the highest average.  The 
system also provides death and disability benefits. Benefits are established by state statute. 

 
Funding Policy - State statute requires covered employees to contribute 10.00 percent of their 
salaries to the system.  The City is required to contribute 33.25 percent of covered employees' 
salaries.  As provided by Louisiana Revised Statute 11:103, the employer contributions are 
determined by actuarial valuation and are subject to change each year based on the results of the 
valuation for the prior fiscal year. The City's contribution to the System for the years ending June 30, 
2023, 2022 and 2021 were $712,620, $642,674, and $613,184, respectively, equal to the required 
contributions for the year.  
 
The System issues an annual publicly available financial report that includes financial statements 
and required supplementary information for the System.  That report may be obtained by writing to 
the Firefighters' Retirement System, 3100 Brentwood Drive, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70809-1752, 
or by calling (225) 925-4060. 

 
  Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred     

Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $5,236,487 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability for the FRS plan.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 and 
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of that date.  The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection 
of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the FRS pension plan relative to the projected 
contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2022, the City’s 
proportion was .7426%, which was a decrease of .0172% from its proportion measured as of June 
30, 2021.   

 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $791,354 net of 
employer’s amortization of change in proportionate share and differences between employer 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions, $43,953. 

 
  At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 

related to pensions from the following sources: 
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 

  
Deferred Outflows 

of Resources  

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience   $                 31,298  
          

$(246,820) 
Changes of assumptions                   431,786                     -     
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments  

                        
1,186,202       - 

Changes in proportion and differences between Employer  
contributions and proportionate share of contributions  

    
197,621   

             
(270,365) 

Employer  contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date  712,620                      -     
  Total   $           2,559,527               $     (517,185) 

 
  The City reported a total of $712,620 as deferred outflow of resources related to pension 

contributions made subsequent to the measurement period of June 30, 2022, which will be recognized 
as a reduction in net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023.   

 
  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 

to pensions will be recognized as an increase (decrease) in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year           FRS 
2023      $        275,037 
2024                213,728 
2025                157,909 
2026                685,510 

2027 and 
thereafter                (2,462)         

      $    1,329,722 
 
 Actuarial Assumptions 

A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2022, is as follows:  
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 

 
Valuation Date June 30, 2022 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 
Actuarial Assumptions: 

     Expected Remaining      
        Service Lives       

Investment Rate of Return 

Inflation Rate 

Projected salary increases 

 Mortality 

 

 
7 years 

6.9%, net of investment expense 

2.50 per annum   

5.2-14.1% per year based on years of service 

For active members, mortality was set equal to the PUB-
2010 Public retirement Plans Mortality Table for Safety 
Below_Median Employees 

For annuitants and beneficiaries, mortality was set equal 
to the PUB-2010 Public retirement Plans Mortality 
Table for Safety Below_Median Heathy Retirees 

 

For disabled retirees, mortality was set equal to the 
PUB-2010 Public retirement Plans Mortality Table for 
Safety Disabled Retirees 

In all cases, the base table was multiplied by 105% for 
males and 115% for females, each with full generational 
projection using the appropriate MP2019 scale. 

Cost of Living Adjustments 

 

Only those previously granted. 

 
The estimated long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined by the 
System’s actuary using the System’s target asset allocation. Using the target asset allocation for the 
System and the average values for expected real rates of return, standard deviation of returns and the 
correlation of the returns, an arithmetic expected nominal rate of return and standard deviation for 
the portfolio was determined.   

 

Asset Class Target Asset Allocation
Equity 56.00%
Fixed Income 26.00%
Alternative Investments 18.00%
Multi-Asset Strategies 0.00%
  Total 100.00%
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 
Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.9%. The projection of cash flows 
used to determine the discount rate assumes that contributions from plan members will be made at 
the current contribution rates and that contributions from participating employers will be made at the 
actuarially determined rates approved by PRSAC taking into consideration the recommendation of 
the System’s actuary. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  

 
Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in 
the Discount Rate 

 
  The following table presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (NPL) using 

the discount rate of each Retirement System as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the 
NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage-point lower or one 
percentage-point higher than the current rate used by each of the Retirement Systems: 

 

  1.0% Decrease  
Current Discount 

Rate  1.0% Increase 
FRS       

Rates   5.9%  6.9%  7.9% 
COWM Share- NPL   $      7,746,801  $         5,236,487   $      3,142,707 

 
LOUISIANA STATE EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 
The City Judge is eligible to participate in the Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System 
(LASERS), a multiple-employer (cost-sharing), public employee retirement system (PERS), 
controlled and administered by a separate board of trustees.  LASERS provides benefits for certain 
elected officials and officials appointed by the governor.  Eligibility for full retirement is based on 
years of credible service and date of which you were first hired.   Upon retirement, the benefit 
amount is 2-1/2 percent of average compensation multiplied by the number of years of creditable 
service. Average compensation is defined as the member's average annual earned compensation for 
the highest thirty-six to sixty consecutive months of employment based on date of hire.   
 

Judges, court officers, and certain elected officials receive an additional annual retirement benefit 
equal to 1% of average compensation multiplied by the number of years of creditable service in their 
respective capacity.  The system also provides death and disability benefits.  Benefits are established 
by state statute. 

 
Funding Policy - State statute requires covered employees to contribute 11.50 percent of their salaries 
to the system.  The City is required to contribute 44.8 percent of covered employees’ salaries. As 
provided by Louisiana Revised Statute 11:103, the employer contributions are determined by actuarial 
valuation and are subject to change each year based on the results of the valuation for the prior fiscal 
year.  The City's contribution to the plan for the years ending June 30, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were 
$23,718, $22,184 and $21,039, respectively, equal to the required contributions for the year. 
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 
The System issues an annual publicly available financial report that includes financial statements 
and required supplementary information for the System.  That report may be obtained by writing to 
the Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System, 3401 United Plaza Blvd., Baton Rouge, 
Louisiana 70809, or by calling (225) 922-0600. 
 

  Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred     
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $185,440 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability for the LASERS plan.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022 
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of that date.  The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a 
projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the LASERS pension plan relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2022, the 
City’s proportion was .0025%, which was a decrease of .0001% from its proportion measured as of 
June 30, 2021.   

 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $24,562 including 
employer’s amortization of change in proportionate share and differences between employer 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions. 

 
  At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 

related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

  

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources  

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience   $                   506     $                - 
Changes of assumptions                   3,372                     -     
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments  

                        
14,937        - 

Changes in proportion and differences between Employer  
contributions and proportionate share of contributions  

                 
-                - 

Employer  contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date              23,718                     -     
  Total   $              42,533   $                 - 

  
  The City reported a total of $23,718 as deferred outflow of resources related to pension contributions 

made subsequent to the measurement period of June 30, 2022, which will be recognized as a 
reduction in net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023.   

 
 Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 

to pensions will be recognized as an increase (decrease) in pension expense as follows: 
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Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 

 
Year     LASERS 
2023      $     9,265 
2024             3,086 
2025           (3,777) 
2026           10,240       

      $   18,814 

      
  Actuarial Assumptions 

A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability 
as of June 30, 2022, is as follows:  
 

 
 
 

 

Valuation Date June 30, 2022 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 
Actuarial Assumptions: 

     Expected Remaining      
        Service Lives       

Investment Rate of Return 

Salary Increases 

Projected inflation increases 

 Mortality 
 
 
 
 
 
Termination, Disability and 
Retirement 

 

 
2 years 

7.25%, net of investment expense   

Various between 2.6 and 3.6% 

2.3% per annum 

RP-2014 Blue Collar (males/females) and White Collar 
(females) Healthy Annuitant Tables projected on a fully 
generational basis by Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2018 

RP-2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table, with no 
projection for mortality improvement  

Termination, disability, and retirement assumptions were 
projected based on a five-year (2014-2018) experience 
study of the System’s members for 2019 

 

Cost of Living Adjustments 

 

 

 

 

The present value of future retirement benefits is based on 
benefits currently being paid by the System and includes 
previously granted cost of living increases.  The projected 
benefit payments do not include provisions for potential 
future increases not yet authorized by the Board of Trustees as 
they were deemed not to be substantively automatic. 

68

Item 2)



DRAFT

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 

 
 

53 

Note 10 - Pension and Retirement Plans (continued) 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation of 2.3% and an adjustment for the effect of rebalancing/diversification.  The resulting 
expected long-term nominal rate of return is 8.34% for 2022.   Best estimates of geometric real rates 
of return for each major asset class included in the System’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 
2022 are summarized in the following table: 
 
 

Asset Class

Long-Term Expected 
Portfolio Real Rate of 

Return
Cash 0.39%
Domestic Equity 4.57%
International Equity 5.76%
Domestic Fixed Income 1.48%
International Fixed Income 5.04%
Alternative Investments 8.30%
Risk Parity 0.00%
Total Fund 5.91%  
 

Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. The projection of cash flows 
used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the 
current contribution rates and that contributions from participating employers will be made at the 
actuarially determined rates approved by PRSAC taking into consideration the recommendation of 
the System’s actuary. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  

 
  Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 

Discount Rate 
 

  The following table presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (NPL) using 
the discount rate of each Retirement System as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the NPL 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage-point lower or one 
percentage-point higher than the current rate used by each of the Retirement Systems: 

 

  1.0% Decrease  
Current Discount 

Rate  1.0% Increase 
LASERS       

Rates   6.25%  7.25%  8.25% 
COWM Share-NPL   $          233,338  $        185,440    $      141,765  
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Note 11 - Postemployment Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits 
 

General Information about the OPEB Plan 
 

Plan description – The City of West Monroe (the City) provides certain continuing health care and 
life insurance benefits for its retired employees. The City of West Monroe’s OPEB Plan (the OPEB 
Plan) is a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the City. The authority to 
establish and/or amend the obligation of the employer, employees and retirees rests with the City. No 
assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB).   

 
Benefits Provided – Medical insurance benefits are provided through comprehensive plans and are 
made available to employees upon actual retirement. The employees are covered by one of three 
retirement systems: first, MERS of Louisiana, whose retirement eligibility (D.R.O.P entry) provisions 
are as follows:  25 years of service at any age; or, age 60 and 10 years of service; second, the 
Firefighters’ Retirement System of Louisiana, and third, the Municipal Police Retirement System of 
Louisiana.  Both the Fire and Police systems have retirement eligibility (D.R.O.P entry) provision as 
follows:  25 years of service at any age, age 50 and 20 years of service; or, age 55 and 12 years of 
service.  Employees hired on and after January 1, 2013, must meet the following retirement (D.R.O.P 
entry) requirements: age 55 and 30 years of service; age 62 and 10 years of service; or, age 67 and 7 
years of service.  Furthermore, there is a minimum requirement of 15 years to receive medical 
benefits. 

 
Employees covered by benefit terms – At June 30, 2023, the following employees were covered by 
the benefit terms: 

 
 

Total OPEB Liability 
 

The City’s total OPEB liability of $4,762,324 was measured as of June 30, 2023, and was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

  
Actuarial Assumptions and other inputs – The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2023, actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all 
periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Inflation    3.0% 
Salary increases    3.0%, including inflation 
Prior Discount rate   3.54% 
Discount rate 3.65%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including 

inflation 
Healthcare cost trend rates  Flat 5.5% annually until 2030, then 4.5% 
Mortality     SOA RP-2014 Table 
 
 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments  19 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments  - 
Active employees  237 
   
  256 
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Note 11 - Postemployment Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits (continued) 
 

The discount rate was based on the average of the Bond Buyers' 20 Year General Obligation 
municipal bond index as of June 30, 2023, the end of the applicable measurement period. 

 
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2023, valuation were based on the results of ongoing 
evaluations of the assumptions from July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2023.  

 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

 
Balance at June 30, 2022  $      4,661,733 
Changes for the year:   
     Service cost  43,261 
     Interest  165,791 
     Differences between expected and actual experience   88,819 

Changes of assumptions                (49,084) 
Benefit payments and net transfers  (148,196) 

 Net changes  100,591 
   

Balance at June 30, 2023  $      4,762,324 
 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate – The following presents the 
total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.65%) or 1-percentage-point higher 
(3.65%) than the current discount rate: 

 
 1.0% Decrease 

(1.65%) 
 Current Discount 

Rate (2.65%) 
 1.0% Increase 

(3.65%) 
Total OPEB liability $         5,256,668       $        4,762,324  $        4,333,761 

 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates – The following 
presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be 
if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower (4.5%) or 1-
percentage-point higher (6.5%) than the current healthcare trend rates: 

 
 1.0% Decrease 

(4.5%) 
 Current Trend 

(5.5%) 
 1.0% Increase 

(6.5%) 
Total OPEB liability $        4,329,555       $        4,762,324  $        5,261,491 

 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related 
to OPEB  

 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized OPEB expense of $(239,996). At June 30, 
2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB from the following sources:  
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Note 11 - Postemployment Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits (continued) 
 
 

 Deferred Outflows 
of Resources 

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience  $           217,019         $    (3,210,768) 
Changes in assumptions 1,119,144 (2,213,228) 
Total $        1,336,163 $     (5,423,996) 

 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:  

 
Years ending June 30:  

2023 (449,048) 
2024 (449,048) 
2025 (449,048) 
2026 (449,048) 
2027 

Thereafter 
 

(449,048) 
(1,842,593) 

 
Note 12 - Long-Term Debt    Amounts Due 
    Beginning  Ending Within 
    Balance Additions Reductions  Balance One Year 
Governmental Activities: 
 Bonds and Notes Payable: 
 Certificates of Indebtedness, 
   Series 2022  - 17,000,000 180,000 16,820,000 495,000 
   Series 2015  18,460,000 - 1,145,000 17,315,000 1,185,000 
   Series 2018  10,075,000 - 420,000 9,655,000 440,000 
   Block Grant for  
   Economic Development       103,681                  -      24,996       78,685       25,000 
       
Total Governmental Bonds 

 And Notes Payable  28,638,681 17,000,000 1,769,996 43,868,685 2,145,000  
 
Other Liabilities: 
  Accrued Heart and  
   Lung Disability      148,098                -       10,204      137,894      18,633 
  Accrued Vacation, Sick 
   And Compensatory Time       914,671                  -        50,789        863,882        863,882 
    
 Total Other Liabilities     1,062,769                  -       60,993    1,001,776        882,515 
 
Total Governmental Activities 
 Long-Term Debt   $29,701,450 $ 17,000,000 $ 1,830,989 $44,870,461 $3,027,515 
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Note 12 - Long-Term Debt (continued) 
 
Business-Type Activities: 
 Bonds and Notes Payable: 
  Certificates of Indebtedness, 
   Sewer Bonds 2010    $ 654,000      $                 - $    63,000   $   591,000  $     63,000  
 
Other Liabilities: 
  Accrued Vacation, Sick 
   And Compensatory Time 
    Business-Type Activities      193,254        16,664                -    209,918   209,918 
 
Total Business-Type Activities 
 Long-Term Debt   $847,254 $     16,664 $     63,000 $ 800,918 $   272,918 

 
Payments on the bonds and notes payable that pertain to the City’s governmental activities are made 
by the debt service funds.  Funding for these payments are from an irrevocable pledge and dedication 
of the net avails of the City’s one percent (1%) sales and use tax approved in 1991 and the forty-nine 
hundredths of one percent (.49%) sales and use tax approved in 2014. 
 
The accrued heart and lung disability and accrued vacation, sick and compensatory time will be 
liquidated primarily by the General Fund.  Payment of compensated absences is dependent upon 
many factors; therefore, the timing of future payments is not readily determinable. 
 
Principal and interest requirements to retire the City’s bonds and notes payable obligations are as 
follows: 

    Certificates of Indebtedness   
Year Ended                                    Series 2015 
 June 30,   Principal Interest  
 2024   $   1,185,000 $   628,081 
 2025   1,225,000 567,831  
 2026   1,270,000 505,456  
 2027   1,315,000 440,831  
 2028   1,360,000 380,756  
2029-2033   7,555,000 1,138,919 
2034-2038   3,405,000 119,091 
2039-2041                        -                  -  

     
 Total   $  17,315,000 $ 3,780,965 
 

                            Certificates of Indebtedness                                      
Year Ended   Series 2018  Series 2022 
 June 30,    Principal    Interest  Principal    Interest 
 2024   $    440,000         $   420,288  $  495,000 $    801,095 
 2025   455,000              397,913  515,000 784,163 
 2026   480,000              374,538  530,000 765,213 
 2027   500,000              350,038  550,000 744,688 
 2028   520,000              324,538  570,000 721,050 
2029-2033  2,920,000           1,207,088  3,305,000 3,142,375 
2034-2038  3,540,000              520,594  4,220,000 2,207,000 
2039-2044  800,000                16,000  6,635,000 1,042,375 
    
 Total  $ 9,655,000       $  3,610,997  $16,820,000 $10,207,959 
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Note 12 - Long-Term Debt (continued) 
     
    CDBG Division of Adm. Sewer Revenue Bonds         

Year Ended Economic Development        Series 2010      
 June 30,    Principal Interest Principal Interest   
 2024   $      25,000 $               - $    63,000 $        2,518  
 2025   25,000 - 64,000 2,232  
 2026   25,000 - 64,000 1,944  
 2027   3,685 - 65,000 1,654  
 2028   - - 66,000 1,359  
2029-2033   - - 269,000 2,437  
2034-2038  - - - -  

                   -                    -                  -                  -  
   

 Total  $     78,685 $                 - $   591,000 $      12,144 
 
Note 13 - Long-Term Firemen's Disability Payments 
 

The City of West Monroe is self-insured with respect to workers' compensation claims up to 
$250,000 per occurrence.  Consequently, the City is responsible for providing Louisiana State 
Workers Compensation benefits under the Heart and Lung Act.  Under this act, special treatment 
has been accorded firemen who develop any disease or infirmity of the heart and lungs. Louisiana 
Revised Statute 33.2581 provides a presumption in favor of firemen that the disease is related to 
employment even if they are not on duty when stricken with the disease, if the disease manifests 
itself after the first five years of employment.  At June 30, 2023, the City is responsible for 
payment of lifetime benefits to two firemen or their spouses.  The actuarial estimate of the liability 
is $137,894. 

 
  The annual payment requirements outstanding at June 30, 2023, are as follows: 
  
 2024 $     18,633 
 2025 18,633 
 2026 18,633 
 2027 18,633 
 2028 18,633 
 2029-2033 44,729  
 2034-2036                 - 
 
 TOTAL $   137,894 
 
Note 14  - Municipal Facilities Revolving Loan Fund 
 

On November 1, 2009, the City entered into a commitment agreement with the Louisiana 
Department of Environmental Quality for two capitalization grants totaling $6,000,000 to be used 
for the purpose of establishing a water pollution control revolving fund for providing assistance to 
upgrade the City’s existing treatment plant by installing additional components that would allow the 
plant effluent to be used by Graphic Packaging as process water.  These components are not required 
for the City to meet its permits but are needed solely to allow for the beneficial use of the plant 
effluent.  The existing lagoons are retained to provide secondary treatment before entering the new 
units.  Effluent from the plant is being pumped to Graphic Packaging through a pipeline that has 
been constructed for that purpose. 
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Note 14  - Municipal Facilities Revolving Loan Fund (continued) 
 
 Sewer Revenue Bonds  
 

Sewer revenue bonds were issued in the amount of $1,250,000 to help fund the above project.  This 
amount will be paid back over a twenty year amortization period at .45% and is also recognized as 
bonds payable.  Sewer Revenue Bonds of $4,750,000 were also issued but were forgiven during the 
year ending June 30, 2013. See note 12 for the principal and interest requirements.   

 
Note 15 - Leased Assets 
 

During the year ending June 30, 2022, the City entered into a lease agreement with Enterprise to 
provide the City’s fleet of vehicles.  Over the next several years, Enterprise will be replacing all of 
the City’s vehicles.  The vehicles will then be rotated out every few years along the same time frame. 
Lease terms vary from 4 to 5 years with varying interest rates per vehicle between 4.48 and 8.51 
percent as of June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the City has received 61 vehicles.  The following 
is a schedule by years of future minimum lease payments: 
 
    Year Ended 
    June 30,  Principal Interest 

 2024 $    380,807 85,617 
 2025 380,807 85,617 
 2026 312,806 75,198 
 2027 204,004 47,612 
 2028 81,602 27,288 
 

As of June 30, 2023, the leased assets were valued at $1,690,121 with accumulated amortization of 
$263,156.     

 
Note 16 - Cooperative Endeavor – Sports Complex 
 

 The City and the Monroe-West Monroe Convention and Visitor’s Bureau of Ouachita Parish entered 
into a Cooperative Agreement in regards to the construction of the West Monroe Sports and Events 
Complex.  The Bureau is contributing to the construction of the facility, and in return, the City and 
the Bureau will work together to allow the Bureau to schedule events at the Complex through 2039. 

 
Note 17 - Litigation 
 

There are several pending lawsuits in which the City is involved.  The City Attorney is unaware of 
any pending litigation from which he would reasonably expect the City to incur a liability in excess 
of its applicable deductible on any insurance policy and is further unaware of any litigation where the 
City may not be insured as to any claim where he would reasonably expect the City to incur a 
liability in excess of $100,000. 
 

Note 18 - Self-Insurance Program 
 

  During 1998, the City began a self-insurance program for hospitalization and medical coverage for 
its active employees and retirees.  The City limits its losses through the use of reinsurers up to 
$75,000 per employee. The City’s aggregate annual loss limitation is based on a formula that 
considers, among other things, the total number of employees. At June 30, 2023, the City’s annual 
cost, excluding reinsurance premiums, is limited to approximately $3,000,000, which was for active 
employees.  Approximately 32 retirees receive benefits under this plan.  These retirees reimbursed 
the City for $243,278 during the year ended June 30, 2023, for their cost of the health care benefits. 
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Note 19 - Deferred Compensation Plan 
 

Employees of the City may participate in a deferred compensation plan adopted under the 
provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 457 (Deferred Compensation Plans with Respect to 
Service for State and Local Governments).  The deferred compensation plan is available to all full 
time employees of the City.  Under the plan, employees may elect to defer a portion of their 
salaries and avoid paying taxes on the deferred portion until the withdrawal date.  The deferred 
compensation amount is not available for withdrawal by employees until termination, retirement, 
death or unforeseeable emergency. 
 
Since the assets of the plans are held in a custodial account with a third party administrator, the 
assets and liabilities are not presented in the City’s financial statements in accordance with GASB 
32.  Assets with a fair market value of $1,598,602 are held by Nationwide Retirement Solutions, 
Inc. and VALIC Financial Advisors. 
 

Note 20 - Interfund Operating Transfers In and Out 
 

 Interfund operating transfers in and out during the year ended June 30, 2023, were as follows: 
 
       Operating Transfers 
                            Fund   In Out 
 Major Funds: 
  General Fund $ 2,262,933 $   5,957,883 
  '86 Sales Tax Capital 4,541,298 858,191 
  ARPA  - 2,262,934 
 Enterprise Fund 461,954 - 
 Non-Major Funds: 
  Special Revenue Funds 555,277 978,011 
  Capital Project Funds - - 
  Internal Service Fund 120,731 - 
  Fiduciary Funds 278,624 - 
  Debt Service Funds   1,836,202                  - 
  TOTAL  $ 10,057,019 $ 10,057,019 
 

 Transfers are used to (a) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them 
to the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them and (b) use unrestricted revenues 
collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance 
with budgetary authorizations. 
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Note 21 - Interfund Receivables and Payables 
 
 Interfund balances at June 30, 2023, were as follows: 
    Interfund    
     Fund Receivables Payables  
 Major Funds: 
  General Fund $   820,266 $    135,541 
  '86 Sales Tax 165,541            645,765 
  2022 Debt Capital 1,506 -  
 Enterprise Fund - 157,340 
 Non-Major Funds: 
 Special Revenue Funds 465,962 589,386 
 Debt Service Funds - 39,645 
 Capital Project Fund - 30,000 
 Fiduciary Funds 148,627 2,000 
 Internal Service Fund               -        2,225 
  
 TOTAL  $ 1,601,902 $ 1,601,902 
 
 These balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that interfund goods and services are 

provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, transactions are recorded in the accounting system 
and payments between funds are made. 

 
Note 22 - On-Behalf Payments 
 
 Certain City employees in the City Marshal’s office, the West Monroe Police and Fire departments 

receive supplemental pay from the state of Louisiana.  In accordance with GASB Statement No. 24, 
the City has recorded revenues and expenditures for these payments in the General Fund.  Revenues 
under this arrangement totaled $682,153 and the related expenditures are as follows: 

 
    Marshal’s Office $     21,715 
    Police Department 376,362 
    Code Enforcement 7,238 
    Fire Department      257,284 
     Total $   662,599 
 
Note 23 - Minimum Lease Payments Receivable – Direct Financing Lease 
 
 On September 29, 2006, the City purchased a building for $1,250,000 and renovated it for an 

additional $165,000 with the intent of leasing it as a commercial building with an option to 
purchase.  The company that leased the building created 50 new jobs at the facility.  In addition to 
this arrangement, the City was awarded a community development block grant for $500,000 
($10,000 for each job created).  This $500,000 was added to the $915,000 in bond issuances that 
were secured during fiscal year 2006 to pay for the building for a total $1,415,000. 

 
 The following lists the components of the minimum lease payments to be received under the direct 

financing lease as of June 30, 2023: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

77

Item 2)



DRAFT

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 

 
 

62 

Note 23 - Minimum Lease Payments Receivable – Direct Financing Lease (continued) 
 
 Total minimum lease payments to be received  $      81,315 
 Less:  Amounts representing estimated executory costs 
  (such as taxes, maintenance, and insurance), including 
  profit thereon, included in total minimum lease payments                          - 
 Minimum lease payments receivable 81,315 
 Estimated residual values of leased property (unguaranteed) - 
 Less:  Unearned Income (                 -) 
 NET MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS RECEIVABLE – 
  DIRECT FINANCING LEASE $      81,315 
 
 Future minimum lease payments are as follows: 
    Year Ended 
     June 30,  Amount 
     2024 $     25,020 
     2025 25,020 
     2026 25,020 
     2027 6,255 
     2028 - 
    2029-2032                     - 
    Total $     81,315 
 
  
Note 24 - Component Units 
 

For the year ending June 30, 2023, the City has chosen to include its legally separate components 
units discretely in the City’s financial statement in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States. 
 

 
Note 25 - Subsequent Events 
 

Subsequent events have been evaluated through December 8, 2023, the date that the financial 
statements were available to be issued.  All subsequent events determined to be relevant and 
material to the financial statements have been appropriately disclosed or recorded. 

 
Note 26 - Fund Changes and Fund Balances 
 

Amounts for specific purposes by fund and fund balance classifications for the year ended June 30, 
2023, are as follows: 
 
Classification/Fund Purpose Amount 
Nonspendable: 
 General Fund Inventory $       23,529 
  Minimum Lease Payment Receivable 81,315 
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Note 26 - Fund Changes and Fund Balances (continued) 
 
 
Restricted: 
 ARPA  2,300,618 
 2022 Debt Capital Capital Expenditures 7,098,053 
   Section 8 Public Housing  190,515 
 Metro LCLE LCLE Multi-Jurisdictional Taskforce 2,614 
 Emergency Shelter FEMA Emergency Shelter Recipients 6,889 
 Americorps  62,958 
 Economic Dev. District      770,135 
 Officer Witness Court  34,616 
 Various Cap. Projects  Various Cap. Projects 262,093 
Committed: 
 General Fund Fund Balance for Next Year’s Operations - 
Assigned: 
 General-Project Contingency 3,500,000 
 Misc. Grants  13,619 
 Capital Campaign  395,188 
 Ouachita Outreach  8,349 
 86 Sales Tax Capital  1,536,098 
 2011 Debt Service  5,278 
 2015 Debt Service  857,850 
   2018 Debt Service  355,884 
 2022 Debt Service  94,019 

 Unassigned: 
 General Fund  8,412,407 
 Office of Motor Vehicles    DMV Operations (        50,218) 
 2003 Debt Service     (        24,996) 
Total Fund Balances  $25,936,813 
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Favorable
Original Final Amounts (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Taxes 18,492,650$   20,996,957$  20,996,957$  -$  
Intergovernmental 463,215          393,347         393,347         - 
Licenses and Permits 1,063,650       1,108,390      1,108,390      - 
Charges for Services 2,345,500       2,848,320      2,848,320      - 
Fines and Forfeitures 214,300          277,763         277,763         - 
Interest Earned 35,000            108,075         108,075         - 
Franchise Revenue 812,000          1,092,697      1,092,697      - 
Sale of Assets 500,000          505,070         505,070         - 
Other 45,250            357,182         357,182         - 

     Total Revenues 23,971,565     27,687,801    27,687,801    - 

Expenditures
General Government:
     Elected Council 85,776            86,832           86,832           - 
     City Court 608,230          613,168         613,168         - 
     Marshal 552,523          572,842         572,842         - 
     Mayor's Office 335,530          499,505         499,505         - 
     City Clerk's Office 1,050,394       954,717         954,717         - 
     Information Technology 424,225          309,627         309,627         - 
     City Hall Maintenance 818,043          751,559         751,559         - 
     General and Administrative 2,353,187       2,609,549      2,609,549      - 
Public Safety:
     Legal 652,704          540,279         540,279         - 
     Fire 3,256,100       3,397,501      3,397,501      - 
     Police 6,020,880       6,117,281      6,117,281      - 
     Prison - - - - 
     Police Shop - - - - 
Public Works:
     Garbage 766,464          890,736         890,736         - 
     Trash 874,880          729,411         729,411         - 
     Streets 930,525          1,069,680      1,069,680      - 
     Cemetery 3,000              2,894             2,894             - 
     Planning and Zoning 83,807            83,481           83,481           - 
     Inspection 287,582          277,471         277,471         - 
     City Maintenance Shop 449,036          441,328         441,328         - 

Budgeted Amounts

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Actual Favorable
Original Final Amounts (Unfavorable)

Budgeted Amounts

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Culture and Recreation:
     Recreation and Parks 462,670          473,161         473,161         -                     
     Kiroli Park 687,500          720,676         720,676         -                  
     Lazarre Park 5,500              5,021             5,021             -                  
     Restoration Park 7,000              7,378             7,378             -                  
     Farmer's Market 50,779            49,508           49,508           -                  
Ike Hamilton Expo Center 1,239,792       1,574,349      1,574,349      -                  
Convention Center 459,921          482,315         482,315         -                  
Community Development & Center 292,994          333,733         333,733         -                  
Tanner Building & Business Center 17,560            19,562           19,562           -                  
Section 8 Housing 230,685          -                 -                 -                  
Code Enforcement 277,120          258,788         258,788         -                  
     Total Expenditures 23,284,407     23,872,352    23,872,352    -                  

Excess of Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures 687,158          3,815,449      3,815,449      -                  

Other Financing Sources and (Uses)
Transfers In 250,000          2,262,933      2,262,933      -                  
Transfers Out (589,875)         (5,957,883)     (5,957,883)     -                  
     Total Other Financing Sources
         and Uses (339,875)         (3,694,950)     (3,694,950)     -                  

Net Change in Fund Balance 347,283          120,499         120,499         -                  

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 11,896,752     11,896,752    11,896,752    -                  

FUND BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 12,244,035$   12,017,251$  12,017,251$  -$                

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Favorable
Original Final Amounts (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Sales Tax 6,500,000$    7,030,513$    7,030,513$    -$               
Intergovernmental 6,955,039      4,299,583      4,299,583      -                 
Charges for Services -                 -                 -                 -                 
Sales of Asset -                 -                 -                 -                 
Other -                 17,750           17,750           -                 
Interest Income 500                611                611                -                 
     Total Revenues 13,455,539    11,348,457    11,348,457    -                 

Expenditures
Salaries, Wages and Benefits 305,935         305,990         305,990         -                 
Professional Services 630,000         850,865         850,865         -                 
Repairs and Maintenance 940,000         1,894,104      1,894,104      -                 
Capital Purchases 10,394,800    10,628,138    10,628,138    -                 
Miscellanous 2,190             750                750                -                 
     Total Expenditures 12,272,925    13,679,847    13,679,847    -                 

Excess of Revenues Over
Expenditures 1,182,614      (2,331,390)     (2,331,390)     -                 

Other Financing Sources and (Uses)
Transfers In -                 4,541,298      4,541,298      -                 
Transfers Out (858,190)        (858,191)        (858,191)        -                 
     Total Other Financing Sources
        and Uses (858,190)        3,683,107      3,683,107      -                 

Net Change in Fund Balance 324,424         1,351,717      1,351,717      -                 

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year 552,462         184,381         184,381         -                 

FUND BALANCE AT END OF YEAR 876,886$       1,536,098$    1,536,098$    -$               

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - '86 SALES TAX 75% CAPITAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Favorable
Original Final Amounts (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Intergovernmental -$               2,261,092$    2,261,092$    -$               
Other -                 -                 -                 -                 
Interest Income -                 37,684           37,684           -                 
     Total Revenues -                 2,298,776      2,298,776      -                 

Expenditures
Public Safety -                 -                 -                 -                 
     Total Expenditures -                 -                 -                 -                 

Excess of Revenues Over
Expenditures -                 2,298,776      2,298,776      -                 

Other Financing Sources and (Uses)
Transfers In -                 -                 -                 -                 
Transfers Out -                 (2,262,934)     (2,262,934)     -                 
     Total Other Financing Sources
        and Uses -                 (2,262,934)     (2,262,934)     -                 

Net Change in Fund Balance -                 35,842           35,842           -                 

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year -                 2,264,776      2,264,776      -                 

FUND BALANCE AT END OF YEAR -$               2,300,618$    2,300,618$    -$               

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - APRA FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Favorable
Original Final Amounts (Unfavorable)

Revenues
Sales Tax -$               -$                -$               -$               
Intergovernmental -                 -                  -                 -                 
Charges for Services -                 -                  -                 -                 
Sales of Asset -                 -                  -                 -                 
Other -                 3,605,421       3,605,421      -                 
Interest Income -                 19,998            19,998           -                 
     Total Revenues -                 3,625,419       3,625,419      -                 

Expenditures
Salaries, Wages and Benefits -                 -                  -                 -                 
Professional Services -                 -                  -                 -                 
Repairs and Maintenance -                 -                  -                 -                 
Capital Purchases -                 14,620,294     14,620,294    -                 
Miscellanous -                 -                  -                 -                 
     Total Expenditures -                 14,620,294     14,620,294    -                 

Excess of Revenues Over
Expenditures -                 (10,994,875)    (10,994,875)   -                 

Other Financing Sources and (Uses)
General Obligation Bonds -                 18,092,904     18,092,904    -                 
Transfers In -                 -                  -                 -                 
Transfers Out -                 -                  -                 -                 
     Total Other Financing Sources
        and Uses -                 18,092,904     18,092,904    -                 

Net Change in Fund Balance -                 7,098,029       7,098,029      -                 

Fund Balance at Beginning of Year -                 24                   24                  -                 

FUND BALANCE AT END OF YEAR -$               7,098,053$     7,098,053$    -$               

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - 2022 DEBT CAPITAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts
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68 

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
NOTES TO BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 

 
The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in these financial 
statements: 
 
1.   In May of each year, the Mayor submits to the Board of Aldermen an operating and capital 

budget for the succeeding year.   
 
2. A public hearing is scheduled by the Mayor and the Board of Aldermen after allowing for at 

least ten days notice to the public at the time the budget is initially submitted to the Board of 
Aldermen.  
 

3. Final adoption of the budget by the Board of Aldermen is on the second Tuesday in June. 
 
4. The Mayor may authorize transfers of budgetary amounts within departments.  However, any 

revision requiring alteration of levels of expenditures or transfers between departments must 
be approved by the Board of Aldermen. 

 
5. Operating appropriations and nonmajor capital appropriations, to the extent not expended, 

lapse at year-end.  Major capital appropriations continue in force until the project is 
completed. 

 
All legally adopted budgets of the City are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).  Budgets are adopted for 
the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, Debt Service Funds, Capital Project Funds, and 
Expendable Trust Funds.  
 
Budget comparison schedules included in the accompanying financial statements include the 
original adopted budgets and all subsequent adopted amendments. 
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2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Total OPEB Liability

Service Cost 297,127$         345,716$       545,637$     423,381$       427,786$            43,261$          
Interest 283,557           289,776         295,308       208,764         220,269              165,791          
Changes in benefit terms -                      -                     -                   -                     -                         -                      
Difference between expected and
 actual experience 167,657           24,227           (840,440)      167,086         (3,362,419)         88,819            
Changes in Assumptions (254,289)         410,517         1,192,909    79,957           (2,467,157)         (49,084)           
Benefit Payments (209,073)         (220,572)        (123,327)      (130,110)        (140,470)            (148,196)         
Net Change in Total OPEB Liability 284,979           849,664         1,070,087    749,078         (5,321,991)         100,591          

Total OPEB liability - beginning 7,029,915        7,314,894      8,164,558    9,234,646      9,983,724           4,661,733       

Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 7,314,894$      8,164,558$    9,234,645$  9,983,724$    4,661,733$         4,762,324$     

Covered Employee Payroll 9,088,183$      9,360,828$    9,435,788$  9,718,862$    8,617,953$         8,876,492$     

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of 
covered employee payroll 80.49% 87.22% 97.87% 102.73% 54.09% 53.65%

Notes to Schedule:
Benefit Changes: None None None None None None
Changes in Assumption :

Discount Rate: 3.87% 3.50% 2.21% 2.16% 3.54 3.65
Mortality: RP-2000 RP-2000 RP-2014 RP-2014 RP-2014
Trend: 5.50% 5.50% Variable Variable Variable

This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
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Year Ending June 30,

Employer's Proportion 
of the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset)

Employer's 
Proportionate Share 
of the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset)

Employer's 
Covered 

Employee Payroll

Employer's Proportionate 
Share of the Net Pension 

Liability (Asset) as a 
Percentage of its Covered-

Employee Payroll

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a Percentage 

of the Total Pension 
Liability

3.2940% 8,453,863               5,667,088          149.17% 73.99%
3.3204% 11,860,921             6,066,150          195.53% 66.18%
3.4255% 14,039,990             6,183,127          227.07% 62.11%
3.5568% 14,879,694             4,542,072          327.60% 63.49%
3.6270% 15,018,184             6,004,446          250.12% 65.60%
3.5039% 14,641,645             6,141,697          238.40% 64.68%
3.5312% 15,266,856             6,360,592          240.02% 64.52%
3.2824% 9,129,868               6,741,824          135.42% 79.14%
3.5244% 14,637,667             7,559,676          193.63% 67.87%

Year Ending June 30,

Employer's Proportion 
of the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset)

Employer's 
Proportionate Share 
of the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset)

Employer's 
Covered 

Employee Payroll

Employer's Proportionate 
Share of the Net Pension 

Liability (Asset) as a 
Percentage of its Covered-

Employee Payroll

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a Percentage 

of the Total Pension 
Liability

1.1694% 7,315,950               3,115,534          234.82% 75.10%
1.0739% 8,413,119               3,140,207          267.92% 70.73%
1.1255% 10,549,125             3,224,985          327.11% 66.04%
1.0824% 9,430,861               3,247,734          290.38% 70.08%
1.1057% 9,347,250               3,286,777          284.39% 71.89%
1.0870% 9,814,357               3,434,923          285.72% 71.01%
1.1121% 10,278,257             2,824,130          363.94% 70.94%
0.9242% 4,926,438               2,948,134          167.10% 84.09%
0.9559% 9,771,486               3,299,196          296.18% 70.80%

*

2015
2016

2017
2018
2019

2017
2018
2019
2020
2021

2023
2022

This schedule is to be built prospectively.  Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the schedule will show information for those years for which data is 
available, beginning with FYE June 30, 2015.

The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous fiscal year end.  

MPERS

2015
2016

2020
2021
2022
2023

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

MERS
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Year Ending June 30,

Employer's Proportion 
of the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset)

Employer's 
Proportionate Share of 

the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset)

Employer's Covered 
Employee Payroll

Employer's Proportionate 
Share of the Net Pension 

Liability (Asset) as a 
Percentage of its Covered-

Employee Payroll

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a 

Percentage of the 
Total Pension 

Liability
0.7515% 3,344,235                     1,709,438                     195.63% 76.02%
0.8044% 4,341,275                     1,875,777                     231.44% 72.45%
0.8332% 5,499,705                     1,871,321                     293.89% 68.16%
0.8019% 4,596,186                     1,740,887                     264.01% 73.55%
0.7318% 4,209,123                     1,705,324                     246.82% 74.76%
0.7041% 4,409,092                     1,851,380                     238.15% 73.96%
0.7439% 5,156,595                     1,901,345                     271.21% 72.61%
0.7598% 2,692,661                     1,910,800                     140.92% 86.78%

0.7427% 5,236,487                     2,143,218                     244.33% 74.68%

Year Ending June 30,

Employer's Proportion 
of the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset)

Employer's 
Proportionate Share of 

the Net Pension 
Liability (Asset)

Employer's Covered 
Employee Payroll

Employer's Proportionate 
Share of the Net Pension 

Liability (Asset) as a 
Percentage of its Covered-

Employee Payroll

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a 

Percentage of the 
Total Pension 

Liability
0.0024% 141,003                        44,812                          314.65% 65.02%
0.0022% 151,878                        45,720                          332.19% 62.70%
0.0024% 187,126                        46,614                          401.44% 57.70%
0.0024% 171,959                        47,516                          361.90% 62.50%
0.0024% 163,746                        48,526                          337.44% 64.30%
0.0024% 172,067                        51,541                          333.84% 62.90%
0.0023% 189,481                        49,504                          382.76% 58.00%
0.0026% 142,608                        50,924                          280.04% 72.80%
0.0025% 185,440                        52,942                          350.27% 63.70%

*

2020

2020

2021

LASERS

2017
2018
2019

2022

2023

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY (cont.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FRS

2022

The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous fiscal year end.  

This schedule is to be built prospectively.  Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the schedule will show information for those years for which data is available, 
beginning with FYE June 30, 2015.

2015
2016

2021

2023
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Year Ending June 30,

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution

Contributions in 
Relation to 

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution
Contribution 

Deficiency(Excess)

Exmployer's 
Covered 

Employee 
Payroll

Contributions 
as % of 
Covered 

Employee 
Payroll

1,119,250     1,119,250          -                            5,667,088        19.75%
1,201,843     1,201,843          -                            6,066,150        19.81%
1,406,663     1,406,663          -                            6,183,127        22.75%
1,593,641     1,593,641          -                            6,473,855        24.62%
1,561,156     1,561,156          -                            6,004,446        26.00%
1,704,321     1,704,321          -                            6,141,697        27.75%
1,876,375     1,876,375          -                            6,360,592        29.50%
1,988,838     1,988,838          -                            6,741,824        29.50%
2,230,104     2,230,104          -                            7,559,676        29.50%

Year Ending June 30,

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution

Contributions in 
Relation to 

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution
Contribution 

Deficiency(Excess)

Exmployer's 
Covered 

Employee 
Payroll

Contributions 
as % of 
Covered 

Employee 
Payroll

981,393        981,393             -                            3,115,534        31.50%
930,067        930,067             -                            3,140,207        29.62%

1,027,768     1,027,768          -                            3,224,985        31.87%
1,000,363     1,000,363          -                            3,247,734        30.80%
1,088,725     1,088,725          -                            3,286,777        33.12%
1,116,350     1,116,350          -                            3,434,923        32.50%

953,144        953,144             -                            2,824,130        33.75%
877,070        877,070             -                            2,948,134        29.75%

1,030,999     1,030,999          -                            3,299,196        31.25%

For reference only:
1 Employer contribution rate multiplied by employer’s covered employee payroll
2 Actual employer contributions remitted to the respective pension funds
3 Employer’s covered employee payroll amount for the fiscal year ended.

MPERS

2017
2018

2023

2021

2015

2019

2022

2016

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA

SCHEDULE OF THE EMPLOYER'S PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

2015

MERS

2023
2022

2020
2021

This schedule is to be build prospectively.  Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the schedule will show information for those years for which data 
is available, beginning with FYE June 30, 2015.
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Year Ending June 30,

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution

Contributions in 
Relation to 

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution
Contribution 

Deficiency(Excess)

Exmployer's 
Covered 

Employee Payroll

Contributions 
as % of 
Covered 

Employee 
Payroll

500,011              500,011            -                             1,709,438           29.25%
510,063              510,063            -                             1,875,777           27.19%
472,509              472,509            -                             1,871,321           25.25%
461,682              461,682            -                             1,740,887           26.52%
451,911              451,911            -                             1,705,324           26.50%
513,758              513,758            -                             1,851,380           27.75%
613,184              613,184            -                             1,901,345           32.25%
642,674              642,674            -                             1,910,800           33.63%
712,620              712,620            -                             2,143,218           33.25%

Year Ending June 30,

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution

Contributions in 
Relation to 

Contractually 
Required 

Contribution
Contribution 

Deficiency(Excess)

Exmployer's 
Covered 

Employee Payroll

Contributions 
as % of 
Covered 

Employee 
Payroll

18,597                18,597              -                             44,812                40.70%
17,419                17,419              -                             45,720                38.10%
17,713                17,713              -                             46,614                40.10%
19,054                19,054              -                             47,516                40.10%
19,459                19,459              -                             48,526                40.10%
20,977                20,977              -                             51,541                40.70%
21,039                21,039              -                             49,504                42.50%
22,184                22,184              -                             50,924                43.56%
23,718                23,718              -                             52,942                44.80%

For reference only:
1 Employer contribution rate multiplied by employer’s covered employee payroll
2 Actual employer contributions remitted to the respective pension funds
3 Employer’s covered employee payroll amount for the fiscal year ended.

LASERS

2023

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

This schedule is to be build prospectively.  Until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the schedule will show information for those years for which data is 
available, beginning with FYE June 30, 2015.

2020
2021
2022

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA

SCHEDULE OF THE EMPLOYER'S PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FRS

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
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West Emergency Officer
Street Ouachita Shelter Witness

Maintenance Senior Center Program Court
Fund Fund Fund Fund

ASSETS

Cash in Bank -$  30,654$         -$  -$  
Accounts Receivable - - - - 
Due From Other Governments - 14,958 - - 
Due From Other Funds - - 6,889             34,616           

TOTAL ASSETS -$              45,612$         6,889$           34,616$         

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable -$  -$  -$  -$  
Due To Other Funds - 45,612 - - 

Total Liabilities - 45,612 - - 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Revenue - CARES Act - - - - 

FUND BALANCES

Restricted - - 6,889             34,616           
Assigned - - - - 
Unassigned - - - - 

Total Fund Balances - - 6,889             34,616           

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES -$  45,612$         6,889$           34,616$         

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2023
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Miscellaneous
Section 8 Projects & Metro LCLE Office of
Housing Grant Capital Grant Motor

Fund Funds Campaign Fund Vehicles

671,928$       -$  -$  -$  -$  
- - - 22,597           - 

12,143           - - - - C
- 13,619 395,188          2,614             - 

O
684,071$       13,619$         395,188$        25,211$         -$  

N

T

-$  -$  -$  22,597$         -$  I
493,556         - - - 50,218           
493,556         - - 22,597           50,218           N

U

- - - - - E

D

190,515         - - 2,614             - 
- 13,619           395,188          - - 
- - - - (50,218)         

190,515         13,619           395,188          2,614             (50,218)         

684,071$       13,619$         395,188$        25,211$         -$  
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Keep
West Monroe Americorps Economic Total

Beautiful Grant Ouachita Development Special Revenue
Grant Program Fund Outreach District Funds

ASSETS

Cash in Bank -$                  -$                  -$                  922,207$       1,624,789$     
Accounts Receivable -                    -                    -                    -                     22,597            
Due From Other Governments -                    58,271           -                    58,768           144,140          
Due From Other Funds -                    4,687             8,349             -                     465,962          

TOTAL ASSETS -$                  62,958$         8,349$           980,975$       2,257,488$     

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable -$                  -$                  -$                  210,840$       233,437          
Due To Other Funds -                    -                    -                    -                     589,386          

Total Liabilities -                    -                    -                    210,840         822,823          

-                    -                    -                    -                     -                      

FUND BALANCES

Restricted -                    62,958           -                    770,135         1,067,727       
Assigned -                    -                    8,349             -                     417,156          
Unassigned -                    -                    -                    -                     (50,218)           

Total Fund Balances -                    62,958           8,349             770,135         1,434,665       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES -$                  62,958$         8,349$           980,975$       2,257,488$     

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2023
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West Emergency Officer
Street Ouachita Shelter Witness Metro LCLE

Maintenance Senior Center Program Court Grant
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund

Revenues
Taxes 281,918$       -$  -$  -$  -$  
Intergovernmental - 492,644 15,321           - 90,385 
Interest - - - - - 
Other - 103,429 - 19,595 - 
     Total Revenues 281,918         596,073         15,321           19,595           90,385           

Expenditures
Public Safety - - - 6,679             90,385           
Public Works 402,345         - - - - 
Health and Welfare - 1,004,382 3,652             - - 
Culture and Recreation - - - - - 
Capital Expenditures &
  Major Repairs - - - - - 
     Total Expenditures 402,345         1,004,382      3,652             6,679             90,385           

Excess (Deficiency) of
Revenues Over Expenditures (120,427)        (408,309)        11,669           12,916           - 

Other Financing Sources 
Operating Transfers - In (Out) 120,427         408,309         - - - 
     Total Other Financing
        Sources 120,427         408,309         - - - 

Net Change in Fund Balance - - 11,669           12,916           - 

Fund Balances - Beginning - - (4,780)            21,700           2,614             

FUND BALANCES - ENDING -$  -$  6,889$           34,616$         2,614$           

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Americorps Office of Section 8
Grant Ouachita Motor Housing
Fund Outreach Vehicles Fund

-$  -$  -$  -$  
213,293         - 53,522 1,938,791           

- - - 1,201 
- 59,518 - 334,263 

213,293         59,518           53,522        2,274,255           

C
- - 85,291        - 
- - - - O
- - - 2,289,007           

155,531         51,169           - - N

- - - - T
155,531         51,169           85,291        2,289,007           

I

57,762           8,349             (31,769)       (14,752)               N

U
- - - - 

E
- - - - 

D
57,762           8,349             (31,769)       (14,752)               

5,196             - (18,449) 205,267              

62,958$         8,349$           (50,218)$     190,515$            
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Misc. Keep Total
Projects West Monroe Economic Nonmajor

Capital and Grant Beautiful Development Special Revenue
Campaign Funds Grant Program District Funds

Taxes -$                     -$                 -$                  1,725,289$         2,007,207$       
Intergovernmental -                       -                   500               -                          2,804,456         
Interest -                       -                   -                    -                          1,201                
Other 188,806           6,000           9,545            -                          721,156            
     Total Revenues 188,806           6,000           10,045          1,725,289           5,534,020         

Public Safety -                       -                   -                    -                          182,355            
Public Works -                       -                   -                    -                          402,345            
Health and Welfare -                       -                   -                    -                          3,297,041         
Culture and Recreation 13,768             4,037           36,586          -                          261,091            
Capital Expenditures &
  Major Repairs -                       -                   -                    1,301,905           1,301,905         
     Total Expenditures 13,768             4,037           36,586          1,301,905           5,444,737         

Revenues Over Expenditures 175,038           1,963           (26,541)         423,384              89,283              

Operating Transfers - In (Out) -                       -                   26,541          (978,011)             (422,734)          
     Total Other Financing
        Sources (Uses) -                       -                   26,541          (978,011)             (422,734)          

175,038           1,963           -                    (554,627)             (333,451)          

220,150           11,656         -                    1,324,762           1,768,116         

395,188$         13,619$       -$                  770,135$            1,434,665$       

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)
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2023 2022

Cash 30,654$         -$                   
Due From Other Governments:

City of Monroe -                     -                     
Department of Transportation 14,958           39,074           

Total Assets 45,612$         39,074$         

Liabilities
Accounts Payable -$               898$              
Due To Other Funds 45,612           38,176           
     Total Liabilities 45,612           39,074           

Fund Balance
Unassigned -                 -                 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 45,612$         39,074$         

June 30,

Assets

Liabilities and Fund Balance

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

WEST OUACHITA SENIOR CENTER
BALANCE SHEETS
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2023 2022
Revenues

Department of Transportation 367,958$       457,553$       
Ouachita Council on Aging
   Senior Center Funds 100,159         74,814           
   Supplemental Senior Center Funds 10,527           10,527           
Louisiana Office of Elderly Affairs -                 -                 
United Way 73,540           79,002           
Transportation Fees 14,000           11,040           
Miscellaneous Revenues (Ceramics, Greenhouse, etc.) 29,889           39,451           
     Total Revenues 596,073         672,387         

Expenditures
Salaries and Related Expenditures 687,541         698,837         
Professional Services 69,289           59,540           
Repairs and Maintenance 20,443           18,262           
Communications 2,886             2,910             
Postage 224                240                
Newsletter -                 -                 
Advertising 890                300                
Travel 6,977             9,828             
Supplies 73,846           68,777           
Utilities 69,094           60,007           
Fuel 51,829           41,620           
Miscellaneous 21,363           18,150           
     Total Expenditures 1,004,382      978,471         

Deficiency of Revenues Over Expenditures (408,309)        (306,084)        

Other Financing Sources
City of West Monroe Support 408,309         306,084         

Net Change in Fund Balance -                 -                 

Fund Balance - Beginning -                 -                 

FUND BALANCE - ENDING -$               -$               

For the Years Ended
June 30,

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

WEST OUACHITA SENIOR CENTER
SCHEDULES OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

 77
100

Item 2)



DRAFT

Total
2003 2011 2015 2018 2022 Nonmajor

Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

ASSETS

Cash in Bank -$                  5,278$          709,437$       284,368$       -$                 999,083$      
Accounts Receivable -                    -                    -                     -                    -                   -                
Due from Other Governments -                    -                    148,413         71,516           108,668        328,597        
Due From Other Funds -                    -                    -                     -                    -                   -                    

TOTAL ASSETS -$                  5,278$          857,850$       355,884$       108,668$      1,327,680$   

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable -$                  -$                  -$                   -$                  -$                 -$                  
Due To Other Funds 24,996          -                    -                     -                    14,649          39,645          

     Total Liabilities 24,996          -                    -                     -                    14,649          39,645          

FUND BALANCES

Assigned -                    5,278            857,850         355,884         94,019          1,313,031     
Unassigned (24,996)         -                    -                     -                    -                   (24,996)         

     Total Fund Balances (24,996)         5,278            857,850         355,884         94,019          1,288,035     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES -$                  5,278$          857,850$       355,884$       108,668$      1,327,680$   

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2023
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Total
2003 2011 2015 2018 2022 Nonmajor

Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

Revenues
Taxes -$                  -$                  1,780,954$   -$                   -$                  1,780,954$      
Rent Income -                    -                    -                    -                     -                    -                       
     Total Revenues -                    -                    1,780,954     -                     -                    1,780,954        

Expenditures
Principal Retirement 24,996          -                    1,145,000     420,000         180,000        1,769,996        
Other Debt Service Costs -                    -                    400               400                800               1,600               
Interest -                    -                    669,156        441,787         703,192        1,814,135        
     Total Expenditures 24,996          -                    1,814,556     862,187         883,992        3,585,731        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures (24,996)         -                    (33,602)         (862,187)        (883,992)       (1,804,777)       

Other Financing Sources
Operating Transfers - In -                    -                    -                    858,191         978,011        1,836,202        
Operating Transfers - Out -                    -                    -                    -                     -                    -                       

-                    -                    -                    858,191         978,011        1,836,202        

Net Change in Fund Balance (24,996)         -                    (33,602)         (3,996)            94,019          31,425             

Fund Balance - Beginning -                    5,278            891,452        359,880         -                    1,256,610        

FUND BALANCE - ENDING (24,996)$       5,278$          857,850$      355,884$       94,019$        1,288,035$      

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

79
102

Item 2)



DRAFT

Total
2018 Debt 2011 Debt 2015 Debt Nonmajor

Capital Capital Capital CDBG- Capital Project
Fund Fund Fund Project III Funds

ASSETS

Cash in Bank -$               8$               5$               292,080$     292,093$       
Due From Other Governments -                 -                  -                  -                   -                    
Due From Other Funds -                 -                  -                  -                   -                    

TOTAL ASSETS -$               8$               5$               292,080$     292,093$       

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable -$               -$                -$                -$                 -$                  
Due To Other Funds -                 -                  -                  30,000         30,000           

Total Liabilitites -                 -                  -                  30,000         30,000           

Restricted -                 8                 5                 262,080       262,093         
Unassigned -                 -                  -                  -                   -                    

Total Fund Balances -                 8                 5                 262,080       262,093         

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) -$               8$               5$               292,080$     292,093$       

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2023
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Total
2018 Debt 2011 Debt 2015 Debt Nonmajor

Capital Capital Capital CDBG- Capital Project
Fund Fund Fund Project III Funds

Revenues
Intergovernmental -$                -$               -$                  200,689$     200,689$       
Other Income -                  -                 -                    155              155                
     Total Revenues -                  -                 -                    200,844       200,844         

Expenditures
Capital Projects -                  -                 -                    -                   -                    

Excess (Deficiency) of
Revenues Over Expenditures -                  -                 -                    200,844       200,844         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating Transfers - In -                  -                 -                    -                   -                    
Operating Transfers - Out -                  -                 -                    -                   -                    
     Total Other Financing Sources
       (Uses) -                  -                 -                    -                   -                    

Net Change in Fund Balance -                  -                 -                    200,844       200,844         

Fund Balances - Beginning -                  8                 5                   61,236         61,249           

FUND BALANCES - ENDING -$                8$               5$                 262,080$     262,093$       

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
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Assessed Valuation 174,205,337$    

Tax Rate Per Thousand Dollars (Mills) 8.53                   

Gross Tax Levy 1,485,977$        

Tax Collected
2022 Assessments 1,453,937$        

2022 Tax
Rate Mills

Allocation of Tax Collected

General Fund 6.90 1,172,019$        
Street Maintenance 1.63 281,918             

     Total 8.53 1,453,937$        

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
ALL FUNDS

SCHEDULE OF ASSESSED VALUATION AND AD VALOREM
PROPERTY TAX LEVY FOR 2022
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Events Concession Catering Total
Revenues 1,616$           10,222$         197,874$       209,712$       

Cost of Operations
Operating Expenditures - - 63,862           63,862           
Personnel - - 140,631         140,631         
     Total - - 204,493         204,493         

Gross Profit 1,616$           10,222$         (6,619)$          5,219             

Administrative Expenditures
Director's Salary - 
Operations Salaries 150,186         
Employee Benefits 70,196           
Vehicle Maintenance 4,205             
Materials, Repairs & Supplies 22 
Operating Supplies 13,860           
Travel, Car & Meetings 3,380             
Cell Phones and Pagers - 
Fuel 1,271             
Miscellanous 492 
Office Supplies 245 
Utilities 33,965           
     Total Administrative
         Expenditures 277,822         

Deficiency of Revenues Over
Expenditures (272,603)$      

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - CONVENTION CENTER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Variance -
Favorable

Budget (Unfavorable)
194,900         14,812           

63,968           106                
141,727         1,096             
205,695         1,202             

(10,795)$        16,014$         

-                 -                 
149,908         (278)               
72,140           1,944             
5,200             995                

-                 (22)                 
14,000           140                
3,380             -                 

-                 -                 
1,650             379                

835                343                
300                55                  

36,750           2,785             

284,163         6,341             

(294,958)$      22,355$         

 83
108

Item 2)



DRAFT

Equine Stall Rentals &
Events Concession Shavings Total

Revenues 471,763$       148,613$       404,114$       1,024,490$    

Cost of Operations
Operating Expenditures 194,447         61,254           166,563         422,264         
Personnel 252,764         79,625           216,518         548,907         
     Total 447,211         140,879         383,081         971,171         

Gross Profit 24,552$         7,734$           21,033$         53,319           

Administrative Expenditures
Director's Salary - 
Operations Salaries 50,690           
Employee Benefits 27,807           
Vehicle Maintenance 21,648           
Materials, Repairs & Supplies 6,361             
Fuel 7,967             
Office 818 
Cell Phones and Pagers - 
Other Miscellaneous Purchases 9,467             
Operating Supplies 28,060           
Utilities 450,360         
     Total Administrative
         Expenditures 603,178         

Deficiency of Revenues Over
Expenditures (549,859)$      

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - IKE HAMILTON EXPO CENTER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Variance -
Favorable

Budget (Unfavorable)
988,825         35,665           

429,400         7,136             
534,614         (14,293)          
964,014         (7,157)            

24,811$         28,508$         

-                 -                 
55,850           5,160             
29,354           1,547             
27,152           5,504             

-                 (6,361)            
9,800             1,833             

780                (38)                 
-                 -                 

1,850             (7,617)            
28,000           (60)                 

433,105         (17,255)          

585,891         (17,287)          

(561,080)$      11,221$         
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James Brian 12,000$                 
Trevor Land 12,000                   
Morgan Buxton 12,000                   
Thom Hamilton 12,000                   
Ben Westerburg 12,000                   

60,000$                 

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
SCHEDULE OF COMPENSATION PAID TO COUNCIL MEMBERS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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REPORTS REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
AND UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of  
 West Monroe, Louisiana  
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana (the City) as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated 
December 8, 2023.   
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of 
 West Monroe, Louisiana 
Page 2 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not 
an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed one instance of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards and which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs as item 2023-001.  
 
City of West Monroe, Louisiana’s Response to Findings 
 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the City’s 
response to the finding identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs. The City’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the financial statements, and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
West Monroe, Louisiana 
December 8, 2023 

 
 
 

114

Item 2)



DRAFT

 88 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM 

AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY  
THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

 
Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of 
 West Monroe, Louisiana 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited the City of West Monroe, Louisiana’s (the City) compliance with the types of compliance 
identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect 
on each of the City’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023.  The City’s major federal 
programs are identified in the Summary of Auditors’ Results section of the accompanying Schedule of 
Findings and Questioned Costs.   
 
In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 
30, 2023. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Our responsibilities under those standards and the 
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
sections of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above.  
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the City’s 
federal programs. 
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Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of 
 West Monroe, Louisiana 
Page 2 
 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the City’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or 
in the aggregate, it would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance 
about the City’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test 
basis, evidence regarding the City’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of the City’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal 
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal 
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of 
 West Monroe, Louisiana 
Page 3 
 
Our consideration of the internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined 
above.   However,  material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may 
exist that were not identified.. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  
 
 
 
West Monroe, Louisiana 
December 8, 2023 
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CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
 

SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS 
 

1. The auditors’ report expresses an unmodified opinion on the basic government financial 
statements of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana. 

 
2. One significant deficiency was disclosed during the audit of the financial statements as reported 

in the Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance and on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting Based on an Audit Of Financial Statements Performed In Accordance With 
Government Auditing Standards and the Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each 
Major Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance.   

 
3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of the City of West Monroe, 

Louisiana, which would be required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards, were disclosed during the audit. 
 

4. No significant deficiencies were disclosed during the audit of the major federal award programs in 
the Report On Compliance With Requirements That Could Have A Direct and Material Effect on 
Each Major Program And On Internal Control Over Compliance In Accordance With Title 2 U. S. 
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Uniform Guidelines Requirements for Federal Awards. 

 
5. The auditors’ report on compliance for the major federal award programs for the City of West 

Monroe, Louisiana expresses an unmodified opinion on all major federal programs. 
 

6. There were no audit findings relative to the major federal award programs for the City of West 
Monroe, Louisiana. 

 
7. The program tested as major programs included the Department of the Treasury COVID-19 

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, AL No. 21.027.  
 

 
8. The threshold for distinguishing between Types A and B programs was $750,000. 

 
 

9. The City of West Monroe, Louisiana does qualify to be a low-risk auditee. 
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CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 (continued) 
 
 
 

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS – MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 
Section III – Findings or questioned costs for Federal awards, including those specified by              
Uniform Guidance: 
 
 No findings were noted. 

 
FINDINGS – FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 
 
2023-001 Theft of Assets 
 

Condition: 
During January of 2023, it was discovered that a vendor disbursement check in 
the amount of $49,571.56 for the purchase of equipment was intercepted after 
being mailed and altered by a person affiliated with neither the vendor nor the 
City.  The vendor inquired about payment after approximately a month and a 
half, and, upon review of the City’s bank statement, it was realized that the check 
had already cleared the bank.  Further investigation by the City’s police 
department and federal law enforcement determined what occurred.  The City 
received full reimbursement in July of 2023 from the bank that cashed the 
fraudulent check. 
 
Management of the City also notified the Louisiana Legislative Auditor as well 
as the District Attorney. 

 
  Criteria: 

The Louisiana Legislative Auditor requires the reporting of any instance of fraud 
or misappropriation that exceeds $1,000. 

 
Cause: 

An unintended recipient was able to obtain one of the City’s checks that was 
written to a vendor, copy and alter the check, and cash it with their name in place 
of the vendor.   

 
Effect: 

The City could have lost public funds in the amount of $49,571.56.  
 
Recommendation: 

Inquire of bank officials if there are additional security measures that can be 
implemented to safeguard checks once they have been disbursed. 

 
Management’s Response: 

The City has implemented a new pay confirmation process with the bank to try 
and mitigate the risk of this occurring in the future. 
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Federal Grants/Pass Through Grantor/Program Title
AL 

Number
Agency or Pass 

Through Number Expenditures

Department of Housing & Urban Development
  Housing Voucher Cluster:
    Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers 14.871 LA 186 2,287,724$     
       Total Housing Voucher Cluster 2,287,724       

Department of Justice
    Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607 9,456              

    Public Safety Partnership & Community Policing Grants 16.710 2020UMWX0372 2,691              

    Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 2019-DJ-01-6173 90,385            

Department of Transportation & Development
  Through Louisiana Department of Transportation and Development
     Highway Planning & Construction 20.205
        1. Natchitoches St Rehab: Trenton - N 7th 20.205 H.013400 450,466          
        2. Otis Street Rehabilitation 20.205 H.013518 699,112          

1,149,578       
     FHWA Recreational Trails Program 20.219
        1. Riverbend Elementary Sidewalks 20.219 H.007532/H.007532.6 29,887            

     Formula Grants for Rural Areas (5311) 20.509 367,958          

  Through Louisiana Highway Safety Commission
    Highway Safety Cluster:
     State and Community Highway Safety 20.600 128,030          
       Total Highway Safety Cluster 128,030          

Executive Office of the President
    Delta Regional Authority 90.200
       1. Highland Park Improvements, Phase 1 90.200 LA-54267 413,004          
       2. Cypress/Slack Sanitary Sewer Improvements 90.200 LA-54509 228,636          

641,640          
Department of Commerce
     Economic Development Cluster:
       Economic Adjustment Assistance 11.307
        1. Downing Pines Industrial Park Drainage Improvements 11.307 08-79-05168 458,043          
          Total Economic Development Cluster 458,043          

Corporation for National and Community Service
  Through Volunteer Louisiana Commission in the Office of the Lieutenant Governor
    AmeriCorps State and National 94.006 15AFHLA0010004 155,031          

Department of Homeland Security
    Emergency Food and Shelter National Board Program 97.024 3,651              

    Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 97.039 231,925          

(continued)

CITY OF WEST MONROE LOUISIANA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Federal Grants/Pass Through Grantor/Program Title
AL 

Number
Agency or Pass 

Through Number Expenditures

Department of the Treasury
    COVID-19 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 2,262,934       

  Through the Ouachita Parish Police Jury
    COVID-19 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 638,220          

2,901,154       *

Total Federal Expenditures 8,457,153$     

* Indicated Major Federal Program

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF WEST MONROE LOUISIANA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
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CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES 

OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 
 
 

1. General  
 

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all federal award programs 
of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana.  The City of West Monroe, Louisiana reporting entity is 
defined in Note 1 to the City’s financial statements.  All federal award programs received directly 
from federal agencies, as well as federal awards passed through other government agencies, are 
included on the schedule. 

 
2. Basis of Accounting 
 

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented using the accrual basis of accounting, 
which is described in Note 1 to the City’s financial statements.  The information in this schedule is 
presented in accordance with the requirements of the Uniform Guidance.  Therefore, some amounts 
presented in this schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the 
basic financial statements. 
 

3. Federal Indirect Cost Rate 
 
The City of West Monroe, Louisiana did not elect to use the 10% de minimis federal indirect cost rate 
for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
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CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 
 
 

Section I- Internal Control and Compliance Material to the Financial Statements – N/A 
 
Section II- Internal Control and Compliance Material to Federal Awards  

 
2022-001   Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers - Compliance          First reported in 2021   not 
comply with requirements for Cash Management        3 - Material Weakness in  
Federal Program 

14.871 Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers 
 

Criteria or Specific Requirement 
Compliance with Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Requirements on the Utility Allowance 
Schedule 
If the cost of utilities is not included in the rent to the owner, HUD requirement 24 CFR section 982.517 
requires the City to use a schedule of utility allowances to determine the amount an assisted family needs 
to receive to cover the cost of utilities.  This utility allowance schedule is developed based on utility 
consumption and rate data for various unit sizes, structure types, and fuel types.  The City is required to 
review its utility allowance schedules annually and to adjust them if there has been an increase of more 
than 10% from the current schedule. 

 
Condition Found 
We inquired of management and noted the utility allowance schedules had not been reviewed in the 2020-
21 fiscal year.   
 
Recommendations to Prevent Future Occurrences 
The City should take steps to make sure there are employees to help review the utility allowance 
schedule.  Another option would be to use an outside company to review the utility allowance schedule. 
 
Current Status 
This finding has been cleared.   
 
2022-002   Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers – Internal Control over Compliance           
First reported in 2021   not comply with requirements for Cash Management        3 - Material 
Weakness in  
Federal Program 

14.871 Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers 
 

Criteria or Specific Requirement 
Compliance with Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Requirements on the Utility Allowance 
Schedule 
If the cost of utilities is not included in the rent to the owner, HUD requirement 24 CFR section 982.517 
requires the City to use a schedule of utility allowances to determine the amount an assisted family needs 
to receive to cover the cost of utilities.  This utility allowance schedule is developed based on utility 
consumption and rate data for various unit sizes, structure types, and fuel types.  The City is required to 
review its utility allowance schedules annually and to adjust them if there has been an increase of more 
than 10% from the current schedule. 
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CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 (continued) 
 
 
Condition Found 
We inquired of management and noted the internal controls of the City did not operate properly and did 
not allow the City to update the utility allowance for the Section 8 program. 

 
Recommendations to Prevent Future Occurrences 
The City should improve its internal controls to make sure there are employees to help review the utility 
allowance schedule.  Another option would be to use an outside company to review the utility allowance 
schedule. 
 
Current Status 
This finding has been cleared.  
 
2022-003   Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers – Compliance           First reported in 2022   
not comply with requirements for Cash Management        3 - Material Weakness in  
Federal Program 

14.871 Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers 
 

Criteria or Specific Requirement 
Compliance with Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Requirements on Depository Agreements 
HUD Requirement 24 CFR section 982.156 requires the City to enter into depository agreements with 
their financial institutions in a form required by HUD.  The agreement serves as a safeguard for federal 
funds and provides third party rights to HUD. 
 
Condition Found 
We noted that the City did not have a depository agreement with its current financial institution that it 
uses for the Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher program. 
 
Recommendations to Prevent Future Occurrences 
The City should work with their current financial institution to complete a depository agreement to have 
on file. 
 
Current Status 
This finding has been cleared.  
 
 
Section III- Management Letter 
 
 No management letter was issued. 
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Agency Head
Mayor Staci Albritton Mitchell

Salary 98,500$            

Benefits
Pension - Municipal 29,058         
Medical Insurance 1,429           
Life and Disability Insurance 484              
Gym Membership 240              
Car Allowance 10,800         

Total Benefits 42,011              

Total 140,511$          

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
SCHEDULE OF COMPENSATION,  BENEFITS

JUNE 30, 2023
AND OTHER PAYMENTS TO AGENCY HEAD
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First Six Second Six
Month Period Month Period

Ended Ended
Cash Basis Presentation 12/31/2022 6/30/2023

Beginning Balance of Amounts Collected (i.e. cash on hand) -$              -$              

Add: Collections
Bond Fees 2,260             2,842             
Criminal Court Costs/Fees 130,298         120,347         
Criminal Fines - Other 122,328         125,838         

Subtotal Collections 254,886         249,027         

Less: Disbursements to Governments & Nonprofits
West Monroe City Marshal Criminal Court Costs/Fees 20,058           17,444           
West Monroe City Court Criminal Court Costs/Fees 580 320 
Fourth Judicial District Public Defender Board Criminal Court Costs/Fees 32,650           30,552           
North Louisiana Criminalistic Lab Criminal Court Costs/Fees 33,434           33,270           
Drug Crime Lab Education Fund Criminal Court Costs/Fees 1,750             1,876             
Crime Victim Fund Criminal Court Costs/Fees 1,930             1,785             
Louisiana Commission on Law Enforcement Criminal Court Costs/Fees 1,226             1,329             
Public Safety Training Fund Criminal Court Costs/Fees 1,725             1,375             
Trial Court Case Management Fund Criminal Court Costs/Fees 1,877             2,037             
Injury Trust Fund Criminal Court Costs/Fees 1,027             1,080             
Crime Stoppers Criminal Court Costs/Fees 1,252             1,358             
Louisiana Supreme Court Criminal Court Costs/Fees 312 337 

Less: Amounts Retained by Collecting Agency
Bond Fees 2,260             2,842             
Criminal Court Costs/Fees 14,351           14,479           
Criminal Fines - Other 140,454         138,943         

Subtotal Disbursements/Retainage 254,886         249,027         

Total: Ending Balance of Amounts Collected 
but not Disbursed/Retained (i.e. cash on hand) -$              -$              

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA
Justice System Funding Schedule - Collecting/Disbursing Entity
As Required by Act 87 of the 2020 Regular Legislative Session

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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CAMERON, HINES & COMPANY, (A Professional Accounting Corporation)         West Monroe, Louisiana 
Certified Public Accountants 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA 
 
 

Independent Accountants’ Report on 
Applying Agreed-Upon Procedures 

 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT 
ON APPLYING AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 

 

To the Honorable Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana (the City) 
      and the Louisiana Legislative Auditor: 
 
 
We have performed the procedures enumerated below on the control and compliance (C/C) areas identified 
in the Louisiana Legislative Auditor’s (LLA’s) Statewide Agreed-Upon Procedures (SAUPs) for the fiscal 
period July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023.  The City’s management is responsible for those C/C areas 
identified in the SAUPs. 
 
The City has agreed to and acknowledged that the procedures performed are appropriate to meet the 
intended purpose of the engagement, which is to perform specified procedures on the C/C areas identified 
in LLA’s SAUPs for the fiscal period July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023.  Additionally, LLA has agreed 
to and acknowledged that the procedures performed are appropriate for its purposes.  This report may not 
be suitable for any other purpose.  The procedures performed may not address all the items of interest to a 
user of this report and may not meet the needs of all users of this report and, as such, users are responsible 
for determining whether the procedures performed are appropriate for their purposes.   
 
The procedures and associated findings are as follows: 
 

1) Written Policies and Procedures 
 
A. Obtain and inspect the entity’s written policies and procedures and observe whether they address 

each of the following categories and subcategories if applicable to public funds and the entity’s 
operations:1 

i. Budgeting, including preparing, adopting, monitoring, and amending the budget. 

ii. Purchasing, including (1) how purchases are initiated, (2) how vendors are added to the 
vendor list, (3) the preparation and approval process of purchase requisitions and purchase 
orders, (4) controls to ensure compliance with the Public Bid Law, and (5) documentation 
required to be maintained for all bids and price quotes.  

iii. Disbursements, including processing, reviewing, and approving. 

iv. Receipts/Collections, including receiving, recording, and preparing deposits.  Also, 
policies and procedures should include management’s actions to determine the 
completeness of all collections for each type of revenue or agency fund additions (e.g., 

 
1 For governmental organizations, the practitioner may eliminate those categories and subcategories not applicable to the 
organization’s operations.  For quasi-public organizations, including nonprofits, the practitioner may eliminate those categories 
and subcategories not applicable to public funds administered by the quasi-public. 
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periodic confirmation with outside parties, reconciliation to utility billing after cutoff 
procedures, reconciliation of traffic ticket number sequences, agency fund forfeiture 
monies confirmation). 

v. Payroll/Personnel, including (1) payroll processing, (2) reviewing and approving time and 
attendance records, including leave and overtime worked, and (3) approval process for 
employee rates of pay or approval and maintenance of pay rate schedules. 

vi. Contracting, including (1) types of services requiring written contracts, (2) standard terms 
and conditions, (3) legal review, (4) approval process, and (5) monitoring process. 

vii. Travel and Expense Reimbursement, including (1) allowable expenses, (2) dollar 
thresholds by category of expense, (3) documentation requirements, and (4) required 
approvers. 

viii. Credit Cards (and debit cards, fuel cards, purchase cards, if applicable), including (1) 
how cards are to be controlled, (2) allowable business uses, (3) documentation 
requirements, (4) required approvers of statements, and (5) monitoring card usage (e.g., 
determining the reasonableness of fuel card purchases). 

ix. Ethics2, including (1) the prohibitions as defined in Louisiana Revised Statute (R.S.) 
42:1111-1121, (2) actions to be taken if an ethics violation takes place, (3) system to 
monitor possible ethics violations, and (4) a requirement that documentation is maintained 
to demonstrate that all employees and officials were notified of any changes to the entity’s 
ethics policy. 

x. Debt Service, including (1) debt issuance approval, (2) continuing disclosure/EMMA 
reporting requirements, (3) debt reserve requirements, and (4) debt service requirements. 

xi. Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity, including (1) 
identification of critical data and frequency of data backups, (2) storage of backups in a 
separate physical location isolated from the network, (3) periodic testing/verification that 
backups can be restored, (4) use of antivirus software on all systems, (5) timely application 
of all available system and software patches/updates, and (6) identification of personnel, 
processes, and tools needed to recover operations after a critical event. 

xii. Prevention of Sexual Harassment, including R.S. 42:342-344 requirements for (1) agency 
responsibilities and prohibitions, (2) annual employee training, and (3) annual reporting. 

 

Findings: Eight exceptions noted where the required topics were not addressed in the City’s policies and 
procedures. 

 
2) Board or Finance Committee3 
 
A. Obtain and inspect the board/finance committee minutes for the fiscal period, as well as the board’s 

enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, or equivalent document in effect during the fiscal period, and 

 
2 The Louisiana Code of Governmental Ethics (Ethics Code) is generally not applicable to nonprofit entities but may be 
applicable in certain situations, such as councils on aging.  If the Ethics Code is applicable to a nonprofit, the nonprofit should 
have written policies and procedures relating to ethics. 
3 These procedures are not applicable to entities managed by a single elected official, such as a sheriff or assessor. 

129

Item 2)



DRAFT

 
 

3 
 

i. Observe that the board/finance committee met with a quorum at least monthly, or on a 
frequency in accordance with the board’s enabling legislation, charter, bylaws, or other 
equivalent document. 

ii. For those entities reporting on the governmental accounting model, observe whether the 
minutes referenced or included monthly budget-to-actual comparisons on the general fund, 
quarterly budget-to-actual, at a minimum, on proprietary funds4, and semi-annual budget- 
to-actual, at a minimum, on all special revenue funds. Alternatively, for those entities 
reporting on the not-for-profit accounting model, observe that the minutes referenced or 
included financial activity relating to public funds5 if those public funds comprised more 
than 10% of the entity’s collections during the fiscal period. 

iii. For governmental entities, obtain the prior year audit report and observe the unassigned 
fund balance in the general fund.  If the general fund had a negative ending unassigned 
fund balance in the prior year audit report, observe that the minutes for at least one meeting 
during the fiscal period referenced or included a formal plan to eliminate the negative 
unassigned fund balance in the general fund. 

iv. Observe whether the board/finance committee received written updates of the progress of 
resolving audit finding(s), according to management’s corrective action plan at each 
meeting until the findings are considered fully resolved.6 

 

Findings: No exceptions noted. 

 
3) Bank Reconciliations 
 
A. Obtain a listing of entity bank accounts for the fiscal period from management and management’s 

representation that the listing is complete.  Ask management to identify the entity’s main operating 
account.  Select the entity’s main operating account and randomly select 4 additional accounts7 (or 
all accounts if less than 5).  Randomly select one month from the fiscal period, obtain and inspect 
the corresponding bank statement and reconciliation for each selected account, and observe that: 

i. Bank reconciliations include evidence that they were prepared within 2 months of the 
related statement closing date (e.g., initialed and dated or electronically logged); 

ii. Bank reconciliations include written evidence that a member of management or a board 
member who does not handle cash, post ledgers, or issue checks has reviewed each bank 
reconciliation (e.g., initialed and dated, electronically logged); and 

iii. Management has documentation reflecting it has researched reconciling items that have 
been outstanding for more than 12 months from the statement closing date, if applicable. 

 

 
4Proprietary fund types are defined under GASB standards and include enterprise and internal service funds.  The related 
procedure addresses these funds as a way to verify that boards are provided with financial information necessary to make 
informed decisions about entity operations, including proprietary operations that are not required to be budgeted under the Local 
Government Budget Act. 
5 R.S. 24:513 (A)(1)(b)(iv) defines public funds. 
6 No exception is necessary if management’s opinion is that the cost of taking corrective action for findings related to improper 
segregation of duties or inadequate design of controls over the preparation of the financial statements being audited exceeds the 
benefits of correcting those findings.   
7 Accounts selected may exclude savings and investment accounts that are not part of the entity’s daily business operations. 
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Findings: Three exceptions noted where the reconciliation was not reviewed by a member of management 
or board member who did not handle cash, post ledgers, or issue checks.  Three exceptions noted where 
management did not have documentation reflecting it had researched reconciling items that had been 
outstanding for more than twelve months from the closing date. 

 
4) Collections (excluding electronic funds transfers)8 
 
A. Obtain a listing of deposit sites9 for the fiscal period where deposits for cash/checks/money orders 

(cash) are prepared and management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select 
5 deposit sites (or all deposit sites if less than 5).   

B. For each deposit site selected, obtain a listing of collection locations10 and management’s 
representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select one collection location for each deposit 
site (e.g., 5 collection locations for 5 deposit sites), obtain and inspect written policies and 
procedures relating to employee job duties (if there are no written policies or procedures, then 
inquire of employees about their job duties) at each collection location, and observe that job duties 
are properly segregated at each collection location such that 

i. Employees responsible for cash collections do not share cash drawers/registers; 

ii. Each employee responsible for collecting cash is not also responsible for preparing/making 
bank deposits, unless another employee/official is responsible for reconciling collection 
documentation (e.g., pre-numbered receipts) to the deposit; 

iii. Each employee responsible for collecting cash is not also responsible for posting collection 
entries to the general ledger or subsidiary ledgers, unless another employee/official is 
responsible for reconciling ledger postings to each other and to the deposit; and 

iv. The employee(s) responsible for reconciling cash collections to the general ledger and/or 
subsidiary ledgers, by revenue source and/or agency fund additions, is (are) not also 
responsible for collecting cash, unless another employee/official verifies the reconciliation. 

C. Obtain from management a copy of the bond or insurance policy for theft covering all employees 
who have access to cash. Observe that the bond or insurance policy for theft was in force during 
the fiscal period. 

D. Randomly select two deposit dates for each of the 5 bank accounts selected for Bank 
Reconciliations procedure #3A (select the next deposit date chronologically if no deposits were 
made on the dates randomly selected and randomly select a deposit if multiple deposits are made 
on the same day).  Alternatively, the practitioner may use a source document other than bank 
statements when selecting the deposit dates for testing, such as a cash collection log, daily revenue 
report, receipt book, etc.  Obtain supporting documentation for each of the 10 deposits and: 

i. Observe that receipts are sequentially pre-numbered.11 

 
8 The Collections category is not required to be performed if the entity has a third-party contractor performing all collection 
functions (e.g., receiving collections, preparing deposits, and making deposits). 
9 A deposit site is a physical location where a deposit is prepared and reconciled. 
10 A collection location is a physical location where cash is collected.  An entity may have one or more collection locations 
whose collections are brought to a deposit site for deposit. For example, in a school district a collection location may be a 
classroom and a deposit site may be the school office. For school boards only, the practitioner should consider the deposit site 
and collection location to be the same if there is a central person (secretary or bookkeeper) through which collections are 
deposited. 
11 The practitioner is not required to test for completeness of revenues relative to classroom collections by teachers. 
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ii. Trace sequentially pre-numbered receipts, system reports, and other related collection 
documentation to the deposit slip. 

iii. Trace the deposit slip total to the actual deposit per the bank statement. 

iv. Observe that the deposit was made within one business day of receipt12 at the collection 
location (within one week if the depository is more than 10 miles from the collection 
location or the deposit is less than $100 and the cash is stored securely in a locked safe or 
drawer).  

v. Trace the actual deposit per the bank statement to the general ledger. 

 

Findings: One exception noted where the deposit was not made within one business day or receipt. 

 
5) Non-Payroll Disbursements (excluding card purchases, travel reimbursements, and petty cash 

purchases) 
 
A. Obtain a listing of locations that process payments for the fiscal period and management’s 

representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select 5 locations (or all locations if less than 
5). 

B. For each location selected under procedure #5A above, obtain a listing of those employees involved 
with non-payroll purchasing and payment functions.  Obtain written policies and procedures 
relating to employee job duties (if the agency has no written policies and procedures, then inquire 
of employees about their job duties), and observe that job duties are properly segregated such that 

i. At least two employees are involved in initiating a purchase request, approving a purchase, 
and placing an order or making the purchase; 

ii. At least two employees are involved in processing and approving payments to vendors; 

iii. The employee responsible for processing payments is prohibited from adding/modifying 
vendor files, unless another employee is responsible for periodically reviewing changes to 
vendor files; 

iv. Either the employee/official responsible for signing checks mails the payment or gives the 
signed checks to an employee to mail who is not responsible for processing payments; and 

v. Only employees/officials authorized to sign checks approve the electronic disbursement 
(release) of funds, whether through automated clearinghouse (ACH), electronic funds 
transfer (EFT), wire transfer, or some other electronic means. 

[Note: Findings related to controls that constrain the legal authority of certain public officials (e.g., 
mayor of a Lawrason Act municipality) should not be reported.] 

C. For each location selected under procedure #5A above, obtain the entity’s non-payroll disbursement 
transaction population (excluding cards and travel reimbursements) and obtain management’s 
representation that the population is complete.  Randomly select 5 disbursements for each location, 
obtain supporting documentation for each transaction, and 

 
12 As required by Louisiana Revised Statute 39:1212. 
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i. Observe whether the disbursement, whether by paper or electronic means, matched the 
related original itemized invoice and supporting documentation indicates that deliverables 
included on the invoice were received by the entity, and 

ii. Observe whether the disbursement documentation included evidence (e.g., initial/date, 
electronic logging) of segregation of duties tested under procedure #5B above, as 
applicable. 

 
D. Using the entity’s main operating account and the month selected in Bank Reconciliations 

procedure #3A, randomly select 5 non-payroll-related electronic disbursements (or all electronic 
disbursements if less than 5) and observe that each electronic disbursement was (a) approved by 
only those persons authorized to disburse funds (e.g., sign checks) per the entity’s policy, and (b) 
approved by the required number of authorized signers per the entity’s policy. Note: If no electronic 
payments were made from the main operating account during the month selected the practitioner 
should select an alternative month and/or account for testing that does include electronic 
disbursements.  

 

Findings: No exceptions noted. 

 
6) Credit Cards/Debit Cards/Fuel Cards/Purchase Cards (Cards) 
 
A. Obtain from management a listing of all active credit cards, bank debit cards, fuel cards, and 

purchase cards (cards) for the fiscal period, including the card numbers and the names of the 
persons who maintained possession of the cards13.  Obtain management’s representation that the 
listing is complete. 

B. Using the listing prepared by management, randomly select 5 cards (or all cards if less than 5) that 
were used during the fiscal period.  Randomly select one monthly statement or combined statement 
for each card (for a debit card, randomly select one monthly bank statement). Obtain supporting 
documentation, and 

i. Observe whether there is evidence that the monthly statement or combined statement and 
supporting documentation (e.g., original receipts for credit/debit card purchases, exception 
reports for excessive fuel card usage) were reviewed and approved, in writing (or 
electronically approved) by someone other than the authorized card holder (those instances 
requiring such approval that may constrain the legal authority of certain public officials, 
such as the mayor of a Lawrason Act municipality, should not be reported); and 

ii. Observe that finance charges and late fees were not assessed on the selected statements. 
 

C. Using the monthly statements or combined statements selected under procedure #7B above, 
excluding fuel cards, randomly select 10 transactions (or all transactions if less than 10) from each 
statement, and obtain supporting documentation for the transactions (e.g., each card should have 
10 transactions subject to inspection)14.  For each transaction, observe that it is supported by (1) an 
original itemized receipt that identifies precisely what was purchased, (2) written documentation 
of the business/public purpose, and (3) documentation of the individuals participating in meals (for 

 
13 Including cards used by school staff for either school operations or student activity fund operations. 
14 For example, if 3 of the 5 cards selected were fuel cards, transactions would only be selected for each of the 2 credit cards.  
Conceivably, if all 5 cards randomly selected under procedure #7B were fuel cards, procedure #7C would not be applicable. 
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meal charges only).  For missing receipts, the practitioner should describe the nature of the 
transaction and observe whether management had a compensating control to address missing 
receipts, such as a “missing receipt statement” that is subject to increased scrutiny. 

 

Findings: Two exceptions noted where the transaction was not supported by an original itemized receipt 
identifying what was purchased. 

 

7) Travel and Travel-Related Expense Reimbursements15 (excluding card transactions) 
 

A. Obtain from management a listing of all travel and travel-related expense reimbursements during 
the fiscal period and management’s representation that the listing or general ledger is complete.  
Randomly select 5 reimbursements and obtain the related expense reimbursement forms/prepaid 
expense documentation of each selected reimbursement, as well as the supporting documentation.  
For each of the 5 reimbursements selected 

 
i. If reimbursed using a per diem, observe that the approved reimbursement rate is no more 

than those rates established either by the State of Louisiana or the U.S. General Services 
Administration (www.gsa.gov); 

ii. If reimbursed using actual costs, observe that the reimbursement is supported by an original 
itemized receipt that identifies precisely what was purchased; 

iii. Observe that each reimbursement is supported by documentation of the business/public 
purpose (for meal charges, observe that the documentation includes the names of those 
individuals participating) and other documentation required by Written Policies and 
Procedures procedure #1A(vii); and 

iv. Observe that each reimbursement was reviewed and approved, in writing, by someone other 
than the person receiving reimbursement. 

 
Findings: No exceptions noted. 

 
8) Contracts 
 
A. Obtain from management a listing of all agreements/contracts for professional services, materials 

and supplies, leases, and construction activities that were initiated or renewed during the fiscal 
period.  Alternatively, the practitioner may use an equivalent selection source, such as an active 
vendor list.  Obtain management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select 5 
contracts (or all contracts if less than 5) from the listing, excluding the practitioner’s contract, and 

i. Observe whether the contract was bid in accordance with the Louisiana Public Bid Law16 
(e.g., solicited quotes or bids, advertised), if required by law; 

ii. Observe whether the contract was approved by the governing body/board, if required by 
policy or law (e.g., Lawrason Act, Home Rule Charter); 

 
15 Non-travel reimbursements are not required to be inspected under this category. 
16 If the entity has adopted the state Procurement Code, replace “Louisiana Public Bid Law” with “Louisiana Procurement Code.” 
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iii. If the contract was amended (e.g., change order), observe that the original contract terms 
provided for such an amendment and that amendments were made in compliance with the 
contract terms (e.g., if approval is required for any amendment, the documented approval); 
and 

iv. Randomly select one payment from the fiscal period for each of the 5 contracts, obtain the 
supporting invoice, agree the invoice to the contract terms, and observe that the invoice 
and related payment agreed to the terms and conditions of the contract. 

 
Findings: No exceptions noted. 

 
9) Payroll and Personnel 
 
A. Obtain a listing of employees and officials17 employed during the fiscal period and management’s 

representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select 5 employees or officials, obtain related 
paid salaries and personnel files, and agree paid salaries to authorized salaries/pay rates in the 
personnel files.  

B. Randomly select one pay period during the fiscal period.  For the 5 employees or officials selected 
under procedure #9A above, obtain attendance records and leave documentation for the pay period, 
and 

i. Observe that all selected employees or officials18 documented their daily attendance and 
leave (e.g., vacation, sick, compensatory); 

ii. Observe whether supervisors approved the attendance and leave of the selected employees 
or officials; 

iii. Observe that any leave accrued or taken during the pay period is reflected in the entity’s 
cumulative leave records; and 

iv. Observe the rate paid to the employees or officials agrees to the authorized salary/pay rate 
found within the personnel file.  

C. Obtain a listing of those employees or officials that received termination payments during the fiscal 
period and management’s representation that the list is complete. Randomly select two employees 
or officials and obtain related documentation of the hours and pay rates used in management’s 
termination payment calculations and the entity’s policy on termination payments. Agree the hours 
to the employee’s or official’s cumulative leave records, agree the pay rates to the employee’s or 
official’s authorized pay rates in the employee’s or official’s personnel files, and agree the 
termination payment to entity policy.  

D. Obtain management’s representation that employer and employee portions of third-party payroll 
related amounts (e.g., payroll taxes, retirement contributions, health insurance premiums, 
garnishments, workers’ compensation premiums, etc.) have been paid, and any associated forms 
have been filed, by required deadlines. 

 

 
17 “Officials” would include those elected, as well as board members who are appointed. 
18 Generally, officials are not eligible to earn leave and do not document their attendance and leave. However, if the official is 
earning leave according to a policy and/or contract, the official should document his/her daily attendance and leave. 
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Findings: No exceptions noted. 

 
10) Ethics19 
 
A. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure #9A 

obtain ethics documentation from management, and 

i. Observe whether the documentation demonstrates that each employee/official completed 
one hour of ethics training during the calendar year as required by R.S. 42:1170; and 

ii. Observe whether the entity maintains documentation which demonstrates that each 
employee and official were notified of any changes to the entity’s ethics policy during the 
fiscal period, as applicable. 

B. Inquire and/or observe whether the agency has appointed an ethics designee as required by R.S. 
42:1170. 

 

Findings: No exceptions noted. 

 
11) Debt Service20 
 
A. Obtain a listing of bonds/notes and other debt instruments issued during the fiscal period and 

management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Select all debt instruments on the listing, 
obtain supporting documentation, and observe that State Bond Commission approval was obtained 
for each debt instrument issued as required by Article VII, Section 8 of the Louisiana Constitution. 

B. Obtain a listing of bonds/notes outstanding at the end of the fiscal period and management’s 
representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select one bond/note, inspect debt covenants, 
obtain supporting documentation for the reserve balance and payments, and agree actual reserve 
balances and payments to those required by debt covenants (including contingency funds, short-
lived asset funds, or other funds required by the debt covenants). 

 
Findings: No exceptions noted. 

 
12)  Fraud Notice21 
 
A. Obtain a listing of misappropriations of public funds and assets during the fiscal period and 

management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Select all misappropriations on the 
listing, obtain supporting documentation, and observe that the entity reported the 

 
19 The Louisiana Code of Governmental Ethics (Ethics Code) is generally not applicable to nonprofit entities but may be 
applicable in certain situations, such as councils on aging.  If the Ethics Code is applicable to a nonprofit, the procedures should 
be performed. 
20 This AUP category is generally not applicable to nonprofit entities. However, if applicable, the procedures should be 
performed.  
21 Observation may be limited to those premises that are visited during the performance of other procedures under the AUPs and 
the notice is available for download at www.lla.la.gov/hotline  
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misappropriation(s) to the legislative auditor and the district attorney of the parish in which the 
entity is domiciled as required by R.S. 24:523. 

B. Observe that the entity has posted, on its premises and website, the notice required by R.S. 24:523.1 
concerning the reporting of misappropriation, fraud, waste, or abuse of public funds. 

 

Findings: No exceptions noted. 

 

13) Information Technology Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity 
 
A. Perform the following procedures, verbally discuss the results with management, and report 

“We performed the procedure and discussed the results with management.” 

i. Obtain and inspect the entity’s most recent documentation that it has backed up its critical 
data (if there is no written documentation, then inquire of personnel responsible for backing 
up critical data) and observe evidence that such backup (a) occurred within the past week, 
(b) was not stored on the government’s local server or network, and (c) was encrypted.  

ii. Obtain and inspect the entity’s most recent documentation that it has tested/verified that its 
backups can be restored (if there is no written documentation, then inquire of personnel 
responsible for testing/verifying backup restoration) and observe evidence that the 
test/verification was successfully performed within the past 3 months. 

iii. Obtain a listing of the entity’s computers currently in use and their related locations, and 
management’s representation that the listing is complete.  Randomly select 5 computers 
and observe while management demonstrates that the selected computers have current and 
active antivirus software and that the operating system and accounting system software in 
use are currently supported by the vendor.  

B. Randomly select 5 terminated employees (or all terminated employees if less than 5) using the list 
of terminated employees obtained in procedure #9C. Observe evidence that the selected terminated 
employees have been removed or disabled from the network.  

 
Findings: We performed the procedure and discussed the results with management. 

 
14) Prevention of Sexual Harassment22 

A. Using the 5 randomly selected employees/officials from Payroll and Personnel procedure #9A, 
obtain sexual harassment training documentation from management, and observe that the 
documentation demonstrates each employee/official completed at least one hour of sexual 
harassment training during the calendar year as required by R.S. 42:343. 

 
22 While it appears to be a good practice for charter schools to ensure it has policies and training for sexual harassment, charter 

schools do not appear required to comply with the Prevention of Sexual Harassment Law (R.S. 42:341 et seq). An individual 
charter school, through the specific provisions of its charter, may mandate sexual harassment training. 
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B. Observe that the entity has posted its sexual harassment policy and complaint procedure on its
website (or in a conspicuous location on the entity’s premises if the entity does not have a website).

C. Obtain the entity’s annual sexual harassment report for the current fiscal period, observe that the
report was dated on or before February 1, and observe that the report includes the applicable
requirements of R.S. 42:344:

i. Number and percentage of public servants in the agency who have completed the training
requirements;

ii. Number of sexual harassment complaints received by the agency;

iii. Number of complaints which resulted in a finding that sexual harassment occurred;

iv. Number of complaints in which the finding of sexual harassment resulted in discipline or
corrective action; and

v. Amount of time it took to resolve each complaint.

Findings: No exceptions noted. 

Management’s Response 

We concur with the results of the procedures and are working diligently to improve controls. 

We were engaged by the City to perform this agreed-upon procedures engagement and conducted our 
engagement in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and applicable standards of Government Auditing Standards.  We were not engaged to 
and did not conduct an examination or review engagement, the objective of which would be the expression 
of an opinion or conclusion, respectively, on those C/C areas identified in the SAUPs.  Accordingly, we do 
not express such an opinion or conclusion.  Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might 
have come to our attention that would have been reported to you. 

We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with the relevant ethical requirements related to our agreed-upon procedures engagement.   

This report is intended solely to describe the scope of testing performed on those C/C areas identified in the 
SAUPs, and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on control or compliance.  Accordingly, 
this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  Under Louisiana Revised Statute 24:513, this report is 
distributed by the LLA as a public document. 

West Monroe, Louisiana 
December 11, 2023 
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STATE OF LOUISIANA

CITY OF WEST MONROE

ORDINANCE NO. _________ MOTION BY:________________________

                                    SECONDED   BY:_____________________

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF WEST MONROE,
LOUISIANA, TO ENGAGE CAMERON, HINES & COMPANY (A
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTING CORPORATION) TO CONDUCT A
FINANCIAL AND COMPLIANCE AUDIT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR
BEGINNING JULY 1, 2023 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2024, AND OTHERWISE
PROVIDING WITH RESPECT THERETO. 

SECTION 1. BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of West

Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that Cameron, Hines & Company (A

Professional Accounting Corporation), shall be engaged to conduct a financial and compliance audit

for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2023 and ending June 30, 2024, as in accordance with that

engagement letter attached hereto as Exhibit "A". 

SECTION 2. BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the

City of West Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that Staci Albritton Mitchell,

Mayor of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana be and she is hereby authorized to execute that

engagement letter on behalf of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, and take any and all other action

deemed by her either necessary or appropriate to effectuate execution of that engagement with

Cameron, Hines & Company (A Professional Accounting Corporation).

The above Ordinance was read and considered by sections at a public meeting of the Mayor

and Board of Aldermen, in regular and legal session convened, voted on by yea and nay vote, this

19th  day of December, 2023 the final vote being as follows: 

YEA:__________________________________________________________________________

NAY:_________________________________________________________________________

NOT VOTING:_________________________________________________________________

ABSENT:______________________________________________________________________

ATTEST:                 
           APPROVED THIS 19TH DAY OF 

DECEMBER, 2023

________________________________ _____________________________________
CINDY EMORY, CITY CLERK STACI ALBRITTON MITCHELL, MAYOR
CITY OF WEST MONROE CITY OF WEST MONROE
STATE OF LOUISIANA STATE OF LOUISIANA

\\Data\Documents\City of West Monroe\City Council Meetings\2023-1219\Ordinance to authorize agreement with
Cameron.Hines re .Audit.wpd
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STATE OF LOUISIANA

CITY OF WEST MONROE

ORDINANCE NO.               MOTION BY:_______________________

                                    SECONDED BY:_____________________

ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE GENERAL FUND BUDGET, 86 SALES TAX
CAPITAL BUDGET, 2015 DFC SERVICE FUND BUDGET, 2018 DFC SERVICE
FUND BUDGET, 2022 DFC SERVICE FUND BUDGET, DEQ SRP SERVICE
FUND BUDGET, DEQ SRP RESERVE FUND BUDGET, CDBG-ED WPS
SERVICE FUND BUDGET, EMPLOYEE'S WORKERS COMP RESERVE FUND
BUDGET, HASLEY CEMETERY TRUST FUND BUDGET, KIROLI
FOUNDATION FUND BUDGET, OUACHITA OUTREACH FUND BUDGET,
EMPLOYEES HEALTH INSURANCE FUNDS, STREET MAINTENANCE FUND
BUDGET, WEST OUACHITA SENIOR CENTER FUND BUDGET,
EMERGENCY FOOD & SHELTER PROGRAM FUND BUDGET, OFFICER
WITNESS COURT FEE FUND BUDGET, SECTION 8 HOUSING FUND
BUDGET, GENERAL INSURANCE FUND BUDGET, WEST MONROE OMV
FUND BUDGET, MISCELLANEOUS GRANTS FUND BUDGET, AMERICORPS
GRANT FUND BUDGET, KEEP WEST MONROE BEAUTIFUL FUND
BUDGET, METRO NARCOTICS LCLE GRANT FUND BUDGET, LCDBG
PROJECTS FUND BUDGET, CAPITAL CAMPAIGN FUND BUDGET, 1986
SALES TAX CAPITAL IMPROV FUND BUDGET, ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT FUND BUDGET, ARPA FUND BUDGET, FOR
THE YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2023; AND TO OTHERWISE PROVIDE WITH
RESPECT THERETO. 

SECTION 1. BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of West

Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that the General Fund Budget, 86 Sales

Tax Capital Budget, 2015 DFC Service Fund Budget, 2018 DFC Service Fund Budget, 2022 DFC

Service Fund Budget, DEQ SRP Service Fund Budget, DEQ SRP Reserve Fund Budget, CDBG-ED

WPS Service Fund Budget, Employee's Workers Comp Reserve Fund Budget, Hasley Cemetery

Trust Fund Budget, Kiroli Foundation Fund Budget, Ouachita Outreach Fund Budget, Employee’s

Health Insurance Fund, Street Maintenance Fund Budget, West Ouachita Senior Center Fund

Budget, Emergency Food & Shelter Program Fund Budget, Officer Witness Court Fee Fund Budget,

Section 8 Housing Fund Budget, General Insurance Fund Budget, West Monroe OMV Fund Budget,

Miscellaneous Grants Fund Budget, Americorps Grant Fund Budget, Keep West Monroe Beautiful

Fund Budget, Metro Narcotics LCLE Grant Fund Budget, LCDBG Projects Fund Budget, Capital

Campaign Fund Budget, 1986 Sales Tax Capital Improv Fund Budget, Economic Development

District Fund Budget, ARPA Fund Budget, all for the year ending June 30, 2023, are hereby

amended to conform with the budgets attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.

The above Ordinance was read and considered by Sections at a public meeting of the Mayor

and Board of Aldermen, in regular and legal session convened, voted on by yea and nay vote, passed

152

Item 4)



and adopted this 19th day of December, 2023, the final vote being as follows:

YEA: _________________________________________________________________________

NAY: _________________________________________________________________________

NOT VOTING:_________________________________________________________________

ABSENT: _____________________________________________________________________

ATTEST:

APPROVED THIS 19TH DAY OF
 DECEMBER, 2023

_________________________________ ____________________________________
CINDY EMORY, CITY CLERK STACI ALBRITTON MITCHELL, MAYOR
CITY OF WEST MONROE CITY OF WEST MONROE
STATE OF LOUISIANA STATE OF LOUISIANA

\\Data\Documents\City of West Monroe\City Council Meetings\2023-1219\Ordinance to amend various budget accounts.wpd
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STATE OF LOUISIANA

CITY OF WEST MONROE

ORDINANCE NO.               MOTION BY:_______________________

                                    SECONDED BY:_____________________

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE UTILITY ENTERPRISE FUND BUDGET
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2023, FOR THE CITY OF WEST
MONROE, LOUISIANA.

SECTION 1. BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of West

Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that the Utility Enterprise Fund Budget

for the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023 is hereby amended

to conform with the budget attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.

The above Ordinance was read and considered by Sections at a public meeting of the Mayor

and Board of Aldermen, in regular and legal session convened, voted on by yea and nay vote, passed

and adopted this 19th day of December, 2023 the final vote being as follows:

YEA: _______________________________________________________________________

NAY: _______________________________________________________________________

NOT VOTING: _______________________________________________________________

ABSENT: ____________________________________________________________________

ATTEST:

APPROVED THIS 19TH DAY OF
 DECEMBER, 2022

_________________________________ ____________________________________
CINDY EMORY, CITY CLERK STACI ALBRITTON MITCHELL, MAYOR
CITY OF WEST MONROE CITY OF WEST MONROE
STATE OF LOUISIANA STATE OF LOUISIANA

\\Data\Documents\City of West Monroe\City Council Meetings\2023-1219\Ordinance to amend Utility budget.wpd
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STATE OF LOUISIANA

CITY OF WEST MONROE

ORDINANCE NO. _________ MOTION BY:________________________

                                    SECONDED   BY:_____________________

AN ORDINANCE TO RATIFY EXECUTION OF A MEMORANDUM OF
UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN AND AMONG DISCOVER MONROE-WEST
MONROE, THE CITY OF WEST MONROE, THE WEST MONROE SPORTS
AND EVENTS COMPLEX, AND USA TABLE TENNIS FOR HOSTING THE
2024 US OLYMPIC TRIALS - 2024 US JUNIOR NATIONAL TEAM TRIALS
(MARCH 19-30, 2024); AND TO OTHERWISE PROVIDE WITH RESPECT
THERETO.

WHEREAS, the West Monroe Sports and Events Complex being scheduled to host the USA

Table Tennis 2024 US Olympic Trials - 2024 US Junior National Team Trials will be significant

benefit to the West Monroe Sports and Events Complex, to the City of West Monroe, to Discover

Monroe - West Monroe, and to the businesses in the areas around the West Monroe Sports and

Events Complex. 

NOW, THEREFORE,

 Section 1.  BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of West

Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that the execution of a Memorandum of

Understanding between and among  Discover Monroe-West Monroe, the City of West Monroe, the

West Monroe Sport and Events Complex and USA Table Tennis by Staci Albritton Mitchell, as

Mayor of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, on behalf of the City of West Monroe and the West

Monroe Sports and Events Complex, for hosting the 2024 US Olympic Trials - 2024 US Junior

National Team Trials, a copy of which is attached hereto, is hereby ratified and affirmed according

to its terms and provisions. 

Section 2.  BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City

of West Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that the anticipated obligations

for hosting the 2024 US Olympic Trials - 2024 US Junior National Team Trials between and among

Discover Monroe-West Monroe, the City of West Monroe, and the West Monroe Sport and Events

Complex in the manner as indicated on the attached Exhibit B are hereby ratified and affirmed. 

 Section 3.  BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City

of West Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that Staci Albritton Mitchell, as

Mayor of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, be and she is hereby authorized to further negotiate

and/or to agree to such changes in that Memorandum of Understanding on behalf of the City of West
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Monroe, Louisiana and the West Monroe Sports and Events Complex, and to take any and all other

actions deemed by her either necessary or appropriate in conjunction with hosting that event.

The above Ordinance was read and considered by Sections at a public meeting of the Mayor

and Board of Aldermen, in regular and legal session convened, voted on by yea and nay vote, passed

and adopted the 19th day of December, 2023, the final vote being as follows:

YEA:_________________________________________________________________________

NAY:________________________________________________________________________

NOT VOTING:________________________________________________________________

ABSENT:_____________________________________________________________________

ATTEST:                            
APPROVED THIS 19TH DAY OF 

                                   DECEMBER, 2023 

_________________________________ _____________________________________
CINDY EMORY, CITY CLERK STACI ALBRITTON MITCHELL, MAYOR
CITY OF WEST MONROE CITY OF WEST MONROE
STATE OF LOUISIANA STATE OF LOUISIANA

\\Data\Documents\City of West Monroe\City Council Meetings\2023-1219\Ordinance.Ratify MOU - RE USA
Table Tennis.wpd
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STATE OF LOUISIANA

CITY OF WEST MONROE

RESOLUTION NO.                     MOTION BY:                                    

SECONDED BY:                               

A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE "2023 OUACHITA PARISH
MULTI-JURISDICTIONAL HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN UPDATE" DATED
AUGUST 25, 2023; AND TO OTHERWISE PROVIDE WITH RESPECT
THERETO.

WHEREAS, the City of West Monroe, Louisiana  recognizes the threat that natural hazards

pose to people and property within Ouachita Parish, Louisiana, and the City of West Monroe; and

WHEREAS, the Ouachita Parish Office of Homeland Security and Emergency Preparedness

has prepared a multi-hazard mitigation plan, hereby known as the "2023 Ouachita Parish

Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan Update" (dated August 25, 2023), in accordance with

the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000; and

WHEREAS, the "2023 Ouachita Parish Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan Update"

(dated August 25, 2023) identifies mitigation goals and actions to reduce or eliminate long-term risk

to people and property in Ouachita Parish, including the City of West Monroe, from the impacts of

future hazards and disasters; and,

WHEREAS, adoption by the City of West Monroe demonstrates their commitment to the

hazard mitigation and achieving the goals outlined in the "2023 Ouachita Parish Multi-Jurisdictional

Hazard Mitigation Plan Update" (dated August 25, 2023);

NOW, THEREFORE:

BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and  the Board of Aldermen of the City of West Monroe,

Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that the City of West Monroe does hereby adopt

the "2023 Ouachita Parish Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan Update" (dated August 25,

2023).

The above resolution was read and considered by Sections at a public meeting of the Mayor

and Board of Aldermen, in regular and legal session convened on the 19th day of December, 2023,

voted on by yea and nay vote, passed and adopted, the final vote being as follows:

YEA:                                                                                                                                                   

NAY:                                                                                                                                                   

NOT VOTING:                                                                                                                                   

ABSENT:                                                                                                                                            
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ATTEST:

APPROVED THIS 19TH DAY OF
DECEMBER, 2023

                                                                                                                                    
CINDY EMORY, CITY CLERK STACI ALBRITTON MITCHELL, MAYOR
CITY OF WEST MONROE CITY OF WEST MONROE
STATE OF LOUISIANA STATE OF LOUISIANA

\\Data\Documents\City of West Monroe\City Council Meetings\2023-1219\Resolution.2023
Ouachita Parish Multi-jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan Update.wpd
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STATE OF LOUISIANA

CITY OF WEST MONROE

ORDINANCE NO._______               MOTION BY:___________________

                                      SECONDED BY:_________________

AN ORDINANCE TO AUTHORIZE THE CITY OF WEST MONROE,
LOUISIANA TO SELL CERTAIN DESCRIBED MOVABLE PROPERTY WHICH
IS NOT NEEDED FOR ANY FURTHER PUBLIC PURPOSE BY THE CITY OF
WEST MONROE, LOUISIANA, THE POLICE DOG “DARKO”, TO SGT.
CHRISTOPHER DANIEL FREELAND FOR THE OBLIGATION AND
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ALL FUTURE COSTS AND EXPENSES RELATING TO
THAT MOVEABLE PROPERTY, ALL PURSUANT TO R.S. 33:4712H; AND TO
OTHERWISE PROVIDE WITH RESPECT THERETO.

WHEREAS, R.S. 33:4712H, adopted by Acts 2021, No. 149, provides the governing

authority of a municipality may, by ordinance, establish any procedure it deems appropriate for the

private sale of a police dog that is no longer needed for police work to a police officer who trained

or worked with the dog in exchange for consideration proportionate to the value of the dog; and 

WHEREAS, the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, owns certain movable property, the canine

known as “Darko” which is no longer able to be utilized because of his age (9 years old) and physical

infirmities (hip and joint issues, among others); and

WHEREAS, while the canine “Darko” is no longer able to serve the West Monroe Police

Department, he has provided many years of service and should be retired to enjoy the rest of his

years as a family dog and pet; and

WHEREAS, the fair market cash value of the canine Darko is negligible, especially when

his future potential medical expenses and care are considered, and Sgt. Christopher Daniel Freeland,

who has been his handler  for the years he has been owned by the City, is the appropriate person to

provide that care to the canine “Darko” for the remainder of Darko’s lifetime.  Additionally,

transferring the canine Darko, an attack trained police dog, to a trained and experienced person who

is already well familiar with that canine, is a wise and necessary step to insure the proper handling

and use of Darko in the future.

NOW, THEREFORE:

SECTION 1.  BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of West

Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that pursuant to R.S. 33:4712H, the City

of West Monroe, Louisiana is hereby authorized to transfer certain movable property, that canine

known as “Darko”, which is no longer needed for any public purpose by the City of West Monroe,
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Louisiana to Sgt. Christopher Daniel Freeland for and in cause and consideration of Sgt. Christopher

Daniel Freeland assuming all obligation and responsibility for all future liability, costs and expenses

which in any way arise from or relating to that certain moveable property, the canine “Darko”, which

transfer shall be “as is” and without warranty of any type or nature, and with any further transfer of

the canine “Darko” to be only with the prior express written consent of the City and in its sole

discretion, except that Sgt. Christopher Daniel Freeland may gratuitously transfer “Darko” to any

qualified training or certification agency or to any law enforcement agency without prior express

written consent of the City. 

SECTION 2.  BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the

City of West Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that Staci Albritton Mitchell,

as Mayor of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, be and she is hereby authorized to execute a Bill

of Sale on behalf of the City of West Monroe, Louisiana, reflecting the terms and provisions set forth

above, and to take any other action or execute any and all other documents deemed by her either

necessary or appropriate in order to transfer the canine “Darko” as set forth above.

SECTION 3.  The above ordinance was introduced on December 19, 2023, in regular and

legal session convened; notice of this ordinance was published three times in fifteen (15) days, one

week apart, as required by R.S. 33:4712; no opposition being filed, it is considered by sections, voted

on by yea and nay vote, passed and adopted in legal session convened this 16th day of January, 2024,

with the final vote being as follows:

YEA:_________________________________________________________________________

NAY:_________________________________________________________________________

NOT VOTING:_________________________________________________________________

ABSENT:______________________________________________________________________

ATTEST:  
       APPROVED THIS 16TH DAY OF

JANUARY, 2024

_______________________________     _____________________________________
CINDY EMORY, CITY CLERK         STACI ALBRITTON MITCHELL, MAYOR
CITY OF WEST MONROE                CITY OF WEST MONROE
STATE OF LOUISIANA                 STATE OF LOUISIANA

\\Data\Documents\City of West Monroe\City Council Meetings\2023-1219\Ordinance sell police dog v2.wpd
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STATE OF LOUISIANA

CITY OF WEST MONROE

RESOLUTION NO.                     MOTION BY:                                    

SECONDED BY:                                

RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO CERTIFY THE
AVAILABILITY OF LOCAL FUNDING FOR THE CYPRESS DETENTION -
SOUTH PROJECT, AND TO AFFIRM THE COMMITMENT OF THE
REQUIRED LOCAL FUNDS FOR THE PROJECT BY THE CITY.

WHEREAS, the City of West Monroe secured grant funding for the Cypress Detention -

South project under the Louisiana Watershed Initiative Grant Program. Local and Regional Round

1 (Grant B-18-DP-22-001 / PO#2000766243 totaling $1,084,578; and 

WHEREAS, the original estimated project cost is $1,237,219.89, and accordingly the

difference in funding needed for the project is $152,641.89; and

WHEREAS, although Ordinance #4873, which provided the authority for originally

applying for the grant funding also authorized the Mayor to certify to all funding and funding

information requests, and to sign and deliver any requested or required letter of funds

commitment in the form required by the Louisiana Office of Community Development, more

specific authority for the commitment of necessary local funding for the awarded project has

been requested; and 

WHEREAS, the City has adequate available and uncommitted funds to make the

requested commitment of $152,641.89 for the Cypress Detention - South project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and  the Board of Aldermen of the City of West

Monroe, Louisiana, in regular and legal session convened, that funds in the amount of $152,

641.89 are hereby allocated and here committed to the funding of the local portion of funding

required for the Cypress Detention - South project, and that Staci Albritton Mitchell, as Mayor

of the City of West Monroe, is hereby authorized to certify to the availability and commitment

of that funding for the Cypress Detention - South project to the office of Community

Development, State of Louisiana, and to such other agencies or entities as are necessary or

appropriate.  

The above resolution was read and considered by sections at a public meeting of the

Mayor and Board of Aldermen, in regular and legal session convened on the 19th day of
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December, 2023, voted on by yea and nay vote, passed and adopted, the final vote being as

follows:

YEA:                                                                                                                                             

NAY:                                                                                                                                             

NOT VOTING:                                                                                                                             

ABSENT:                                                                                                                                      

ATTEST:
APPROVED THIS 19TH DAY OF
DECEMBER, 2023

_______________________________     _____________________________________
CINDY EMORY, CITY CLERK         STACI ALBRITTON MITCHELL,  MAYOR
CITY OF WEST MONROE                CITY OF WEST MONROE
STATE OF LOUISIANA                 STATE OF LOUISIANA

\\Data\Documents\City of West Monroe\City Council Meetings\2023-1219\Resolution Cypress Detention South - City Project #000209.wpd

184

Item 10)



UNDER	CONSTRUCTION
Project Description Funding Status

Otis Street (Urban Systems)  Mill & Overlay, add bike/ped path. Urban Systems (80/20)
Walkthrough held 12/18/23.  Substantial Completion 
to be presented at  January council meeting

Natchitoches Street (Urban Systems) Mill & Overlay, improve drainage, add bike lane. Urban Systems (80/20)
Final punchlist items to be completed.  Final 
walkthrough to be scheduled. 

Highland Park Commercial Subdivision
Development of the east end of the golf course land to sell as commercial  
property.

DRA/City
Clear Lien received. Final punch list item to be 
completed when Otis Street Striping occurs.

DRA: Cypress/Slack Sanitary Sewer Improvements Replacement of sanitary sewer lines in the vicinity of Cypress Street. DRA/City
Scheudling completion of final punch list item with 
contractor.  

North 7th Street (Hwy. 143) Restriping (5–Lane)
Restriping N. 7th from Cypress to Arkansas to add center turn lane for 
Highland Commercial Subdivision.

City
Construction complete and final walkthrough to be 
scheduled soon. 

New Kiroli Road Bridge (North) Replacement of bridge on Kiroli Road with box culverts. Capital Outlay Contractor completing punch list items.

Constitution & Short Const. Dr. (Urban Systems)   Pulverize and rebuild road base and pavement. Urban Systems (80/20)
Under construction.  Roadway construction completion 
scheduled by end of this month.

Industrial Park Drainage Improvements (EDA) Drainage improvements including cross drains, piping, and ditches. EDA/City
Under construction. Continuing work on Brent Rd. and 
Downing Pines.  Current delays due to utility conflicts.

Project Classifications
Transportation
Drainage
Water System
Sewer System
Quality‐of‐Life/Economic/Safety
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IN	DESIGN
Project Description Funding Status

Kiroli Sidewalk Project
Install new sidewalks along Kiroli Road from Post Oak Apartments to 
Arkansas Road.  Install pedestrian crossing at Kiroli Elementary.

DOTD TAP
(80/20)

Pursuing additional funding from DOTDTAP.

Black Bayou Canal ‐ 2016 Flood Damage Repairs Repair concrete canal near Assembly and Wal Mart. EDA/FEMA/ City EDA awarding $1.7 million.  Awaiting agreement.

Black Bayou Canal Improvements (HMGP)
Improvements including cleaning, widening, and armoring portions of the 
Black Bayou Canal south of I‐20.

FEMA/City FEMA RFI addressed.  Awaiting FEMA Phase I approval.

Crosley Street Rehabiliation
Mill & Overlay with sidewalk replacement, from Trenton St. to N. 7th 
Street.

Urban Systems (80/20) Design Phase.  

Highland School Area Sidewalks
Construction of sidewalks along Arlene Street to provide a safe pedestrian 
route to school.

LaDOTD/City 95% Final Plans submitted to DOTD.  

Mane Street Rehabilitation Phase 2 (Urban Systems) Mill & Overlay Mane Street from Downing Pines Rd to Interchange. Urban Systems (80/20) DOTD updating STIP.  Bid opening moved to February.

New Drago Sanitary Sewer Lift Station
New sanitary sewer lift station to replace Drago LS.  Funding from Capital 
Outlay and La Water Sector Program.

WSP/LaFPC/ City
Plans are complete.  Property acquisition and utility 
negotiations underway.  Rate study underway.

New Austin Sanitary Sewer Lift Station New sanitary sewer lift station to replace Austin LS.  EDA/City Design and environmental phase.

Arkansas Rd. Utility Relocation Relocation of water and sewer lines ahead of street rehabilitation project. City Design phase.  

North 7th Street Bicycle/Pedestrian Path (Arkansas Rd to Otis St)
Construction of 10' wide concrete path along the east side of North 7th 
Street.

FHWA Rec Trails Prog/City
Design 80%. Electrical design for lighting underway and 
Entergy coordination.

McMillan Rd. Sidewalks (LaDOTD Safe Routes to Public Places 
Program)

New sidewalks along the south side of McMillan Road, from Hilton Street 
to the library.

LaDOTD/City
Processing 60% comments.  Awaiting retaining wall 
field data from geotech engr.

Downtown ‐ Trenton/Wood Sewer Sewer line improvements. City Work to be done in January.

Mid‐City Drainage (Fed Approp/FEMA‐PDM)
Drainage improvements between Trenton Street and Black Bayou Canal. 
($2.4m Award)

FEMA/City
FEMA consultant performing Environmental 
Assessment.

Trenton Corridor Bike/Ped and Utilities (Fed Approp/LaDOTD)
Bury utilities and construct bike/ped path along Trenton St, from Otis St to 
Bridge St. ($5.0m Award)

FEMA/City Preparing engineering contract for r/w and design.

2023 DOTDTAP:  N 6th Street Sidewalks
Construction of sidewalks along N 6th Street, from WMHS to Clayton 
Street.

LaDOTD/City
Received award letter ($600,000). Awaiting LaDOTD 
agreement.

Drago Sanitary Sewer Force Main (South 11th Street)
Replacement of an aging 16" AC F.M. along S. 11th Street from Coleman 
Ave. to the Austin Street Lift Station.

LGAP/City Design phase. LGAP agreement received.

McMillan Rd. Lift Station Rehabilitation
Replacement of pumps and piping at the McMillan Rd. sanitary sewer lift 
station.

LGAP/City Design phase. LGAP agreement received.

Montgomery Ave. Lift Station and Force Main Improvements
Replacement of pumps at the Montgomery Lift Station, and installation of 
a new force main from the lift station to Mont/Reagan intersection.

City Plans complete.  LDH permit received.

Phillips Street Water Main FY22‐23 CWEF
Replacement of an aging 6" AC W.M. along Phillips between Cherry Street 
to the east side of Ned Street.

CWEF/City
Permits approved. Awaiting CWEF contract to solicit 
prices.

Flanagan Street Water Main Replacement Replacement of existing 4" W.M. along Flanagan with a 6" W.M. CWEF/City Bid opening scheduled for February 6, 2024.

Project Classifications
Transportation
Drainage
Water System
Sewer System
Quality‐of‐Life/Economic/Safety
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DECEMBER 19, 2023 
WEST MONROE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

ENGINEERING UPDATE 
L&A, INC. PROJECT NO. 23E038.00 

 
 
 
Kiroli Walk Trail Improvements – City Project No. C22002 

 Continuing Topo Survey 
 Tennis Court area survey is near complete for transmittal to TBA to begin their design 
 Preparing plan sheets & specifications on the Walking Trails portion 

 
 
Sunshine Heights Drainage Improvements – City Project No. C22024 

 L&A Contract still under review with the State office for topo surveying & engineering 
services for construction plan preparation. State has indicated that contract review is in 
progress 

 
 
Kiroli Dog Park 

 Contractor has repaired fence, installed gate, and repaired leak on irrigation system 
 Contractor recommended fertilizer applications & recommended opening the grass areas to 

visitors 
 

 
Natchitoches Street Cross Drain Replacement – City Project No. C23007 

 Reviewing with utility companies for discovery & plans for any utility conflicts 
 
 
North 3rd Street Improvements – City Project No. C23013 

 Reviewing with utility companies for discovery & plans for any utility conflicts 
 
 
Class Street Cross Drain Replacement– City Project No. CP103 

 Substantially Complete, minor punch list items discovered at final inspection 
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General Information

Total Number of Calls Fire: 10 EMS: 152 Unknown: 0 All 255
Average Calls per Day Fire: 0.34 EMS: 5.24 All: 8.79
Total Number of Arson Calls All: 7
Estimated Dollar Loss Fire: $400.00 Other: $0.00 All: $400.00 Arson: $200.00
Estimated Value Fire: $420.00 Other: $0.00 All: $420.00 Arson: $200.00
Percentage Saved Fire: 500.00% Other: 0.00% All: 500.00% Arson: 0.00%
Total Injuries Fire Service: 0 Civilian Fire: 0 EMS: 0 Arson: 0
Total Fatalities Fire Service: 0 Civilian Fire: 0 Arson: 0
Total Apparatus Responses All: 634
Average Responses per Day All: 8.79
Average Apparatus per Call Fire: 2.70 EMS: 2.37 All: 2.49
Average Turnout Time All: 00:01:01
Average Response Time All: 00:04:48
Average Contain Time All: 00:07:17
Average Total Time All: 00:12:26
Average Personnel per Call Fire: 4.40 EMS: 3.67 All: 4.08
Total Aid Given Calls All: 0
Total Aid Received Calls All: 0

Page: 1 of 1

AllIncident Type(s):

Fire Incident Summary

Report

AllStation: Location:
csimmons
12/15/2023 08:28Print Date/Time: 

Login ID: 11/30/2023
11/01/2023From Date: 

To Date: 
West Monroe Fire Department

37020    FDID Number:
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